THE PHARMACOGENOMICS OF WARFARIN SAFETY AND EFFECTIVENESS IN CHILDREN

by

Kaitlyn Shaw

B.MSc., The University of Western Ontario, 2010

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

(Experimental Medicine)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

April 2013

© Kaitlyn Shaw, 2013

Abstract

Use of the anticoagulant warfarin for thromboembolic disease prophylaxis is limited by a large inter-patient dose variability and high risk of adverse drug reactions (ADRs). Polymorphisms in two genes, *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1*, have consistently been shown to be associated with warfarin dose requirements in adults. However, evidence on the importance of genetics in warfarin therapy in children is limited. Further paediatric studies are required to understand the predictive factors contributing to dose variation and to help prevent warfarin-induced ADRs in children.

In this study we aimed to assess the contribution of genotypes and clinical factors to warfarin dose and related outcomes in children. Clinical and genetic data was collected from 93 patients less than 19 years of age who received warfarin therapy. DNA was genotyped for 93 single nucleotide polymorphisms using a custom assay. Associations between *CYP2C9/VKORC1/CYP4F2* genotypes and therapeutic dose, time to therapeutic INR/time to over-anticoagulation, and incidence of adverse drug reactions were analyzed. Additional variants in genes involved in vitamin K and coagulation pathways were tested for an association with warfarin dose.

76.3% of dose variability was explained by weight, indication, *VKORC1* –1639G/A and *CYP2C9*2/*3*, with genotypes accounting for 21.1% of variability. There was a strong correlation (R^2 =0.68; *p*<0.001) between actual and predicted warfarin dose using a pediatric genotype-based dosing model. *VKORC1* genotype also had a significant impact on time to

therapeutic INR (p=0.047) and time to INR >4 (p=0.024) during the initiation of therapy. An additional variant in *CYP2C9* (rs7089580) was significantly associated with warfarin dose in a multivariate model.

This study confirms the importance of *VKORC1/CYP2C9* genotypes for warfarin dose and clinical outcomes in children and validates a pediatric-specific genotype-based dosing algorithm. Furthermore, we identified an additional variant in *CYP2C9* of potential relevance for warfarin dosing in children.

Preface

This study was approved by the University of British Columbia Clinical Research Ethics Board (certificate numbers H04-70538 and H12-00819).

Table of Contents

Abstractii		
Preface	9	iv
Table of	of Contents	v
List of	Tables	vii
List of	Figures	viii
List of	Abbreviations	ix
Acknow	wledgements	xii
Chapte	r 1: Introduction	1
1.1P	harmacogenomics	1
1.1.1	Pharmacogenomics and drug effectiveness	2
1.1.2	Pharmacogenomics and adverse drug reactions	4
1.1.3	Importance of pharmacogenomic studies in children	5
1.2V	Varfarin	7
1.2.1	Warfarin mechanism of action	7
1.2.2	Warfarin pharmacokinetics	8
1.2.3	Clinical management of warfarin therapy	9
1.2.4	Clinical factors and variability in warfarin dose	9
1.2.5	Warfarin use in children	.10
1.3 W	Varfarin-induced adverse drug reactions	.13
1.3.1	Clinical risk factors for warfarin-induced ADRs	.14
1.3.2	Warfarin-induced ADRs in children	.15
1.3.3	Treatment of warfarin-induced bleeding	.16
1.4P	harmacogenomics of warfarin safety and effectiveness	.16
1.4.1	СҮР2С9	.17
1.4.2	VKORC1	.18
1.4.3	Impact of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 variants on warfarin-related outcomes in adults	.19
1.4.4	Genetics and warfarin-induced ADRs	.20
1.4.5	Pharmacogenetic dosing algorithms	.21
1.5A	dditional genetic variants associated with warfarin therapy in adults	.23
1.5.1	CYP4F2	.23
1.5.2	APOE	.24
1.5.3	PROC	.25
1.5.4	GGCX	.25
1.5.5	POR	.26
1.5.6	CALU	.27
1.5.7	EPHX1	.28
1.5.8	CYP2C18	.29
1.6P	harmacogenetic studies in children on warfarin therapy	.29
1.7 Hypothesis and thesis objectives		.32
Chapte	Chapter 2: Methods	
2.1P	atient recruitment and characterization	.40

2.2 Definition of outcomes	41
2.3 Designing a custom genotyping panel	42
2.4 Genotyping and quality control	44
2.5 Statistical analysis	45
2.5.1 Dose association analysis	45
2.5.2 Survival analysis and time to INR events	46
2.5.3 Case-control analyses	47
2.5.4 Exploratory SNP analyses	48
2.6 Patient cohort inclusion and exclusion	48
Chapter 3: Results	
3.1 Study population	53
3.2 Association of genetic and non-genetic factors with therapeutic dose	53
3.2.1 Dose prediction models	56
3.2.2 Association of genetic factors using alternative units of dose measurement	57
3.2.3 Evaluation of existing pharmacogenetic dosing models	57
3.3 Time to INR events	58
3.3.1 Influence of genetic factors on time to therapeutic INR	58
3.3.2 Influence of genetic factors on time to over-anticoagulation	60
3.4 Warfarin-induced adverse drug reactions	62
3.4.1 Bleeding	62
3.4.2 Major bleeding	63
3.4.3 Risk of over-anticoagulation	65
3.5 Exploratory analysis of additional genetic variation in candidate genes	66
Chapter 4: Discussion and future directions	88
4.1 Predictors of warfarin dose in children	88
4.1.1 Clinical variables	88
4.1.2 Candidate SNPs	89
4.1.3 Predictors of warfarin dose in subpopulations of patients	91
4.1.4 Pharmacogenetic predictive dosing models	92
4.2 Time to INR events in children	93
4.3 Warfarin-induced ADRs in children	95
4.3.1 Incidence of bleeding	95
4.3.2 Factors associated with risk of warfarin-induced bleeding	96
4.3.3 Over-anticoagulation during the initiation of therapy	98
4.4 Novel genetic associations with warfarin dose in children	100
4.5 Strengths and limitations	102
4.6 Future directions	104
4.6.1 Remaining unexplained inter-patient variability in warfarin dose	105
4.6.2 Genetics-based loading and initiation doses	107
4.6.3 Replication and validation	108
4.6.4 Implementing genetic testing	110
4.6.4.1 Pharmacoeconomic considerations	112
4.7 Conclusions	113
Bibliography	115

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Effect of variant CYP2C9 genotypes on warfarin dose requirements	35
Table 1.2. Variability in warfarin dose explained by VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotypes in	n
different ethnic populations	36
Table 1.3. CYP2C9 and VKORC1 variant allele frequencies according to ethnicity	37
Table 1.4. Effect of VKORC1 variant genotypes on warfarin dose requirements	38
Table 1.5. Range of expected therapeutic warfarin doses based on CYP2C9 and VKORC	C1
genotypes as listed on the warfarin label insert	39
Table 2.1. List of SNPs included on custom genotyping panel	50
Table 3.1. Clinical and genetic characteristics of study cohort	68
Table 3.2. Association between therapeutic warfarin dose and patient characteristics	69
Table 3.3. Genotype frequencies and association between genotypes and therapeutic war	rfarin
dose	70
Table 3.4. Contribution of VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotypes and clinical factors to	
multivariate regression model for predicting therapeutic warfarin dose in children	71
Table 3.5. Regression equation for modeling warfarin dose requirements in children <6	years
old	72
Table 3.6. Regression equation for modeling warfarin dose requirements in children ≥ 6	years
old	73
Table 3.7. Median number of days to achieve first INR in or above the therapeutic range	and
first INR greater than 4 according to VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotypes	74
Table 3.8. Hazard ratios (HR) for time to achieve first INR in or above the therapeutic ra	ange
and first INR greater than 4 according to VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotype	75
Table 3.9. Odds ratios (OR) for risk of bleeding according to genotype	76
Table 3.10. Odds ratios (OR) for risk of major bleeding according to genotype	77
Table 3.11. Odds ratios (OR) for risk of over-anticoagulation (INR >4) during the initiat	ion
of therapy according to genotype	78
Table 3.12. SNPs from full genotyping panel with <i>p</i> -value <0.10 in univariate dose anal	ysis
	79
Table 3.13. Contribution of <i>CYP2C9</i> rs7089580 genotype to therapeutic warfarin dose in	n
children	80

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Interaction of warfarin with its target enzyme and downstream pathways	33
Figure 1.2. Candidate genes involved in the metabolism of warfarin	34
Figure 3.1. Correlation between age and warfarin dose in milligrams and milligrams pe	r
kilogram of body weight	81
Figure 3.2. Warfarin dose requirement by VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotype	82
Figure 3.3. Difference between observed daily dose and predicted dose using our genot	ype-
based dose model	83
Figure 3.4. Relationship between actual daily warfarin dose (mg) and predicted dose (m	ng)
using a pediatric derived pharmacogenetic dosing model and an adult-derived dosing m	nodel
	84
Figure 3.5. Comparison of difference between observed daily dose and predicted dose	using
pharmacogenetic dose prediction models developed by Biss et al. and the IWPC	85
Figure 3.6. Kaplain-Meier curves showing time to study outcomes for VKORC1 and C	YP2C9
genotypes	86
Figure 3.7. Warfarin dose requirement by rs7089580 genotype	87

List of Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
ADME	Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion
ADR	Adverse Drug Reaction
AERS	Adverse Event Reporting Systems
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
АроЕ	Apolipoprotein E
BMI	Body Mass Index
BSA	Body Surface Area
BT	Blalock-Taussig
CALU	Calumenin
CEU	Northern and Western European Ancestry (Utah, United States)
CHD	Cardiac Heart Disease
CI	Confidence Interval
CNS	Central Nervous System
COX-2	Cycolooxygenase-2
CPNDS	Canadian Pharmacogenomics Network for Drug Safety
CVL	Central Venous Line
СҮР	Cytochrome P450
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DVT	Deep Vein Thrombosis

EM	Extensive Metabolizer
EPHX1	Epoxide Hydrolase 1
F2	Factor 2
FDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration
FFP	Fresh Frozen Plasma
GGCX	Gamma Glutamyl Carboxylase
GI	Gastrointestinal
GST	Glutathione S-Transferase
GWAS	Genome-Wide Association Study
Hb	Hemoglobin
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
HR	Hazard Ratio
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium
INR	International Normalized Ratio
IWPC	International Warfarin Pharmacogenetics Consortium
LD	Linkage Disequilibrium
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
MAF	Minor Allele Frequency
mEH	Microsomal Epoxide Hydrolase 1
NSAID	Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drug
OR	Odds Ratio
PD	Pharmacodynamics

PE	Pulmonary Embolism
РК	Pharmacokinetics
PM	Poor Metabolizer
POR	P450 Cytochrome Oxidoreductase
PROC	Protein C
SJS	Stevens-Johnson Syndrome
SLCO1B1	Solute Carrier Organic Anion Transporter Family Member 1B1
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
TE	Thromboembolic Event
TEN	Toxic Epidermal Necrosis
TPMT	Thiopurine S-methyltransferase
TPN	Total Parenteral Nutrition
UM	Ultrarapid Metabolizer
VKORC1	Vitamin K Epoxide Reductase Complex, Subunit 1
WGA	Whole Genome Amplified
WHO	World Health Organization
YRI	Yoruba African Ancestry (Ibadan, Nigeria)

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to acknowledge my sincere appreciation and gratitude for my research supervisor, Dr. Bruce Carleton. With his guidance and leadership I learned to think critically, to persevere, and to always aim high. His immense passion for improving the treatment of children continues to remind me why this research matters. His confidence and faith in my abilities as a researcher have helped me tremendously in times of doubt and frustration.

I would like to thank my committee supervisory members, Drs. Colin Ross, Rod Rassekh, and Ran Goldman, for their expertise, guidance and constructive comments. I would also like to thank all members of CPNDS and POPi. In particular, Kusala Pussegoda, Kaarina Kowalec, John Lee, Amit Bhasvar, Gabriella Groeneweg, Claudette Hildebrand, and Anne Smith. Their continuous support, advice, friendship and laughter helped make my graduate student experience enjoyable and enlightening. I would like to extend a special thank you to Ursula Amstutz for her endless amounts of guidance and motivation.

I would like to acknowledge the patients and families who are apart of CPNDS, without whom our efforts towards improving drug safety would not be possible.

Finally, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my family and friends. Their unconditional support and love made this journey possible.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Pharmacogenomics

More than two thousand years ago the concept of personalized medicine was conceived when Hippocrates noted that different patients require different drugs for the same indication¹. While he attributed this finding to general differences in the constitution of patients, the specific reasoning for inter-patient variability in drug response was far from being understood. It has been well established that multiple clinical factors, including age, body surface area, disease, and concomitant drug interactions can significantly influence an individual's response to a $drug^{2,3}$. However, when only clinical factors are accounted for a large amount of variation in drug response often remains unexplained. In a growing number of cases, genetics is they key to understanding why some patients experience the intended response to a drug while others experience toxic or non-therapeutic responses. Genetic variants in drug metabolizing enzymes, transport systems, and drug targets can alter the pharmacodynamics (PD) or pharmacokinetics (PK) of a drug, leading to variation in response⁴. Approximately 20-95% of drug response variability is attributed to genetics³. The field of pharmacogenomics aims to discover genetic variants that influence individual drug efficacy and drug toxicity, in hopes of maximizing both therapeutic potential and drug safety.

Single alterations in the DNA sequence, referred to as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), are the most commonly investigated genetic variants in pharmacogenomic studies. Targeted pharmacogenomic studies, in which a small number of variants in candidate genes

or target pathways are investigated, are often employed to test a pre-established hypothesis on the effect of changes in drug exposure (PK) or drug effectiveness (PD) on drug response⁵. Drug pharmacokinetics are determined by drug absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion (ADME). Genetic variation in drug metabolizing enzymes or drug transporters can lead to changes in drug exposure by influencing any of these processes. In contrast, drug pharmacodynamics are dependent on a drug interacting with its target site and producing a biochemical or physiological effect. Polymorphisms that interfere with drug-receptor interactions, such as altered receptor affinity or inhibition of cellular membrane transport, can result in pharmacodynamic alterations⁶. Both drug efficacy and risk of drug toxicity are influenced by genetic variation in PK and PD pathways. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS), whole-exome or whole-genome sequencing may also be used in pharmacogenomic studies for exploratory purposes. This method is often preferred when drug metabolism or ADR pathways are not clearly defined, or a large amount of unexplained variability in drug response remains following candidate gene studies.

1.1.1 Pharmacogenomics and drug effectiveness

If adequate levels of active drug metabolite are not achieved or a drug is unable to reach or bind to its target protein, drug effectiveness may be compromised. Polymorphisms in drug transporters have been shown to influence drug effectiveness by causing changes in tissuespecific or intracellular drug exposure⁶. One example is decreased effectiveness from simvastatin due to a polymorphism in the solute carrier organic anion transporter family member 1B1 (*SLC01B1*) transporter gene. Carriers of the rs4140956 (521T>C) C allele have a significantly smaller reduction in low-density lipoprotein (LDL) levels compared to noncarriers, implying that carriers of this variant may experience a reduced therapeutic effect from simvastatin⁷. SLCO1B1 is a transporter that mediates the hepatocellular uptake of simvastatin; therefore, polymorphisms in *SLCO1B1* could affect statin efficacy by causing changes in intra-hepatocyte drug exposure. Accordingly, pharmacokinetic analyses have shown that carriers of the 521C>T polymorphism have higher blood statin concentrations and reduced simvastatin uptake, resulting in a decreased amount of drug at the target site and potentially contributing to reduced efficacy⁸⁻¹⁰.

Drug efficacy can also be significantly influenced by genetic polymorphisms in drugmetabolizing enzymes. For example, Kim et al. (2008) reported that carriers of the cytochrome P450 (CYP) 2C19 (*CYP2C19*) *2/*2 or *2/*3 genotype (poor metabolizer (PM) phenotype) had higher mean plasma concentrations of the prodrug clopidogrel when compared to homozygous extensive metabolizers (homoEMs) and heterozygous extensive metabolizers (heteroEMs)¹¹. Moreover, differences in plasma concentrations were associated with differences in efficacy, with PMs exhibiting a significantly lower antiplatelet effect compared to homoEMs and heteroEMs. This finding may be attributed to an inability by PMs to efficiently metabolize clopidogrel to its active form. Therefore, patients with genetic polymorphisms in enzymes required for drug bioactivation may require alternative therapies in order to achieve a maximal therapeutic effect. In many cases, clinically significant differences in drug efficacy cannot be linked to a single gene or genetic variant, but rather there are a multitude of ADME variants that play a role in individual drug efficacy.

1.1.2 Pharmacogenomics and adverse drug reactions

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines an adverse drug reaction (ADRs) as "a response to a medicinal product that is noxious and unintended"¹². Over 100,00 deaths in the United States are attributed to ADRs each year, making them one of the top five leading causes of death¹³. Some ADRs develop as an extension of a drug's therapeutic effect and are classified as type A reactions. In contrast, type B reactions are idiosyncratic and occur independent of drug dose and pharmacologic effect. ADRs can vary in severity, with some ADRs presenting as a mild adverse response, while others are life-threatening or produce life-long consequences¹⁴. Furthermore, ADRs can differ in timing of onset following administration of the causative drug, ranging from just a few minutes to years of exposure. In most cases, a mixture of clinical, environmental and genetic factors contribute to the risk of drug-induced toxicity. It is estimated that genetics play a role in approximately 50% of ADRs¹⁵.

As with drug efficacy, drug toxicity is also influenced by drug concentrations in the plasma and target location, making variation in ADME genes a contributor to many ADRs. One example is codeine-induced central nervous system (CNS) depression in patients with an ultrarapid metabolizer (UM) phenotype. Codeine relies on CYP2D6 for biotransformation to the active metabolite, morphine¹⁶. A functional duplication of the *CYP2D6* gene, which confers a UM phenotype, has been associated with increased formation of morphine following standard doses of codeine and risk of respiratory depression^{17,18}. Associations between variants in additional drug metabolizing enzymes, such as thiopurine *S*methyltransferases (TPMT) and glutathione *S*-transferases (GST), and drug-toxicity have

also been discovered, as variation in these genes can lead to the accumulation of toxic metabolites and contribute to concentration-dependent toxicities^{19,20}.

For some ADRs, associations with genes not implicated in drug ADME have been identified. Two examples are the association of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) B*1502 with carbamazepine-induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome/toxic epidermal necrosis (SJS/TEN) and HLA-B*5701 with abacavir-induced hypersensitivity^{21,22}. Both ADRs are idiosyncratic and are hypothesized to arise from a disruption of the immune system. Therefore, variation in genes involved in the ADR mechanism can also be predictive of drug-induced toxicity.

1.1.3 Importance of pharmacogenomic studies in children

Historically, children have largely been excluded from clinical drug trials. Ethical reasons have prevented children from being used as test subjects in drug trials, resulting in approximately 75% of drugs never being tested in children. Instead, guidelines from adult patients have been extrapolated to account for smaller body mass, resulting in a lack of adequate guidelines on the safety and efficacy of pharmaceuticals in pediatric patients²³. Optimization of pediatric dosing requires an understanding of age-dependent differences in several pharmacokinetic parameters, including bioavailability, volume of distribution, protein binding, hepatic metabolism, and renal elimination²⁴. It is now known that developmental changes in drug transporters and metabolizing enzymes can have a significant impact on the required dosage and risk of toxicity in children. Several severe ADRs occur more frequently in children compared to adults, including valproic acid-induced hepatotoxicity, lamotrigine-induced cutaneous reactions, and Reye's syndrome associated

with aspirin²⁵⁻²⁷. While the reasons for this increased frequency are poorly understood, it has been speculated that developmental changes in drug biotransformation pathways (ex. CYP metabolism) in combination with genetic variation in detoxification pathways (ex. glucuronosyl transferases) may partially contribute to the greater frequency of idiosyncratic ADRs in children²⁸. It has been shown that children require a dose that is at least 50% higher than adults for drugs that are primarily metabolized by CYP1A12, CYP2C9, and CYP3A4²⁴. This difference in enzyme activity could have implications for both drug efficacy and toxicity, depending on whether the drug requires activation to produce a physiological effect, or detoxification to avoid concentration-dependent ADRs. Agedependent differences in drug targets, such as ion channels, receptors and downstream signaling pathways, could also have significant effects on the pharmacodynamics of drug response. To date, very little research has been conducted on the ontogeny of drug targets that are relevant to pediatrics²⁸.

It is largely unknown whether pharmacogenetic biomarkers that have been discovered in adults possess the same predictive value in children, as most of these markers have never been studied in a pediatric population. It is possible that developmental changes in PK and PD pathways, as well as differences in diet, lifestyle, and concomitant medications, may impact the role of genetic variation on drug response in children. Pediatric-specific pharmacogenomic studies are warranted in order to determine the impact of age-dependent developmental changes and to improve therapeutic decision making in children.

1.2 Warfarin

Warfarin is an oral anticoagulant used for the prevention and treatment of thromboembolic events (TEs). It is the most commonly prescribed oral anticoagulant worldwide, with approximately 2 million people started on warfarin annually in the United States²⁹. For more than fifty years warfarin has been the mainstay of anticoagulation therapy for patients with cardiac disease or those at risk of TEs. Specific indications for warfarin include atrial fibrillation, prosthetic heart valve, history of vascular thrombosis, or following orthopedic surgery³⁰. Warfarin has shown to be effective at reducing the relative risk of stroke in patients with a trial fibrillation and preventing recurrent thrombosis in patients with a history of deep vein thrombosis (DVT)^{31,32}.

1.2.1 Warfarin mechanism of action

The warfarin target enzyme is vitamin K epoxide reductase complex, subunit 1 (VKORC1). VKORC1 is responsible for producing reduced vitamin via a two-step process, in which vitamin K 2,3-epoxide is converted to vitamin K1 (quinone) and then vitamin K hydroquinone (KH2) (**Figure 1.1**)³³. The hydroquinone is an essential co-factor in the synthesis of vitamin-K dependent clotting factors II, VII, IX and X, as well as endogenous anticoagulant proteins C and S (**Figure 1.1**)³⁴. These factors and proteins are biologically inactive without carboxylation of glutamic acid residues by the enzyme gamma-glutamyl carboxylase (GGCX), which is required for calcium-dependent activation of clotting factors at sites of injury³⁵. Inhibition of VKORC1 prevents regeneration of vitamin K that serves as a co-factor for GGCX. Therefore, warfarin acts as an anticoagulant by blocking the production of active clotting factors and reducing blood coagulation. Therapeutic doses of

warfarin reduce the concentration of vitamin-K dependent clotting factors by approximately $30-50\%^{36}$.

1.2.2 Warfarin pharmacokinetics

Warfarin is administered as a racemic mixture of R- and S-enantiomers. S-warfarin is approximately 2-5 times more potent than R-warfarin and is almost exclusively metabolized by CYP2C9 in the liver to 7-hydroxywarfarin^{37,38}. Conversely, R-warfarin is primarily metabolized by CYP1A2 to 6- hydroxywarfarin, as well as CYP2C19 to 8-hydroxywarfarin and CYP3A4 to 10-hydroxywarfarin (**Figure 1.2**)³⁹⁻⁴¹. Hydroxywarfarin metabolites are further reduced to 9S,11S- and 9S,11R-warfarin alcohols, which possess some intrinsic anticoagulant activity⁴². Elimination of hydroxywarfarin metabolites occurs via hepatic metabolism, while warfarin alcohols are eliminated via renal excretion⁴³. The rate of elimination for both isomers differs, with the half-life of S-warfarin being approximately 33 hours and R-warfarin being 45.4 hours³⁷.

The relationship between warfarin's efficacy and plasma drug concentration is indirect. Rather, the time course of warfarin is dependent on the clearance of vitamin-K dependent clotting factors and their associated half-lives. The earliest changes can be seen approximately 24-36 hours following initiation of therapy and are reflected by decreased levels of factor VII, which is the clotting factor with the shortest half-life (~6 hours). Factor IX has the next shortest half-life at ~24 hours, followed by factor X at ~39 hours and factor II at ~50-90 hours. Therefore, the antithrombotic effects of warfarin may not be apparent until approximately the fifth day of therapy when the concentrations of each clotting factor have

decreased to 20-30%⁴⁴. After 10-14 days, the concentrations of all four factors reach equivalent values⁴⁵.

1.2.3 Clinical management of warfarin therapy

Clinical management and therapeutic monitoring of warfarin is achieved using the international normalized ratio (INR). INR is a laboratory test that measures the time required for plasma to clot following the addition of calcium and thromboplastin and reflects a decrease in the plasma levels of factors II, VI and X by warfarin⁴⁶. Most patients have a target INR range of 2.0-3.0, but this can vary depending on the clinical indication for anticoagulation and patient-specific risk factors⁴⁷. For example, patients with mechanical prosthetic heart valves typically have a target INR range of 2.5-3.5. Physicians use INRs to determine an appropriate warfarin dose, as INRs that are out of range can indicate that blood is over- or under-anticoagulated. The frequency of INR testing varies depending on numerous factors, including physician preferences, stability of INR results, and amount of time since initiation of therapy. Based on recommendations from the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology Foundation, the INR should be tested daily until the therapeutic range has been achieved, and then reduced to 2 -3 times weekly for the first few weeks of therapy. Once a stable dose-response relationship is achieved, frequency of testing can be reduced to once every four weeks⁴⁶.

1.2.4 Clinical factors and variability in warfarin dose

Warfarin has an approximately 20 fold inter-patient variability in required dose. This high degree of variability can partially be explained by environmental factors, including age, body

surface area, gender, illness, concurrent medications, and dietary intake of vitamin K. For each decade of the life the required warfarin dose decreases by approximately 8%, most likely due to increased warfarin sensitivity in elderly patients or decreased drug clearance⁴⁸⁻ 50 . The required dose can also be influenced by body surface area, which is reflective of differences in liver size and hepatic clearance rates⁵¹. Numerous medications have been shown to alter the INR via pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic mechanisms. Pharmacokinetic drug interactions mainly involve induction or inhibition of warfarin metabolizing enzymes, including CYP2C9, CYP3A4 and CYP1A2. Amiodarone is an antiarrhythmic commonly prescribed to patients with heart disease and has been shown to potentiate the effect of warfarin via CYP2C9 inhibition, resulting in a lower dose requirement⁵². Drugs that inhibit the clearance of R-warfarin, such as omeprazole, have also been shown to influence the INR but to a lesser degree⁵³. Pharmacodynamic drug interactions can alter the INR by inhibiting synthesis of clotting factors, interfering with hemostatic pathways, or altering the physiological control loop for vitamin K metabolism. For example, sulfonamides and broad-spectrum antibiotics may enhance the anticoagulation effect of warfarin by eradicating bacterial flora, contributing to a reduction in vitamin K levels⁵⁴. The amount of dietary vitamin K consumed can also influence the required warfarin dose⁵⁵. Overall, clinical factors account for approximately 12% of inter-patient dose variability⁵⁶.

1.2.5 Warfarin use in children

Increasing rates of TEs in children coupled with improvements in management of congenital heart defects has led to an increased use of warfarin in pediatrics for both primary and

secondary prevention of thrombotic episodes^{57,58}. While the indications for warfarin therapy in children are similar to adults, the frequency of underlying pathological conditions requiring anticoagulation therapy differs. For example, myocardial infarctions and cerebrovascular accidents are among the most common indications for warfarin use in adults but are the least common indications in children⁵⁹. Warfarin use in children is primarily prophylactic, with the most common indications being prosthetic heart valves and following Fontan surgery^{60,61}. Additional indications for warfarin therapy in children include: venous thromboembolic disease, central venous lines (CVLs), congenital prothrombotic conditions, Kawasaki's Disease, and various other congenital heart conditions, or as a result of their surgical treatment (ex. Blalock-Taussig (BT) shunts).

Current recommendations for warfarin therapy in children suggest an initial dose of 0.2 mg/kg, which is considerably higher than the recommended dose of 0.04 to 0.08 mg/kg for adults^{62,63}. Evidence suggests that there are limited age-dependent changes in CYP2C9 activity that could account for this difference in dose. Rather, in children >1 year old the functional expression of CYP2C9 per unit weight of liver tissue is comparable to that of adults^{64,65}. A study by Takahashi et al. (2000) suggested that age-dependent variation in warfarin dose may be due to age-dependent differences in liver size compared to body weight⁶⁴. In that study, liver weight-normalized unbound oral clearance of S-warfarin in pediatric patients was comparable to adults, suggesting that liver weight may be a better parameter for estimating warfarin dose in pediatric patients compared to body weight. It has also been shown that body weight develops at a slower rate compared to organs that are important for drug metabolism, such as the liver and kidney, further supporting the

hypothesis that weight-dependent dose differences may be attributed to liver size^{66,67}. There is no evidence to suggest that VKORC1 activity significantly changes throughout childhood and could account for the high dose requirement in young children.

Compared to adults, children also have significant differences in their coagulation system, which continues to develop until late adolescence^{68,69}. At birth, levels of vitamin-K dependent coagulation factors and inhibitors are at 50% of adults values and do not reach the adult range of normal until approximately 6 months of $age^{68,70}$. However, average values of vitamin-K dependent proteins remain 20% lower than adult values until approximately late adolescence⁶⁹. Andrew et al. reported that the mean values of several coagulants in children, including factors II, IV, VII, IX, X, XI and XII, were significantly lower than adult values, while levels of the thrombin inhibitor alpha-2-macroglobulin (α 2M) were increased in children⁶⁹. At equivalent INRs, children generate less thrombin than adults due to decreased levels of prothrombin fragment, as well as increased regulation by α 2M⁷¹. Age-related differences in coagulation proteins may contribute to a lower incidence of thrombosis in children, as well as differences in warfarin dose and warfarin-related outcomes between adults and children.

A prospective study by Strief et al. (1999) investigating warfarin outcomes in children concluded that age is the most important variable influencing warfarin therapy during childhood⁷². The weight-adjusted dose to maintain a therapeutic INR was highest in children less than 1 year of age, and continued to decrease with increasing age. Children <1 year old also required a longer time to achieve a therapeutic INR, a longer period of overlap

with heparin therapy, and a higher mean number of dose changes per month when compared to older children. Furthermore, children less than 6 years old had significantly less INR measurements within the target range and significantly more INR measurements below the target range compared to children 6-18 years old. These findings highlight the impact of age on warfarin outcomes in children and the associated complexities of managing children on warfarin therapy.

1.3 Warfarin-induced adverse drug reactions

A large therapeutic dose window (20-30 fold) and narrow therapeutic index make safe and effective warfarin dosing difficult to achieve. As a result, warfarin therapy is associated with a high risk of adverse drug reactions. Under-anticoagulation increases the risk of blood clots (affecting 1-5% of patients), while over-anticoagulation puts patients at risk for bleeding complications (affecting 5-15% of patients)⁷³⁻⁷⁵. Consequently, warfarin is the second-most common drug implicated in emergency room visits and the most often cited cause of drug-related morality^{74,76}.

Bleeding is the most common ADR associated with warfarin therapy. However, the reported incidence of major and minor bleeding episodes varies between studies. This is mainly due to differences in the definition of bleeding, length of follow-up, and patient-specific factors, such as indication for warfarin and target INR⁷⁶. The rate of major bleeding, defined as intracranial, retroperitoneal, leading directly to death, or resulting in hospitalization or transfusion, ranges from 10-16%, while the rate of fatal bleeding is reported as 0-2.9%⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸. The most common type of warfarin-induced bleeding resulting in emergency room visits is

gastrointestinal bleeding⁷⁶. Furthermore, based on data from the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) Adverse Event Reporting System (AERS), the most commonly reported bleeding events are gastrointestinal tract hemorrhage, hemorrhage not otherwise specified, hematuria, and epistaxis⁷⁶.

1.3.1 Clinical risk factors for warfarin-induced ADRs

Many of the clinical factors that contribute to variability in required warfarin dose, such as age, illness, diet, and concomitant medications, also contribute to risk of warfarin-induced ADRs. Specific risk factors for bleeding include: age, history of gastrointestinal (GI) tract bleeding, hypertension, cerebrovascular disease, serious heart disease, anemia, malignancy, trauma, and renal insufficiency⁷⁹⁻⁸². Certain concomitant drugs, such as antiplatelet agents and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents (NSAIDs), can also increase the risk of bleeding by inhibiting platelet aggregation and prolonging bleeding time⁸³. In an observational study by Knijff-Dutmer et al. (2003), the relative risk of bleeding with concomitant NSAID use was 5.8 compared to using warfarin alone⁸⁴. Higher intensity of anticoagulation (INR >4) and longer duration of therapy further contribute to the risk of bleeding complications⁷⁶. Several tools have been developed to more accurately predict patient-specific risk of bleeding based on clinical factors alone. One such model includes the Outpatient Bleeding Risk Index developed by Beyth et al. (1998), which provides a score using 4 criteria: (1) 65 years or older, (2) history of GI bleeding, (3) history of stroke, and (4) one or more comorbid conditions (recent myocardial infarction, anemia, renal impairment, or diabetes mellitus)⁸¹. Using this scoring system, it was possible to distinguish low-risk from moderate-risk patients and performed better than physicians when determining patient-specific risk of major bleeding^{81,82}.

1.3.2 Warfarin-induced ADRs in children

As with adults, the most frequently occurring warfarin-induced ADR in children is bleeding. Significant bleeding has been reported at a rate of 0.5-1.7% per patient year^{72,85,86}. The rate of bleeding is higher in children with prosthetic heart valves, estimated as <3.2% events per patient year⁸⁶. Minor bleeding, which includes bruising, nosebleeds, heavy menses, and microscopic hematuria, occurs in approximately 20% of children receiving warfarin^{72,87}. The reported incidence of thrombosis in children on warfarin therapy ranges from 0-1.3% per patient year, with all reported episodes occurring in children receiving warfarin for secondary prophylaxis^{72,87,88}.

Compared to adults, children require more frequent INR monitoring and more dose adjustments to remain stable^{72,87}. Primary medical problems, concomitant medications, and fluctuations in diet are a few of the factors that are likely to influence warfarin response in children and contribute to warfarin-induced ADRs. Differences in vitamin K content between solid foods and alternative nutrition sources, such as breast milk, formula, and total parenteral nutrition (TPN), can also render some children more susceptible to warfarin resistance, while making others more sensitive to warfarin's anticoagulation effects^{89,90}. The majority of children receiving warfarin therapy also receive concomitant medications to treat their underlying medical problems, which can influence dose requirements and risk of

bleeding⁵⁹. Frequent illnesses and the medications used to treat them can further complicate warfarin therapy in children.

1.3.3 Treatment of warfarin-induced bleeding

The first treatment option in the presence of an elevated INR is temporary cessation of therapy, which will allow the INR to fall within the therapeutic range over several days. In cases of excessive anticoagulation (usually INR >8) without significant bleeding, vitamin K may be administered orally, subcutaneously, or intravenously to cause a rapid decline in the INR (within 24 hours). While vitamin K is an effective treatment option, it may lead to temporary warfarin resistance and result in unsafe subtherapeutic INRs. In the presence of significant bleeding, fresh frozen plasma (FFP) may be administered for immediate reversal of over-anticoagulation⁴⁶. Other immediate treatment options include prothrombin complex concentrates or recombinant factor VIIa⁹¹.

1.4 Pharmacogenomics of warfarin safety and effectiveness

In 1999, the first report was published describing the contribution of genetic variants to interpatient warfarin dose variability and risk of bleeding complications. Specifically, the authors reported an association between functional variants in the warfarin metabolizing enzyme gene, *CYP2C9*, and low warfarin dose requirement⁹². Since this time, hundreds of papers have been published describing the relationship between genetic polymorphisms and warfarin-specific outcomes in adults.

1.4.1 CYP2C9

CYP2C9 is an isozyme of the cytochrome P450 superfamily of enzymes, which are responsible for the metabolism and elimination of many common prescription drugs. CYP2C9 is one of the most common CYP enzymes in the liver and metabolizes approximately 15% of clinical drugs, including non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors, diuretics, antiepileptics, angiotensin II receptor inhibitors, and anticoagulants, such as warfarin, phenprocoumon, and acenocumarol^{93,94}. The CYP2C9 gene is located on chromosome 10 and is highly polymorphic, with at least 34 variants (*1B to *35) identified thus far (http://www.cypalleles.ki.se/cyp2c9.htm, accessed 03 Dec 2012). Approximately 5-30% of the population carry variants in the CYP2C9 gene that result in an enzyme with reduced or zero activity, contributing to a decreased ability to catalyze the oxidation of S-warfarin and a decreased warfarin dose requirement¹⁸. In Europeans, the two most common functional CYP2C9 SNPs that confer reduced enzyme activity are CYP2C9*2 (rs1799853) and CYP2C9*3 (rs1057910)⁹⁵. CYP2C9*2 is an arginine substituted for a cysteine at position 144, while CYP2C9*3 is a leucine substituted for an isoleucine at residue 359^{96} . In vitro, these variants are less than 12% (*2/*2) and 5% (*3/*3) as efficient as the wild-type enzyme^{97,98}. Accordingly, carriers of *3/*3 require an approximately 78.1% lower dose compared to the normal activity allele (*1/*1) (Table 1.1)⁹⁹. Approximately 5-27% of the variability in required warfarin dose is explained by the *2 and *3 variants (**Table 1.2**)¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰².

The amount of dose variability accounted for by the *2 and *3 variants is less in Africans and Asians compared to Caucasians, most likely due to a lower allele frequency in these populations (**Table 1.3**). Additional *CYP2C9* gene variants, such as *CYP2C9*5* (rs28371686), **6* (rs9332131), **8* (rs7900194), and **11* (rs28371685) also result in an enzyme with reduced or zero activity and are found almost exclusively in African Americans¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵. These variants have been shown to increase the amount of explained dose variability in African Americans when compared to using **2* and **3* alone, accounting for approximately 5-6% of dose variability¹⁰⁶⁻¹¹⁰.

1.4.2 VKORC1

Vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit 1 (VKORC1) is the catalytic subunit of VKOR responsible for the conversion of epoxidized vitamin K to reduced vitamin K for activation of clotting factors (Figure 1.1). The VKORC1 gene is located on chromosome 16 and is approximately 5 KB in length, encoding 163 amino acids. Several polymorphisms in VKORC1 have been identified that strongly influence warfarin dose requirements. The most commonly cited SNP is -1639G>A (rs992321), which occurs in the functional promoter region and results in decreased gene transcription¹¹¹. Homozygous carriers of the A allele (*2/*2) require an approximately 50% lower dose compared to wild-type carriers (*1/*1), with heterozygotes (*1/*2) requiring intermediate doses (**Table 1.4**)¹¹². Similar effects have been ascribed to the VKORC1 1173C>T polymorphism (rs9934438), which is in tight linkage disequilibrium (LD) with the -1639G>A variant¹¹¹. These SNPs can be used interchangeably to differentiate high, moderate, and low sensitivity patients and account for approximately 4-35% of the variability in warfarin dosing^{113,114}(**Table 1.2**). Several other VKORC1 SNPs that are in LD with VKORC1-1639 have also been associated with warfarin dose and can be used to further differentiate VKORC1 sensitivity haplotypes

 $(*1, *2, *3, *4)^{115}$. However, these variants do not add any predictive power to a dose prediction model that already includes the -1639G>A variant. Alternatively, several rare point mutations in the *VKORC1* gene have been associated with warfarin resistance¹¹⁶⁻¹¹⁹. These variants occur in the coding region of the gene and lead to changes in the VKORC1 protein sequence, potentially altering the warfarin site of action¹¹⁸. However, the function of VKORC1 in extreme warfarin resistance is poorly understood.

The frequency of the -1639G>A variant also differs according to ethnicity. Asians possess the highest frequency (89%), which contributes to a lower average dose requirements in Asian patients compared to Europeans (**Table 1.3**)^{108,111}. Low allele frequency in Africans also explains why *VKORC1* is less predictive of dose compared to Caucasians, accounting for only 4.2% of dose variation in Africans compared to approximately 22.5% in Caucasians¹²⁰. Several other *VKORC1* SNPs have also been found to be predictive of warfarin dose in Africans independent of the -1639 variant (rs61162043, rs8050894, rs7199949, rs7294); however, these variants possess less predictive ability compared to *VKORC1*-1639^{106,110}.

1.4.3 Impact of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 variants on warfarin-related outcomes in adults

In addition to being associated with dose, genetic variants in *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* have been associated with several other warfarin-related clinical outcomes. For example, the time required to reach an INR in or above the therapeutic range is significantly decreased for carriers of the *CYP2C9*2*, **3*, or *VKORC1*-1639 variants^{108,121,122}. These variants have also

been associated with a shorter time to first INR greater than 4, a higher incidence of INR greater than 4, and an increased amount of time spent above the therapeutic range¹²³⁻¹²⁵. These findings can be explained by the increased sensitivity to warfarin that is conferred by these variants, resulting in a higher rate of INR increase during initiation of warfarin therapy and increased risk of over-anticoagulation (INR \geq 4)¹⁰⁸. Accordingly, *CYP2C9*2* and *3 have also been associated with an increased time to reach a stable INR, defined as consecutive INRs within the therapeutic range, as carriers of these variants become over-anticoagulated faster and require additional dose adjustments before a stable INR is achieved^{124,125}.

1.4.4 Genetics and warfarin-induced ADRs

As described previously, the most common ADR attributed to warfarin therapy is bleeding. Few studies have reported a significant association between *CYP2C9* and/or *VKORC1* variants and incidence of bleeding events¹²⁴⁻¹²⁷. Lima et al. (2008) reported that the incidence of bleeding events in the first month of therapy was 4.9 times higher for patients possessing a *CYP2C9* variant allele compared to wildtype patients¹²⁶. Similarly, Higashi et al. (2002) found that carriers of the *2 or *3 variant were more likely to experience a serious or life-threatening bleeding event sooner than wild-type carriers during both the initiation phase (HR, 3.94; 95% CI, 1.29-12.06) and entire follow-up period (HR, 2.39; 95% CI, 1.18-4.77)¹²⁵. The risk of hemorrhagic complications has also been found to be higher in carriers of *VKORC1* variants¹²⁸. Thus far, a significant association between genetic variants and thromboembolic episodes has not been identified, most likely due to a low incidence of thrombosis during warfarin therapy.

1.4.5 Pharmacogenetic dosing algorithms

By retrospectively combining clinical and genetic data from patients with known therapeutic doses, researchers have derived algorithms to predict the therapeutic dose for a warfarinnaïve patient. All published algorithms include VKORC1, CYP2C9*2 and *3, age and body size, while other variables accounted for include: amiodarone use, smoking, indication for anticoagulation, INR target, statin therapy, gender, race, and enzyme-inducing drugs¹²⁹⁻¹³⁵. It has consistently been shown that genotype-based dosing algorithms more accurately predict the stable warfarin dose when compared to clinical dosing algorithms, which account for clinical and demographic factors only, or empirical dosing, which requires administering a standard dose to all patients¹³⁶⁻¹⁴⁰. Overall, pharmacogenetics-based dosing models account for approximately 50-60% of dose variation¹⁴¹. When various dosing algorithms were compared, it was found that algorithms developed by the International Warfarin Pharmacogenetics Consortium (IWPC) and Gage et al. (2008) possessed the greatest predictive ability and performed very similarly (IWPC: $R^2 = 0.50$, Gage et al.: $R^2 = 0.49$)^{129,132,137}. Furthermore, all pharmacogenetic models outperformed a clinical dosing model in terms of R^2 and mean absolute error (MAE) values when predicting the required dose¹³⁷. The FDA has also developed a genetics-based dosing table that is included on the warfarin label (Coumadin, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Princeton, New Jersey) (Table $(1.5)^{142}$. However, this table-based dosing approach does not incorporate relevant clinical information and has been shown to be less accurate when predicting a stable dose compared to genetics-based algorithms¹³⁹.

As most dosing algorithms have been derived from predominantly Caucasian populations they are generally less predictive of dose in other ethnic populations. One study that compared the performance of five dosing algorithms in Caucasians and African Americans found that three of the algorithms accounted for a greater amount of dose variability in Caucasians compared to African Americans, and that some pharmacogenetic dosing algorithms only performed marginally better than a standard 5 mg dosing nomogram in African patients¹³⁸. However, none of the algorithms tested accounted for African-specific *CYP2C9* variants. One study that investigated genetics-based dosing in Japanese patients found that while the IWPC model was most useful for only 28% of dose variability¹³⁶. Discovery of genetic variants or clinical factors that are significant for predicting dose in specific ethnic populations would help improve the accuracy of genetics-based dosing models.

Dosing algorithms that incorporate INRs from the first few days of therapy have also been developed to facilitate more accurate dose prediction and dose adjustments. In a prospective study, it was found that a pharmacogenetic dose-refinement algorithm that incorporated INRs from day 4 or 5 was able to account for a larger percentage of dose variability and had a smaller median absolute dosing error when compared to a clinical dose refinement algorithm that did not include genetics¹⁴³. Algorithms that calculate genetics-based loading/initiation doses for the first few days of therapy have also been published^{144,145}. One of these algorithms was developed using the IWPC maintenance dose algorithm and *CYP2C9* genotype-based variance in warfarin half-life. When retrospectively evaluating this model it

was found that in patients with mean $INR_{days 4-7} > 4.0$ after warfarin initiation, the pharmacogenetics-based initiation dose algorithm predicted a markedly lower dose requirement than the standard regimen, whereas in those with mean $INR_{days 4-7} < 2.0$, the predicted dose requirement was very similar to that in the standard regimen¹⁴⁵. Therefore, a loading-dose algorithm may be beneficial for identifying patients who are particularly sensitive to warfarin and are at risk of over-anticoagulation if administered a standard loading dose.

1.5 Additional genetic variants associated with warfarin therapy in adults

Approximately 40-50% of the variation in warfarin dose still remains unexplained when accounting for *CYP2C9/VKORC1* genotypes and known clinical factors. Thus, there is a continuous search to identify additional genetic variants that may be implicated in warfarin dosing and can account for a portion of this unexplained variation. Examples of genetic variants that have been significantly associated with warfarin dose are described below.

1.5.1 CYP4F2

In addition to *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1*, the third gene most commonly associated with warfarin dose variation is *CYP4F2*. CYP4F2 is a vitamin K oxidase that catalyzes the metabolism of vitamin K to hydroxyvitamin K1 and functions as a counterpart to VKOR to prevent accumulation of vitamin K (**Figure 1.1**). A functional polymorphism in the *CYP4F2* gene (rs2108622, C>T) encodes a protein with decreased activity, resulting in increased levels of vitamin K and an increased dose requirement in patients carrying this variant¹⁴⁶. Homozygous carriers of the variant allele (TT genotype) have an approximately 1 mg/day

increased dose requirement compared to carriers of the CC genotype¹⁴⁶. When *CYP4F2* was included in models that also accounted for *CYP2C9*, *VKORC1*, and clinical variables, the amount of dose variation explained by *CYP4F2* ranged from approximately 1-11%^{122,137,146-157}. Most studies that reported a significant association were conducted in Caucasian patients. This variant is now included in the online dosing algorithm available at www.warfarindosing.org.

1.5.2 APOE

Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) is a class of apolipoprotein that is responsible for transporting vitamin K to the liver. The ApoE gene is polymorphic and has three major isoforms, ApoE- $\epsilon 2$ (dysfunctional), $\epsilon 3$ (normal) and $\epsilon 4$ (dysfunctional), which are discriminated by two SNPs (rs7412 and rs429358). One study found that carriers of the $\epsilon 4$ allele, which causes increased uptake of vitamin K into the liver, required a decreased dose compared to homozygous $\epsilon 3$ carriers¹⁵⁸. Kimmel et al. (2008) also reported a significant association between $\epsilon 4$ and warfarin dose but the association was in the opposite direction, with $\epsilon 4$ carriers requiring a higher warfarin dose. Furthermore, this association was only evident in African American patients, as Caucasian patients with the $\epsilon 4$ allele did not require a significantly different dose¹⁵⁹. In contrast, Wadelius et al. (2007) reported a significant association between $\epsilon 2+\epsilon 4$ and increased dose in Caucasians after correction for multiple testing¹⁶⁰. Multiple studies that have examined the role of *APOE* variants in warfarin dosing have not found a significant association, thus further complicating our understanding of the importance of this gene for warfarin dose prediction^{148,161,162}.
1.5.3 PROC

Protein C is a vitamin-K dependent serine protease that when activated plays a primary role in the regulation of blood clotting via the inactivation of clotting factors Va and VIIIa (**Figure 1.1**)^{163,164}. One study reported a significant association between dose and three *PROC* polymorphisms (rs2069919, rs1799809, rs2069901), accounting for 7-9% of the variation in warfarin dose¹⁶⁰. However, in a dose prediction model that included additional SNPs and clinical factors, only rs2069919 remained significant. When these SNPs were evaluated in additional patient cohorts a significant association was not found^{148,162,165,166}. Another SNP in *PROC* (rs5936) was significantly associated with dose in a Han-Chinese population in both univariate and multivariate analyses¹⁶². This SNP results in a synonymous amino acid change and is hypothesized to be in linkage with a functional SNP that has not yet been identified. The rs1799809 variant has also been associated with protein C concentration and activity in functional studies^{160,167,168}. It is hypothesized that variation in the *PROC* gene could affect warfarin dose requirements via changes in protein C expression or activity, thus altering the regulation of clotting factors.

1.5.4 GGCX

Gamma-glutamyl carboxylase (*GGCX*) encodes an enzyme that catalyzes the posttranslational modification of vitamin-K dependent clotting factors (**Figure 1.1**). Three variants in *GGCX* (rs11676382, rs10654848, rs12714145) have been significantly associated with warfarin dose. The SNP that has shown the strongest association is rs11676382, which explained 2% of the total dose variation in a multivariate model and was associated with a 6.1% reduction in dose per variant allele^{169,170}. This SNP has since been included in the

online dosing algorithm available at <u>www.warfarindosing.org</u>. The rs10654848 variant is a CAA repeat in intron 6 that is a predictor of high dose requirements in multiple ethnic populations. Specifically, the (CAA) 16 or 17 repeat explained 2% of dose variability in African American patients, while the (CAA) 11 or 13 repeat was associated with increased dose in Japanese patients^{171,172}. The frequency of this repeat is less common in Caucasians and was only significantly associated with dose in patients who also carried a *CYP2C9*1/*1* genotype¹⁷³. The third *GGCX* SNP, rs12714145, was significantly associated with increased dose in a Caucasian population¹⁷⁴.

1.5.5 POR

Cytochrome P540 oxidoreductase (POR) is as an electron donor for all CYP enzymes, including those that are essential for warfarin metabolism¹⁷⁵. Polymorphisms that alter POR activity or expression may contribute to individual warfarin dose requirements by affecting warfarin metabolism via CYP pathways. In one study with a predominantly Caucasian population, two SNPs in the proximal promoter region were associated with a lower warfarin dose (rs72553971, rs12537282), while a non-coding tag SNP (rs2868177) was significantly associated with a higher warfarin dose¹⁷⁶. These SNPs remained significant in a multiple regression analysis, along with SNPs in *CYP2C9*, *VKORC1*, and *CYP4F2*. When combined with the functional *CYP4F2* variant (rs2108622), these *GGCX* SNPs accounted for 6.2% of dose variation. In a study by Tee et al. (2011), neither of the promoter SNPs were associated with transcription of the POR basal promoter, suggesting that these SNPs may be in LD with other unknown variants that can alter POR transcription and expression¹⁷⁷. Replication of these findings in a separate patient cohort is still required.

1.5.6 CALU

Calumenin is an endoplasmic reticulum chaperone protein that can bind to both GGCX and VKOR to regulate γ -carboxylation and activation of vitamin K-dependent clotting factors (Figure 1.1)¹⁷⁸. Previous studies in rats have identified an association between CALUoverexpression and warfarin-resistance, as binding of calumenin prevents warfarin inhibition of VKOR activity¹⁷⁹. A CALU intronic SNP, rs339097, was significantly associated with a higher dose requirement in African Americans and conferred an 11-14.5% higher dose requirement than the one predicted using VKORC1/CYP2C9 genotypes and clinical factors¹⁸⁰. Furthermore, this variant accounted for 5.7% of the dose variation in African Americans and was replicated as a predictor of high dose requirement in two cohorts, including a mixed ethnicity cohort and a second African American cohort. Due to low allele frequency, the influence of this variant on dose requirements in Caucasians could not be determined. This SNP was further replicated in two more studies where it was shown to be significantly associated with increased dose in an African American cohort and an Egyptian cohort, although it did not achieve significance in a multiple regression model in the Egyptian population^{181,182}. Interestingly, a review of gene expression data from an immortalized lymphoblastoid cell line revealed that the variant allele is associated with higher CALU gene expression, which in turn could explain higher dose requirements in variant allele carriers¹⁸⁰. As rs339097 is an intronic SNP, the functional significance has yet to be determined. A study by Wadelius et al. (2007) identified additional CALU SNPs that were nominally associated with dose but these associations have not yet been replicated¹⁶⁰.

1.5.7 EPHX1

The microsomal epoxide hydrolase 1 (mEH) enzyme is encoded by the epoxide hydrolase 1 gene (*EPHX1*). This enzyme possesses a vitamin K 2,3-epoxide binding site and is believed to influence warfarin dose requirements by binding to VKOR and causing changes in the vitamin K cycle, potentially resulting in altered warfarin pharmacodynamics

(Figure 1.1)^{183,184}. Multiple studies have reported a significant association between variants in EPHX1 and dose, including rs4653436 (EPHX1691A>G), which results in a histamine to arginine transition (His139Arg). Two studies in Han Chinese patients found that carriers of the GG or AG genotype required significantly lower doses compared to AA carriers^{165,185}. This SNP remained significant in models that also included CYP2C9, VKORC1, age, and body weight. Interestingly, one study found that EPHX1 accounted for a greater amount of dose variability than CYP2C9, explaining approximately 35% of the dose variation when included in a model with age and body weight, compared to approximately 13% for CYP2C9¹⁸⁵. This SNP was also nominally associated with dose in a Caucasian population but did not reach significance after correction for multiple testing¹⁶⁰. Two additional studies in Asian cohorts, including an *EPHX1* exon sequencing study, identified intronic SNP rs1877724 as a significant predictor of warfarin dose, accounting for approximately 0.8-<3% of dose variation^{162,186}. This SNP resides in the same haplotype block as rs4653436 and is also linked to polymorphisms in the promoter region that are known to alter EPHX1 transcription rates¹⁸⁷. Thus, it is hypothesized that rs1877724 and rs4653436 may tag variants that alter protein expression¹⁸⁶. A coding SNP in *EPHX1* (rs1051740) has also been associated with increased dose requirements but the association was not significant in a multiple regression model that also included $CYP2C9^{184}$. Additional replication of EPHXI

SNPs that have been shown to alter warfarin dose requirements would help to further elucidate the influence of *EPHX1* on dose variation.

1.5.8 CYP2C18

CYP2C18 belongs to the cytochrome P450 superfamily of enzymes and is thought to play a minor role in the metabolism of warfarin (**Figure 1.2**)¹⁸⁸. An intronic SNP, rs7896133, was previously associated with therapeutic warfarin dose in a population of Caucasian patients after correcting for multiple testing¹⁶⁰. This SNP was also significant in a Han-Chinese population, where homozygous carriers required a significantly higher weekly warfarin dose compared to wildtype carriers¹⁶². However, this SNP did not remain significant in a multiple regression model. It is hypothesized that this SNP is in linkage disequilibrium with *CYP2C9*3* (rs1057910), which is known to be a significant predictor of required warfarin dose¹⁶⁰. A genome-wide association study in 546 African American patients found that a SNP upstream of *CYP2C18* (rs12777823) was associated with stable dose when conditioned on *VKORC1*-1639, *CYP2C9*2*, and *3¹⁸⁹. This SNP was replicated in a separate African American cohort and explained 5% of dose variability¹⁸⁹.

1.6 Pharmacogenetic studies in children on warfarin therapy

As previously described, significant differences in warfarin-related outcomes, such as required dose (mg/kg) and time to achieve a therapeutic INR, exist between pediatric patients of varying ages⁷². Based on a prospective analysis of 319 pediatric patients, Streif et al. (1999) concluded that age was the most important factor influencing warfarin outcomes in children⁷². However, this conclusion was based on a comparison of clinical factors alone. It

is known that children respond differently to warfarin compared to adults and that multiple patient-specific factors, such as age-related dose-response, diet, illness, and underlying health problems can impact warfarin response in children. As such, the question arises of whether genetic variants also play a significant role in warfarin dosing and clinical outcomes in pediatric patients.

To date, six pharmacogenetic studies on warfarin therapy in children have been published. A study with the largest pediatric population (n=120) found that VKORC1 and CYP2C9 explained 26.6% and 12.8% of dose variation, respectively, which is comparable to values reported in adult populations¹⁹⁰. Furthermore, when height and indication for warfarin use were added to a predictive dosing model, 72.4% of the variation in warfarin dose was explained by clinical and genetic factors. Four additional studies in children reported a significant difference in warfarin dose requirement between carriers and non-carriers of the *VKORC1*-1639 variant. However, three of these studies did not find a significant difference in dose across CYP2C9 genotypes, while the fourth study excluded CYP2C9 from all analyses due to low allele frequency^{88,100,191,192}. Finally, a study by Ruud et al. (2008) in 29 patients did not find a significant difference in dose requirement between carriers of CYP2C9 low activity variants and the *1/*1 normal activity genotype. However, this finding may have been due to small sample size and concomitant high-dose steroid use in the majority of patients¹⁹³. Overall, the amount of warfarin dose variability that is explained by genetics in children ranges from 0.4-12.8% and 3.7-26.6% for CYP2C9 and VKORC1, respectively.

Two of the aforementioned studies also investigated the association between dose and *CYP4F2* (rs2108622), with both studies reporting a non-significant association^{100,190}. Biss et al. (2011) found that carriers of the *CYP4F2* V433M variant required a higher mean daily warfarin dose compared to wildtype carriers but this difference was not statistically significant ¹⁹⁰. *CYP4F2* genotype was also not significant in a dosing model that already included *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* genotypes.

Aside from dose variability and prediction models, there has been limited investigation of additional warfarin-related outcomes in children. One study reported a significant difference in the number of days needed to achieve the target INR and the number of INR measurements above the therapeutic range when comparing *CYP2C9* low activity variants to normal activity variants, suggesting that *CYP2C9* variants represent a risk factor for over-anticoagulation and potential bleeding complications in children¹⁹³. However, a separate study reported that there was no association between *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* genotype and time to therapeutic INR⁸⁸. Furthermore, a study by Moreau et al. (2012) did not find an association between genetic factors and time spent within, above, or below the therapeutic range¹⁰⁰.

Based on the described findings, the relevance of genetics in warfarin dosing and clinical outcomes in children remains poorly understood. While *VKORC1* (rs9923231) appears to influence dose requirements in children, the amount of dose variability explained by this variant, as well as the impact of *CYP2C9* variants on dose requirements in children, remains conflicting. The influence of pharmacogenetic markers on clinically relevant warfarin-

related outcomes, such as risk of over-anticoagulation and warfarin-induced bleeding, has also not been studied in children. Accordingly, it is unknown whether variation in key genes involved in warfarin biotransformation and vitamin K pathways contribute to dose variability in children independent of previously identified associations. Further examination of the influence of genetic variants on warfarin dosing and severe outcomes in children is warranted.

1.7 Hypothesis and thesis objectives

This study hypothesizes that variants in genes involved in the metabolism and mechanism of warfarin, as well as vitamin K and coagulation pathways, impact warfarin dosing and are predictive of warfarin-related outcomes in children. The specific objectives of the study were: (1) to assess the impact of *CYP2C9*, *VKORC1* and *CYP4F2* variants on warfarin outcomes in children, including: (a) therapeutic warfarin dose, (b) time to INR events, and (c) warfarin-induced ADRs; (2) to validate a previously published pediatric-specific pharmacogenetic predictive dosing model in an independent cohort of children and compare its performance to an adult-derived dosing model when predicting therapeutic dose; and (3) to investigate the association of additional polymorphisms in genes involved in warfarin biotransformation and coagulation pathways to assess their impact on dose variation in children.



Figure 1.1. Interaction of warfarin with its target enzyme and downstream pathways

This diagram illustrates the interaction between warfarin and its target VKORC1. Inhibition of VKORC1 prevents the regeneration of reduced vitamin K and leads to the accumulation of hypofunctional clotting factors and proteins. Polymorphisms in several enzymes, including GGCX, CALU, EPHX1, and CYP4F2, may disrupt the warfarin pharmacodynamic pathway by interfering with the vitamin K cycle or the activation of clotting factors. This figure is reprinted with permission from PharmGKB and Stanford University¹⁹⁴. Copyright PharmGKB.



Figure 1.2. Candidate genes involved in the metabolism of warfarin

Several cytochrome P450 genes are involved in the phase 1 metabolism of R-warfarin and S-warfarin isomers to their inactive metabolites. CYP2C9 is the main metabolizer of S-warfarin while R-warfarin is predominantly metabolized via CYP3A4. Warfarin is primarily eliminated via the kidney but has also been shown to undergo hepatic elimination via interaction with the efflux transporter ABCB1 in the liver. This figure is reprinted with permission from PharmGKB and Stanford University¹⁹⁴. Copyright PharmGKB.

<i>CYP2C9</i> Genotype	Reduction in warfarin dose requirement
*1/*1	Reference
*1/*2	19.6%
*1/*3	33.7%
*2/*2	36.0%
*2/*3	56.7%
*3/*3	78.1%

Table 1.1. Effect of variant CYP2C9 genotypes on warfarindose requirements^a

^aValues taken from Lindh et al. (2009)⁹⁹

	Ethnic Group				
Allele	Caucasian	Asian	African		
<i>CYP2C9*2</i> or <i>*3</i>	5 - 27% 101,102	<4.8 - 17.3%	< 5.6% 106,107		
CYP2C9*5, *6, *8, *11	N/A	N/A	< 5 - 6%		
<i>VKORC1</i> (-1639G>A)	13.8 - 25%	19.8 - 35.5%	4 - 9%		

Table 1.2. Variability in warfarin dose explained by *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes in different ethnic populations

Table 1.3. CYP2C9 and VKORC1 variant allele frequencies according to ethnicity

	Ethnic Group				
Allele	Caucasian	Asian	African		
<i>CYP2C9*2</i> ^a	0.9 - 20%	0%	0.8 - 7%		
<i>CYP2C9*3</i> ^a	0-14.5%	0-8.2%	0.4 - 3%		
<i>VKORC1</i> (-1639G>A) ^b	37%	89%	14%		

^aAllele frequencies for *CYP2C9* taken from Lee et al. (2002)⁹⁵ ^bAllele frequencies for *VKORC1* taken from Rieder et al. (2005)¹¹¹

	Increase in Dose Requirement				
<i>VKORC1</i> variant	High sensitivity	Intermediate sensitivity	Low sensitivity		
-1639 G>A	Reference	52%	102%		
+1173 T>C	Reference	44%	97%		

Table 1.4. Effect of VKORC1 variant genotypes on warfarin dose requirements^a

^aValues taken from Yang et al. (2010)¹¹²

VKORC1	СҮР2С9					
0	*1/*1	*1/*2	*1/*3	*2/*2	*2/*3	*3/*3
GG	5-7 mg	5-7 mg	3-4 mg	3-4 mg	3-4 mg	0.5-2 mg
GA	5-7 mg	3-4 mg	3-4 mg	3-4 mg	0.5-2 mg	0.5-2 mg
АА	3-4 mg	3-4 mg	0.5-2 mg	0.5-2 mg	0.5-2 mg	0.5-2 mg

Table 1.5. Range of expected therapeutic warfarin doses based on *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* genotypes as listed on the warfarin label insert^a

^aAdapted from U.S. Food and Drug Administration label for Coumadin® tablets (warfarin sodium tablets, USP) crystalline; Coumadin® for injection (warfarin sodium for injection, USP). http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2010/009218s108lbl.pdf. Accessed 09/08/2012.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 Patient recruitment and characterization

Patients were recruited through the Canadian Pharmacogenomics Network for Drug Safety (CPNDS), an active ADR surveillance network with multiple pediatric and adult surveillance sites at academic health centres across Canada¹⁹⁹. Inclusion criteria for the study were patients who were under the age of 19 and had received warfarin. Eighty-six study participants were prospectively recruited from B.C. Children's Hospital (Vancouver, Canada) between March 2011 and August 2012. Seven children were recruited at three CPNDS sites (Hospital for Sick Children (Toronto), Winnipeg Health Services Centre (Winnipeg), and B.C. Children's Hospital (Vancouver)). Informed consent was obtained from participants and/or their parents or legal guardians. This study was approved by the ethics committees of all participating institutions.

Relevant clinical and demographic information was obtained from patient health records, including age, gender, height, weight, concomitant medications, indication for warfarin, target INR range(s), bleeding/thrombotic events, and detailed records of warfarin doses and INR measurements. For all analyses, indication for warfarin was grouped into: (1) Fontan surgical procedure, (2) mechanical heart valve, (3) deep vein thrombosis/pulmonary embolism (DVT/PE), and (4) 'other' for all additional warfarin prescribing indications. Target INR varied according to indication and was grouped into <2.5, 2-3, and >2.5. Self-reported ancestry of maternal and paternal grandparents was obtained from patients or their parents/guardians. Ancestry was classified as: (1) European, (2) Asian, (3) mixed (patients

with at least one grandparent of European or Asian descent), and (4) other. High congruency between self-reported geographic ancestry and genetic structure has previously been shown using principal component analysis²⁰⁰. All available health records from time of warfarin treatment were reviewed.

2.2 Definition of outcomes

Three main outcomes were investigated using our cohort of children: (1) therapeutic warfarin dose, (2) time to INR events, and (3) warfarin-induced ADRs. Therapeutic warfarin dose was defined as no change in warfarin dose for at least three previous consecutive INR measurements over a minimum period of four weeks, at least two weeks after the initiation of therapy. This definition was modified from criterion used in a previous prospective, pediatric study, where it was required that children be anticoagulated for a minimum of three months prior to study inclusion²⁰¹. Mean daily warfarin dose was calculated for patients who received alternating daily doses. Time to therapeutic INR was recorded as the time in days from first warfarin administration to first INR measurement in or above the therapeutic range. Time to INR >4 during warfarin initiation was recorded as the number of days from warfarin initiation to the first INR >4, within the first 60 days of therapy. Both major and minor bleeding events were recorded throughout the entire treatment period, for which follow-up information was available. Major bleeding events were defined according to the criteria of the International Society of Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH)²⁰². Criteria for major bleeding included: (1) Fatal bleeding, and/or; (2) Symptomatic bleeding in a critical area or organ, such as intracranial, instraspinal, intraocular, retroperitoneal, intraarticular, or pericardial, or intramuscular with compartment syndrome, and/or; (3) Bleeding causing a fall

in hemoglobin level of 20g L-1 (1.24 mmol L-1) or more, or leading to a transfusion of two or more units of whole blood or red cells. Based on consultation with a hematologist, it was required that hemoglobin drops occurred within one week of signs of bleeding in order for the event to be considered warfarin-related. Minor bleeding included all signs of bleeding, including epistaxis, hematoma, and heavy menses. Incidence of over-anticoagulation (INR >4) during the first 60 days of therapy was analyzed as a surrogate outcome for risk of warfarin-induced bleeding. Any evidence of a thrombotic episode while receiving warfarin was also recorded.

2.3 Designing a custom genotyping panel

A custom-made VeraCode GoldenGate Genotyping Assay (Illumina, San Diego, USA) was designed to capture genetic variation in genes that are known to influence warfarin outcomes in adults, as well as genes involved in the coagulation pathway. Based on a literature search twelve genes were chosen for investigation: *VKORC1*, *CYP2C9*, *CYP4F2*, *CYP2C18*, *EPHX1*, *CALU*, *GGCX*, *PROC*, *APOE*, *POR*, *F2*, and *A2M*. Variation in the first ten genes has previously been shown to influence warfarin dose in adults and thus were chosen for investigation in children. The latter two genes, *F2* and *A2M*, play a role in the coagulation cascade and may affect pediatric-specific outcomes, as levels of proteins encoded by these genes are significantly different between children adults⁶⁹. All variants included on the panel are listed in **Table 2.1**.

Seven polymorphisms in *VKORC1*, *CYP2C9*, and *CYP4F2* that have repeatedly been associated with warfarin dose variability in adults were included on the panel, as it was

hypothesized that genetic variants known to influence warfarin outcomes in adults are also associated with warfarin outcomes in children. In addition, three *VKORC1* variants associated with warfarin resistance, three *CYP2C9* variants associated with dose requirements in African Americans, and one *CYP4F2* variant associated with time to therapeutic INR were included on the panel (**Table 2.1**). Since variation in these key genes has been thoroughly investigated in adults receiving warfarin therapy, no additional tagging or functional SNPs were included for investigation. A single SNP located upstream of *CYP2C18* that has been shown to influence warfarin dose independent of previously identified *CYP2C9* coding SNPs was also included for analysis; however, due to clustering of cytochrome P450 genes and a high potential for linkage disequilibrium between *CYP2C9* and *CYP2C18* variants, no additional *CYP2C18* variants were included on the custom panel.

For the remaining eight genes, SNPs that have previously been shown to influence warfarin outcomes in adults (15 SNPs), as well as coding SNPs (9 SNPs) and haplotype tagging SNPs (54 SNPs) were chosen for investigation (**Table 2.1**). A set of known coding SNPs were chosen due to their increased potential to influence biological pathways and warfarin-related phenotypes. Five coding SNPs with a minor allele frequency (MAF) greater than 1% in the Utah residents with ancestry from northern and western Europe population (CEU) and four coding SNPs with an MAF greater than 1% in the Yoruba in Ibadan, Nigeria population (YRI) were selected (http://hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). A tagging SNP design was also employed to capture sufficient genetic variation while also limiting the number of SNPs tested. Selection of tagging SNPs was performed using data from the International HapMap Project (http://hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) and the Haploview software²⁰³. Selection criteria

were an MAF greater than 1% in CEU and Toscani in Itali (TSI) populations and an r^2 threshold of 0.8. All SNPs were located within +/- 5kb of the gene of interest. In total, ninety-three SNPs were included for analysis on the custom genotyping panel.

2.4 Genotyping and quality control

Blood or saliva samples were collected from patients (Oragene, DNA Genotek, Ottawa, Canada) and labeled with a unique identifier. Patient DNA was extracted using the QiaSymphony purification system (Qiagen Inc., Toronto, Canada) according to the manufacturer's protocol. DNA concentration was determined using PicoGreen fluorometric assay (Quant-iT PicoGreen dsDNA reagent) and samples with a concentration less than 20 ng/µl were whole genome amplified (WGA) with multiple displacement amplification (Qiagen Inc., Toronto, Canada). DNA was normalized to a concentration of 20-50 ng/µl, while WGA was normalized to a maximum concentration of 100 ng/µl. Samples were genotyped using a custom Illumina GoldenGate Genotyping Assay for VeraCode and plates were scanned using an Illumina BeadXpress Reader (Illumina, San Diego, USA). All plates included a negative control (1x Tris-EDTA buffer) and a positive control with known genotype.

SNP genotype data were clustered manually using GenomeStudio software (Illumina, San Diego, USA). All samples achieved a genotyping call rate >95%. Six SNPs with a call rate <90% and six non-polymorphic SNPs were removed from the analysis. Two SNPs were removed due to Hardy-Weinberg disequilibrium (p<0.01), leaving 79 SNPs for analysis.

CYP4F2 (rs2108622) was genotyped separately using TaqMan Genotyping Assay (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA; Assay ID: C__16179493_40).

2.5 Statistical analysis

Analyses were conducted in two phases. In the first phase, *a priori* selected key candidate SNPs in *VKORC1* (-1639G>A; rs9923231), *CYP2C9* (*2 and *3; rs1799853 and rs1057910), and *CYP4F2* (rs2108622) were analyzed for associations with primary outcomes. In the secondary exploratory phase, all genotyped SNPs were analyzed for an association with therapeutic warfarin dose.

2.5.1 Dose association analysis

Normal distribution of mean daily warfarin dose (mg) was achieved by taking the square root. Associations between continuous variables (age, height, weight, body surface area (BSA), and body mass index (BMI)) and dose were assessed using the Pearson correlation test, while categorical variables (gender, ancestry, indication, target INR, concomitant drugs and genotype) were assessed using unpaired *t*-test or analysis of variance (ANOVA). Concomitant drugs of interest were chosen using the FDA warfarin package insert¹⁴². All drugs that were listed as either inhibitors or inducers of CYP2C9, CYP1A2, or CYP3A4 were analyzed for an association with dose. Due to small numbers of patients taking each drug, concomitant drugs were also separated according to their potentiating or attenuating effect on warfarin. Potentiating drugs included amiodarone, fluoxetine, propafenone, propranolol, ranitidine, and co-trimoxazole, while attenuating drugs included omeprazole, phenobarbital, and prednisone. Variables with a *p*-value <0.20 in univariate analyses were

entered into a stepwise linear regression model and variables with a *p*-value <0.05 were retained in the model. *VKORC1* (-1639G>A), *CYP2C9*2* and *3 were included in all final regression models. An additive genetic model was used for regression analyses and genotypes were coded as: 0 for homozygous major allele, 1 for heterozygous, and 2 for homozygous minor allele.

Model accuracy was assessed by determining the number of children for which the model over- or under-predicted the actual required dose. The ability of a previously published pediatric-specific warfarin pharmacogenetic dosing model²⁰¹ as well as an adult-derived dosing model¹³² to predict therapeutic warfarin dose in our cohort of children was also evaluated. Pearson correlation coefficients for predicted dose vs. actual therapeutic dose were compared using methods developed by Meng et al.²⁰⁴.

2.5.2 Survival analysis and time to INR events

Time-dependent outcomes (time to first INR in or above the therapeutic range and time to first INR >4) were compared among genotype groups using the log-rank test. *VKORC1* was separated into homozygous major allele (GG), heterozygous (AG), and homozygous variant allele (AA) genotype groups. Similarly, *CYP2C9* genotype was analyzed as homozygous major allele (*1/*1), heterozygous (*1/*2 or *1/*3), and homozygous variant allele (*2/*2) genotypes. Hazard ratios (HRs) for genotypes for both time-to-INR outcomes were determined using cox regression analyses. Associations with quantitative (age, height, weight, initiation dose) and qualitative variables (gender, ancestry, target INR, indication for warfarin, potentiating/attenuating drugs) were analyzed using univariate cox regression and

log-rank tests, respectively. Potentiating drugs included amiodarone, clarithromycin, fluoxetine, propafenone, propranolol, ranitidine, and co-trimoxazole, while attenuating drugs included omeprazole, phenobarbital, prednisone, and multivitamins containing vitamin K. Clinical variables with a *p*-value <0.20 were entered into a stepwise model and variables with a *p*-value <0.05 were used as covariates in cox regression analyses to determine adjusted HRs for genotype groups. For all analyses, homozygous major allele genotype was used as the reference genotype.

2.5.3 Case-control analyses

For the investigation of warfarin-induced bleeding, a case-control analysis using Fisher's exact test was performed and odds ratios (ORs) were calculated, with the homozygous major allele genotype as the reference genotype. Fisher's exact test was also used to test for associations with gender, ancestry, and indication for warfarin. This statistical test was chosen due to the small sample size and small number of cases. The non-parametric Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test was used to test for associations with age at initiation of therapy and amount of time on therapy that was captured. Target INR and concomitant medications were not analyzed as covariates because these variables did not remain constant over the course of therapy. Variables with a *p*-value <0.20 in univariate analyses were entered into a stepwise model and variables with a *p*-value <0.05 were included as covariates in logistic regression models to determine adjusted ORs for bleeding events.

Risk of over-anticoagulation (INR >4) in the first 60 days of therapy was also analyzed using the case-control statistical methods described above. Target INR and use of potentiating or attenuating drugs were assessed using Fisher's exact test.

2.5.4 Exploratory SNP analyses

In the second analysis phase, an exploratory analysis of the larger genotyping panel was performed. All genotyped SNPs that passed quality control (79 SNPs) were analyzed for an association with the square root of the daily warfarin dose, in order to identify additional SNPs that may impact warfarin dosing in children. An additive allele model was used and genotypes were coded as: 0 for homozygous major allele, 1 for heterozygous, and 2 for mutant homozygous. SNPs with a *p*-value <0.10 using simple linear regression were entered into a stepwise regression model with clinical covariates and SNPs with *p*-values <0.05 were retained in the final model. Due to the limited sample size and exploratory nature of the analysis, reported *p*-values were not corrected for multiple testing.

2.6 Patient cohort inclusion and exclusion

Analyses for therapeutic dose were restricted to patients who achieved this outcome according to our definition (n=77). Patients were removed from time-to-INR event analyses due to missing information following initiation of therapy (n=1) or for reasons that are known to prolong the prothrombin time (ex. concomitant use of argatroban (n=2) or presence of an anti-bovine thrombin inhibitor (n=1))²⁰⁵⁻²⁰⁷. All 93 patients were included in the case/control analyses investigating risk of major and minor bleeding. Patients were removed from INR >4 case/control analyses due to missing information during the first 60 days of

therapy (n=6), duration of therapy less than 60 days (n=2), or factors that prolong the prothrombin time (n=2).

For all tests, two-sided *p*-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics 20 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA), R 2.15.1 (R Development Core Team,) and SNP and Variation Suite 7.6.11 (Golden Helix, Bozeman, USA).

Cono	Variant	Allolos	Amino Acid	Reason for including SNP on	Doforonoos
VKOPC1	r=0022221			Tagging SND for 1*2 haplotype	115
VKORCI	189923231	A/C/U/1	IN/A	Tagging SNP for 1*2 haplotype	115
VKORCI	rs9934438	A/G	N/A	Lagging SNP for 1*2 haplotype	115
VKORC1	rs7294	A/G	N/A	Tagging SNP for 1*3 haplotype	115
VKORC1	rs17708472	A/G	N/A	Tagging SNP for 1*4 haplotype	115
VKORC1	rs10489454 2	G/T	Leu1128Arg	Rare point mutation in coding region, associated with warfarin resistance	208
VKORC1	rs61742245	A/C	Asp36Tyr	Rare point mutation in coding region, associated with warfarin resistance	119
VKORC1	rs72547529	C/T	Val66Met	Rare point mutation in coding region, associated with warfarin resistance	118
CYP2C9	rs1799853	C/T	Arg144Cys	CYP2C9*2; Decreased CYP2C9 activity	92
CYP2C9	rs1057910	A/C	Ile359Leu	CYP2C9*3; Decreased CYP2C9 activity	92
CYP2C9	rs9332131	А	Lys273Argfs	CYP2C9*6; Complete loss of CYP2C9 activity	107
CYP2C9	rs28371685	C/T	Arg335Trp	CYP2C9*11; Complete loss of CYP2C9 activity	107
CYP2C9	rs7089580	A/T	N/A	Associated with higher dose in African Americans	106
CYP4F2	rs2108622	C/T	Val433Met	Increased dose requirement in patients carrying the T allele	146
CYP4F2	rs2189784	A/G	N/A	Located upstream of CYP4F2; Associated with increased time to INR	209
CYP2C18	rs12777823	A/G	N/A	Located upstream of CYP2C18; Associated with dose in African Americans	189
EPHX1	rs4653436	A/G	N/A	Associated with lower dose in Han Chinese patients	165,185
EPHX1	rs1877724	C/T	N/A	Associated with lower dose in Asian populations	162,186
EPHX1	rs1051740	C/T	Tyr113His	Associated with dose when comparing high dose vs. low dose requirement	184
EPHX1	rs2292568	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs6426089	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs2740174	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs3753661	G/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs2671272	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs2740170	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs10799324	A/C	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs10753410	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
EPHX1	rs2234922	A/G	His139Arg	Tag SNP	

Table 2.1. List of SNPs included on custom genotyping panel

Corro	Variant	Allalag	Amino Acid	Reason for including SNP on	Defenences
Gene EDUV1		Alleles		Custom panel	References
EPHA1 EDUV1	1510915884	C/T	IN/A	Tag SNP	
EPHAI EDUV1	IS0905		IN/A	Tag SNP	
EPHAI EDUV1	183/33003	A/I	IN/A	Tag SNP	
EPHAI EDUV1	1\$300003	A/G	IN/A	Tag SNP	
EPHA1 EDUV1	15808900	A/G	IN/A	Tag SNP	
EPHAI	TS2200803	C/G	IN/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs339097	C/T	N/A	dose requirement	180-182
CALU	rs2307040	A/G	Ala82Val	Common coding SNP in Caucasians; Nominally associated with dose before correction for multiple testing	160
CALU	rs339099	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs17164371	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs339057	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs2290228	C/T	Arg4Gln	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs2060717	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs7776641	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs109829	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs4731513	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
CALU	rs1043595	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
GGCX	rs12714145	C/T	N/A	Associated with increased dose	174
GGCX	rs11676382	C/G	N/A	Associated with decreased dose	169,210
GGCX	rs74843621	A/G	Asp31Asn	Common coding SNP in Africans	
GGCX	rs75294795	C/G	Ser284Cys	Common coding SNP in Africans	
GGCX	rs2592551	C/T	Arg406Arg	Tag SNP	
GGCX	rs699664	A/G	Arg268Gln	Tag SNP	
GGCX	rs10179904	A/G	Thr414Thr	Tag SNP	
PROC	rs5936	G/T	Ser141Ser	Associated with warfarin dose in Han Chinese	162
PROC	rs2069919	A/G	N/A	Associated with dose in a multivariate model	160
PROC	rs1799809	A/G	N/A	Associated with decreased dose in univariate regression	160
PROC	rs2069901	C/T	N/A	Associated with dose in univariate regression	160
PROC	rs2069927	A/G	Pro210Pro	Common coding SNP in Africans	
PROC	rs5937	C/T	Asp256Asp	Common coding SNP in Caucasians	
PROC	rs6710535	C/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
PROC	rs1568277	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
PROC	rs878461	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
PROC	rs1158867	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
APOE	rs7412	C/T	Arg176Cvs	Associated with both increased	158-160
	rs/20259	С/Т	Cust20Arg	and decreased dose requirements Associated with both increased	158-160
AIUE	15+29330	0/1	Cysi JUAIg	and decreased dose requirements	
APOE	rs439401	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	

			Amino Acid	Reason for including SNP on	
Gene	Variant	Alleles	Change	custom panel	References
APOE	rs405697	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
APOE	rs405509	A/C	N/A	Tag SNP	
APOE	rs1160985	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
APOE	rs445925	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs12537282	C/G/T	N/A	Associated with decreased dose	176
POR	rs72553971	A/C	N/A	Associated with decreased dose	176
POR	rs2868177	A/G	N/A	Associated with increased dose	176
POR	rs11766772	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs17148944	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs6965343	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs12537277	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs6953065	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs7796654	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs4728533	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs3898649	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
POR	rs1362234	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
F2	rs5896	C/T	Thr165Met	Common coding SNP in	
				Caucasians	
F2	rs5899	C/T	Gly271Gly	Common coding SINP in Caucasians	
F2	rs5898	A/G	Pro411Pro	Common coding SNP in Caucasians	
F2	rs3136456	A/C	N/A	Tag SNP	
F2	rs3136520	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
F2	rs2070852	C/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
F2	rs3136516	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
A2M	rs226405	A/G	Asp639Ter	Common coding SNP in Africans	
A2M	rs669	A/G	Ile1000Val	Tag SNP	
A2M	rs4882978	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
A2M	rs10743598	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	
A2M	rs226397	A/G	N/A	Tag SNP	
A2M	rs1805661	C/T	N/A	Tag SNP	

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Study population

Ninety-three children were included in the study. The study population was comprised of 52 males and 41 females. The median age at initiation of therapy was 4.8 years (range, 2 months-17.8 years; **Table 3.1**). The main indications for warfarin were following Fontan procedures (n=35), mechanical heart valves (n=22), and deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism (DVT/PE; n=15). The majority of patients were of European descent (n=61), followed by Asian (n=16), mixed (n=12), and other (n=4; First Nations, n=2; African, n=1; Fijan, n=1). The average length of time on warfarin therapy that was captured was 3.91 years (range, <1 month -14.4 years). Patient characteristics and genotyping frequencies for *VKORC1* (-1639G>A, rs9923231), *CYP2C9* (*2 and *3; rs1799853 and rs1057910), and *CYP4F2* (rs2108622) are displayed in **Table 3.1**. Genotype frequencies for the four candidate SNPs were similar to those reported in the literature^{95,111,146}.

3.2 Association of genetic and non-genetic factors with therapeutic dose

Seventy-seven patients reached a stable therapeutic dose and were included in this analysis. The sixteen excluded patients never achieved a stable dose after a mean of approximately 4.5 months following initiation of therapy. These patients are included in additional analyses described below. The median daily therapeutic warfarin dose was 3 mg (range, 0.75-10 mg) and the median age at time of therapeutic dose was 4.7 years (range, 8 months-18 years). In univariate analyses, age (r=0.59, p<0.001), height (r=0.65, p<0.001), weight (r=0.73, p<0.001), body surface area (BSA) (r=0.71, p<0.001), and body mass index (BMI) (r=0.63,

p < 0.001) calculated at time of therapeutic dose were significantly correlated with the square root of the daily dose (**Table 3.2**). A positive correlation was observed between age and warfarin dose expressed in milligrams. However, when warfarin dose was normalized to body weight (mg/kg) there was a negative correlation between age and dose (**Figure 3.1**).

There was a significant difference in dose requirements among indications for warfarin (p<0.001; **Table 3.2**). Patients who were anticoagulated for a Fontan procedure required a significantly lower mean daily warfarin dose (2.5+/-1.2 mg) than patients who were anticoagulated for a DVT/PE (5.0+/-2.6 mg; p=0.002) or for an indication classified as 'other' (4.7+/-2.4 mg; p=0.001). Patients with Fontan procedures also required lower mean daily warfarin doses than patients who were anticoagulated for mechanical heart valves (3.4+/-1.5 mg) but the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.17). Children with a lower target INR (INR <2.5) also required a lower mean daily warfarin dose (3.0+/-1.2 mg) than children with a target INR of 2-3 (3.8+/-2.8 mg) or a target INR >2.5 (3.4+/-1.5 mg). However, dose requirements did not differ significantly among INR target ranges (p=0.46; **Table 3.2**). Gender (p=0.23), ancestry (p=0.69), and use of potentiating (p=0.81) or attenuating drugs (p=0.77) were not associated with dose (**Table 3.2**). Furthermore, no concomitant medications were significantly associated with dose when assessed independently.

Children with the *VKORC1* (-1639) AA genotype required a significantly lower mean daily warfarin dose (2.0+/-1.4 mg) than those with the AG (3.3+/-1.6 mg) or GG (4.1+/-2.2 mg) genotype (p<0.001, ANOVA; **Table 3.3**). Carriers of the AG genotype also required a lower

warfarin dose than GG carriers but this difference was not significant (p=0.274). A genedose effect, whereby daily dose requirements decreased with the addition of each variant allele, is displayed in **Figure 3.2**. The mean daily warfarin dose requirement for carriers of the *CYP2C9*1/*3* genotype (2.2+/-1.5 mg) was also significantly lower than in patients with the *CYP2C9*1/*1* genotype (3.7+/-2.1 mg, p=0.013; **Table 3.3**). There was a nonsignificant trend towards a lower dose requirement in *CYP2C9*1/*2* carriers (3.2+/-1.6 mg) compared to *1/*1 patients (p=0.51). Only one patient carried the *CYP2C9*2/*2* genotype (3.25 mg). When comparing dose requirements among *CYP2C9*1/*1*, *1/*2, and *1/*3 carriers, a significant difference was observed (p=0.041; **Figure 3.2**). Similarly, when all *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers were grouped together, these patients required a significantly lower dose compared to *1/*1 patients (p=0.049).

Homozygous carriers of the *CYP4F2* (rs2108622) T variant required higher mean daily warfarin doses (3.7+/-1.3 mg) than homozygous CC (3.6+/-2.1 mg) or heterozygous CT patients (3.2+/-1.9 mg) but the difference in dose requirements between genotype groups was not significant (*p*=0.66, ANOVA; **Table 3.3**). Heterozygous CT patients required the lowest warfarin dose, eliminating a gene-dose effect.

In univariate analysis using simple linear regression, *VKORC1* accounted for 17.2% of the variability in required warfarin dose. Alternatively, *CYP2C9*2* and *3 genotypes accounted for 0.04% and 7.8% of dose variability, respectively.

3.2.1 Dose prediction models

In multivariate analysis, body weight, indication for warfarin, *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes explained 76.3% of the variability in warfarin dose (**Table 3.4**). Weight (kg) was the most important contributor to the model, explaining 52.8% of dose variability. *VKORC1* accounted for 12.2% of variability, *CYP2C9* (*2 and *3) for 8.9%, and indication for 2.4%. *CYP2C9*2* alone explained 1% of dose variability and was not significant in the overall model (p=0.078). However, excluding *CYP2C9*2* from the model did not change the contribution of the other covariates towards warfarin dose variability. The final regression equation was: square root of daily dose (mg) = 1.711 + 0.014 (weight, kg) -0.257 (number of *CYP2C9*3* alleles) – 0.161 (Fontan procedure). **Figure 3.3** shows the distribution of observed versus predicted dose (mg/day) was within +/-1 mg of the actual therapeutic dose.

In a subgroup analysis of patients less than 6 years old (n=42), or approximately half the patient cohort, the contribution of both *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes to dose variability increased (**Table 3.5**). This was especially apparent for *VKORC1*, which increased from 12.2% in the original model to 44.4%. The contribution of *CYP2C9*3* to dose variability increased slightly compared to the original model, from 7.9% to 9% (**Table 3.5**). No additional genetic or clinical covariates were significantly associated with dose in a multivariate model. The majority of patients less than 6 years old were receiving warfarin for a Fontan procedure (n=27). When analyzing all Fontan patients who achieved a therapeutic dose (n=34) the amount of dose variability explained by *VKORC1* increased even

further, to 47.7%. Body surface area accounted for the second greatest amount of dose variability (20.4%), followed by *CYP2C9*3* (5.3%) and *CYP2C9*2* (2.5%).

In contrast, the dose prediction model developed using children \geq 6 years of age (n=35) was similar to the original model. Weight remained the most important contributor to dose variability, accounting for 48% (**Table 3.6**). The contribution of *VKORC1*, *CYP2C9*2* and *3 genotypes to dose variability changed only slightly from the original model (11.1%, 2.1% and 7.3%, respectively; **Table 3.6**). Indication was removed from the model and target INR became significantly associated with dose.

3.2.2 Association of genetic factors using alternative units of dose measurement

Multivariate regression analyses using alternative units of therapeutic dose were also performed. The overall contribution of *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes to body weight-adjusted (mg/kg) dose variability when adjusting for weight and indication was similar to using unadjusted doses (mg). *VKORC1* accounted for 12.3% of dose variability, while *CYP2C9* (*2 and *3) accounted for 8%. A similar trend was observed when using body-size adjusted doses (mg/m²). However, the contribution of both *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes to dose variability increased slightly compared to using unadjusted doses (13.6% and 13.7%, respectively).

3.2.3 Evaluation of existing pharmacogenetic dosing models

A previously published pediatric-specific pharmacogenetic dosing model²⁰¹ for predicting daily therapeutic warfarin dose was strongly correlated with actual therapeutic warfarin dose

in our cohort of children ($R^2=0.68$, p<0.001), confirming the validity of the pediatric dosing model (**Figure 3.4**). When comparing the correlation between predicted dose and therapeutic dose using the pediatric-derived dosing model to an adult-derived dosing model developed by the International Warfarin Pharmacogenetics Consortium (IWPC)¹³² ($R^2=0.57$, p<0.001; **Figure 3.4**), the pediatric model was significantly more accurate (p=0.023). The IWPC model overestimated the required daily dose by an average of 1.8+/-1.3 mg, while the pediatric model slightly underestimated the required daily dose (-0.22+/-1.1 mg) (**Figure 3.5**).

3.3 Time to INR events

The influence of genetic and clinical factors on (1) time to first INR in or above the therapeutic range, and (2) time to over-anticoagulation (INR >4) was analyzed. Eighty-nine patients were included in both analyses. The median time to therapeutic INR was 5 days and the median time to INR >4 was 5.5 days.

3.3.1 Influence of genetic factors on time to therapeutic INR

The median time required to achieve an INR in or above the therapeutic range was longest for *VKORC1* GG patients (8 days) (**Table 3.7**). *VKORC1* AG heterozygous and AA homozygous patients had a shorter median time to therapeutic INR, requiring 4 and 3 days to reach this outcome, respectively. *VKORC1* had a significant influence on time to first INR in or above the therapeutic range (*p*=0.047; **Figure 3.6A**). Concordant with these findings, the rate of achieving a therapeutic INR was significantly higher in *VKORC1* homozygous variant patients compared to GG patients (HR, 2.22; **Table 3.8**). There was a trend towards decreased time to therapeutic INR in *VKORC1* heterozygous patients compared to GG patients but the difference was not significant (HR, 1.32; *p*=0.252) (**Table 3.8**).

Among *CYP2C9* genotype groups, carriers of *1/*1 genotype required the longest median time to achieve a therapeutic or supratherapeutic INR (5 days) (**Table 3.7**). In contrast, heterozygous patients (*1/*2 or *1/*3) required a median of 2 days to achieve a therapeutic INR, while *2/*2 patients required a median of 2.5 days (n=2) (**Table 3.7**). When comparing time to first INR in or above the therapeutic range among *CYP2C9* genotype groups there was no significant association (p=0.152; **Figure 3.6C**). Accordingly, there was no significant difference in the rate of achieving a therapeutic INR in *CYP2C9* heterozygous (HR, 1.33; p=0.255) or homozygous variant allele carriers (HR, 3.53; p=0.090) compared to *1/*1 patients (**Table 3.8**). *CYP4F2* genotype also did not significantly influence time to first INR in or above the therapeutic range (log rank, p=0.701).

Regarding clinical covariates, high target INR range (INR >2.5) (p=0.006), indication for a mechanical heart valve (p=0.007), indication for 'other' (p=0.023), and use of a warfarinattenuating drug (p=0.095) showed an association with time to therapeutic INR. When these variables were entered into a stepwise cox regression model, only high target INR range remained significant (p<0.05). Therefore, high target INR was used as a covariate to determine adjusted hazard ratios for genotype groups. In adjusted analyses, patients carrying the *VKORC1* AA genotype achieved an INR in or above the therapeutic range at a significantly higher rate compared to GG patients (adjusted HR, 2.21; p=0.020) (**Table 3.8**). No additional *VKORC1* or *CYP2C9* variant genotype groups showed a significant difference

in the rate of achieving a therapeutic INR compared to wildtype patients when adjusting for target INR (**Table 3.8**). However, there was a consistent trend towards decreased time to therapeutic INR in variant allele carriers (**Table 3.8**). There was no significant difference in time to therapeutic INR in *CYP4F2* variant allele carriers compared to CC patients when adjusting for target INR (adjusted HR, 1.14; p=0.551).

3.3.2 Influence of genetic factors on time to over-anticoagulation

In total, thirty-eight patients achieved an INR >4 in the first 60 days of therapy. Unlike the previous analysis, the median time to INR >4 was shortest in *VKORC1* GG patients, who achieved this outcome in a median of 2.5 days (**Table 3.7**). In comparison, *VKORC1* heterozygotes reached an INR >4 in a median of 7.5 days, while homozygous variant allele carriers reached this outcome in a median of 4.5 days (**Table 3.7**). Reported medians are only for patients who reached this outcome in the first 60 days of therapy and therefore are likely to be shorter than the true medians.

VKORC1 genotype had a significant influence on time to first INR >4 (p=0.024; Figure **3.6B**). Accordingly, homozygous variant allele carriers reached an INR >4 at a significantly faster rate than GG patients (HR, 2.92; p=0.018) (**Table 3.8**). There was no significant difference in the rate of achieving an INR >4 between *VKORC1* AG and GG patients (HR, 1.99; p=0.081). However, when all *VKORC1* variant allele carriers were grouped together (A/_) these patients reached an INR >4 significantly faster than GG carriers (HR, 2.29; p=0.025) (**Table 3.8**).
The median time to over-anticoagulation (INR >4) was shortest in *CYP2C9* heterozygous patients (3 days), with *1/*1 and *2/*2 patients achieving this outcome in a median of 10 and 15.5 days, respectively (**Table 3.7**). As with the previous outcome, *CYP2C9* did not significantly influence time to INR >4 (p=0.071; **Figure 3.6D**). There was also no significant difference in the rate of achieving an INR >4 in heterozygous patients (HR, 1.78; p=0.099) or homozygous variant patients (HR, 3.88; p=0.068) compared to *1/*1 carriers (**Table 3.8**). When analyzing all *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers, the difference in the rate of achieving an INR >4 compared *1/*1 carriers approached significance (HR, 1.92; p=0.050). Similar to previous analyses, *CYP4F2* did not significantly influence time to INR >4 (log rank, p=0.688).

Low target INR (INR <2.5) (p=0.076), high target INR (INR >2.5) (p=0.003), indication for a mechanical heart valve (p=0.006), and indication for 'other' (p=0.026) were also associated with time to INR >4. When these variables were entered into a stepwise cox regression model, high target INR was again the only clinical covariate that remained significant (p<0.05). Adjusting for this covariate revealed that the rate of achieving an INR >4 was 2.7 times higher in *VKORC1* AA carriers compared to wildtype patients (adjusted HR, 2.70; p=0.029) (**Table 3.8**). There was no significant difference in the rate of achieving an INR >4 between *VKORC1* heterozygous variant allele carriers and homozygous GG patients (adjusted HR, 1.70; p=0.185). Furthermore, when all *VKORC1* variant allele patients were analyzed together there was no significant difference compared to GG patients (adjusted HR, 2.06; p=0.054). In contrast, the rate of achieving an INR >4 was higher by more than a factor of 2.5 in *CYP2C9* heterozygous patients compared to *1/*1 patients (adjusted HR, 2.57; p=0.014) (**Table 3.8**). The rate of achieving an INR >4 was also significantly higher when analyzing all *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers together (HR, 2,40; p=0.011). There was a non-significant trend towards decreased time to INR >4 in *CYP2C9*2/*2* carriers (HR, 2.40; p=0.255). When analyzing *CYP4F2* genotypes, the rate of achieving an INR >4 was not significantly different between variant allele carriers and wildtype carriers (adjusted HR, 1.11; p=0.752).

3.4 Warfarin-induced adverse drug reactions

Bleeding and thrombosis events were captured using patient health records. Bleeding was common among patients receiving warfarin while thrombosis occurred much less frequently, affecting only three patients in the study cohort. Therefore, subsequent analyses on warfarininduced ADRs were limited to bleeding events.

3.4.1 Bleeding

Overall, 39.8% of patients (n=37) experienced a bleeding event while receiving warfarin therapy. The most common sign of bleeding was epistaxis, occurring in a minimum of 20.4% patients (n=19). Other signs of bleeding included heavy menses, hematemesis, hemarthrosis, and bloody stools. The median time to first bleeding event was 259 days (range, 1-3697 days) and the median age at time of reaction was 9.9 years. Bleeding events were more likely to occur in patients with mechanical heart valves (p=0.046) and in patients for whom a longer amount of time on warfarin therapy was captured (p=0.027). When analyzing risk of bleeding in patients carrying *VKORC1* or *CYP2C9* variant alleles, no significant observations were observed (**Table 3.9**). Carriers of the *1/*3 genotype had the

highest odds of bleeding (OR, 2.22; p=0.220), though this finding was not significant (**Table 3.9**). For all additional *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* variant genotype groups the odds ratios centered around 1, indicating no evidence of increased risk of bleeding compared to wildtype patients (**Table 3.9**). Interestingly, carriers of the *CYP4F2* variant allele, which confers decreased sensitivity to warfarin, were at greater risk of bleeding compared to CC patients (OR, 1.63; p=0.291) (Table 3.9). This was mainly attributed to the higher risk of bleeding in heterozygous patients (OR, 1.74; p=0.275). However, the difference in risk of bleeding between wildtype patients and *CYP4F2* variant allele carriers was not significant (**Table 3.9**).

In addition to length of time captured on warfarin therapy and indication for a mechanical heart valve, indication for a DVT/PE was also marginally associated with risk of bleeding (p=0.148). When these variables were entered into a stepwise regression model, only length of time captured on therapy remained significant (p<0.05). Adjusting for this covariate increased the odds ratio for risk of bleeding in CYP2C9*1/*3 carriers (OR, 2.81; p=0.125) (**Table 3.9**). Once again, however, there was no evidence of significantly increased risk of bleeding in *VKORC1*, *CYP2C9*, or *CYP4F2* variant allele carriers (**Table 3.9**).

3.4.2 Major bleeding

Seven patients (7.5%) experienced a major bleeding event according to the criteria of the International Society of Thrombosis and Haemostasis²⁰². Bleeding events included: subdural hematoma, hemorrhagic stroke, hemorrhage into tonsillar abscess, intracerebral hemorrhage, gross hematuria, hematemesis, and menorrhagia. More than half of these events (n=4) occurred within the first six weeks after initiation of therapy (range, 1 day to 8.7 years) and

the majority of bleeding events occurred in patients with mechanical heart valves (n=4; p=0.052). Length of time captured on therapy was also marginally associated with risk of major bleeding (p=0.069).

Strikingly, six of the patients with major bleeding carried at least one *VKORC1* variant A allele, conferring an odds ratio of 4.75 in variant allele carriers compared to homozygous GG patients, even though the association was not statistically significant (p=0.157; **Table 3.10**). Four patients were homozygous for the *CYP2C9*1* allele while three patients were variant allele carriers. Interestingly, all three patients were heterozygous for *1/*3, conferring an odds ratio of 4.93 (p=0.072; **Table 3.10**).

As with the previous analysis, length of time captured on therapy was the only clinical variable that was significantly associated with incidence of major bleeding in a stepwise regression model. When adjusting for this confounder there was a non-significant trend towards increased risk of major bleeding in both *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* variant allele carriers, conferring odds ratios greater than 3 for both variant genotypes (**Table 3.10**). When analyzing the high sensitivity *CYP2C9*1/*3* genotype, there was a significantly increased risk of major bleeding (OR, 10.21; p=0.029) (**Table 3.10**). No additional variant genotype groups were at a significantly greater risk of major bleeding compared to wildtype carriers. Furthermore, there was no association between risk of major bleeding and *CYP4F2* variant genotype (adjusted OR, 1.01; p=0.991) (**Table 3.10**).

3.4.3 Risk of over-anticoagulation

As a supplementary analysis the risk of over-anticoagulation (INR >4) in the first 60 days of therapy was also investigated. Thirty-nine of 83 patients (47%) who were included in the analysis had at least one INR measurement greater than 4 in the initiation of therapy, with the majority of events occurring in the first 7 days of therapy (54%). Compared to wildtype patients, *VKORC1* variant allele carriers were at significantly greater risk of over-anticoagulation (OR, 3.30; p=0.014) (**Table 3.11**). The risk was highest in homozygous *VKORC1* variant allele carriers, conferring an odds ratio of 5.47 (p=0.012). There was a trend towards increased risk of over-anticoagulation in *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers but the results were not significant (**Table 3.11**).

When adjusting for high target INR (INR >2.5), which was the only clinical variable that was significant in a stepwise regression model, the risk of over-anticoagulation in *VKORC1* homozygous variant allele carriers increased further (OR, 6.95; p=0.008) (**Table 3.11**). When all *VKORC1* variant allele carriers were analyzed, the risk of over-anticoagulation remained significant (OR, 3.63; p=0.010). There was also a non-significant trend towards increased risk of over-anticoagulation in *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers compared to *1/*1 patients (**Table 3.11**). The odds ratio was highest when all *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers were grouped together (OR, 2.69; p=0.057). *CYP4F2* variant genotype was not significantly associated with risk of INR >4 in univariate or adjusted analyses (**Table 3.11**).

3.5 Exploratory analysis of additional genetic variation in candidate genes Overall, thirteen SNPs of the full genotyping panel had an unadjusted *p*-value <0.10 in univariate analysis, with R² values ranging from 3.7-17.3% (**Table 3.12**). *VKORC1*-1639G>A (rs9923231) showed the strongest association with warfarin dose (p=1.7x10⁻⁴), followed by *CYP2C9**3 (rs1057910; p=0.014), thus confirming the importance of these SNPs for warfarin dosing in children (**Table 3.12**). A *VKORC1* SNP (rs9934438) that is in complete linkage disequilibrium with *VKORC1*-1639G>A was also significantly associated with dose (p=1.7x10⁻⁴). The remaining top ten SNPs were non-coding variants in *CYP2C9*, *PROC, POR, GGCX, CALU*, and *APOE* (**Table 3.12**). Of these, five SNPs had previously been associated with warfarin dose in adults. Specifically, rs7294 in *VKORC1*, rs7089580 in *CYP2C9*, rs72553971 in *POR*, rs11676382 in *GGCX*, and rs2069901 in *PROC*^{106,115,160,169,176}. The remaining five SNPs were tagging SNPs. Neither the *CYP2C9*2* variant (rs1799853) nor the *CYP4F2* rs2108622 variant were associated with dose in univariate analyses (p=0.86, p=0.78, respectively).

When all SNPs with *p*-values <0.10 were entered into a stepwise regression model including weight and indication for warfarin, one additional SNP in *CYP2C9* (rs7089580, A>T) remained significantly associated with dose (*p*=0.020). This SNP explained 2.5% of the variability in warfarin dose, in a model that also included weight (52%), *VKORC1* - 1639G>A (12.5%), *CYP2C9*3* (7.8%), indication (2.6%), and *CYP2C9*2* (0.4%) (**Table 3.13**). Compared to the original model, there were slight differences in \mathbb{R}^2 values for all variables due to undetermined rs7089580 genotype in two patients. Once again *CYP2C9*2* was not significantly associated with dose (*p*=0.274) and explained less variability in

warfarin dose when rs7089580 was added to the model ($R^2=0.4\%$) compared to a model that did not include this SNP ($R^2=1.1\%$). The contribution of *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9*3* to dose variability did not change with the addition of rs7089580. The overall amount of dose variability explained by clinical and genetic factors increased from 75.9% to 77.8% (**Table 3.13**). Upon further analysis of rs7089580 there was no significant difference in dose requirements across genotypes (ANOVA, *p*=0.112). Nevertheless a gene-dose trend was observed, with homozygous variant allele carriers requiring higher mean daily warfarin doses (5.0+/-1.8 mg) compared to AT heterozygous (3.6+/-2.4 mg) and AA homozygous (3.1+/-1.6 mg) patients (**Figure 3.7**).

When analyzing all SNPs with a *p*-value <0.10 and adjusting for weight, indication, *VKORC1* (-1639G>A) and *CYP2C9*3*, an intronic SNP in *GGCX* (rs11676382) was also significantly associated with dose (*p*=0.042). However, when rs7089580 was added to the model this *GGCX* SNP was no longer significant (*p*=0.089).

Variable	All patients
Median age at initiation of therapy, yrs (range)	4.8 (0.2-17.8)
Sex, no. (%)	
Male	52 (55.9)
Female	41 (44.1)
Ancestry, no. (%)	
European	61 (65.6)
Asian	16 (17.2)
Mixed European	12 (12.9)
Other ^a	4 (4.3)
Target INR, no. (%)	
Less than 2.5	36 (38.7)
2.0-3.0	37 (39.8)
Greater than 2.5	20 (21.5)
Indication, no. (%)	
Fontan procedure	35 (37.6)
Mechanical heart valve	22 (23.7)
Deep vein thrombosis/pulmonary embolism	15 (16.1)
Dilated cardiomyopathy	3 (3.2)
Stroke	3 (3.2)
Coronary aneurysm	2 (2.2)
Other ^b	13 (14.0)
VKORC1	
GG	39 (41.9)
AG	37 (39.8)
AA	17 (18.3)
СҮР2С9	
*1/*1	65 (69.9)
*1/*2	14 (15.0)
*1/*3	12 (12.9)
*2/*2	2 (2.2)
*2/*3, *3/*3	0 (0.0)
CYP4F2	
CC	42 (45.2)
СТ	45 (48.4)
TT	6 (6.4)
Total no. of children	93

Table 3.1. Clinical and genetic characteristics of study cohort

^aFirst Nations, n=2; African, n=1; Fijan, n=1.

^bOne patient each with pulmonary hypertension, arrhythmia, clot in right atrium, clot in left ventricle, clot in coronary vein, clot in anterior descending coronary artery, anomalous left coronary artery from the pulmonary artery, atrioventricular septal defect, middle cerebral artery aneurysm, partial anomalous pulmonary venous return, superior vena cava stent, necrosis to extremities, and chemotherapy prophylaxis.

Variable	No. (%) or mean <u>+</u> SD	<i>p-</i> value ^a
Age (y)	7.6 <u>+</u> 5.5	<0.001
Height (cm)	116.8 <u>+</u> 32.5	<0.001
Weight (kg)	28.8 <u>+</u> 22.1	<0.001
Body surface area (m2)	0.94 <u>+</u> 0.5	<0.001
Body mass index (kg/m2)	18.1 <u>+</u> 4.5	<0.001
Gender		0.233
Male	42 (54.5)	
Female	35 (45.5)	
Ancestry		0.689
European	50 (64.9)	
Asian	14 (18.2)	
Mixed European	10 (13.0)	
Other	3 (3.9)	
Target INR		0.464
Less than 2.5	31 (40.3)	
2.0-3.0	26 (33.8)	
Greater than 2.5	20 (26.0)	
Indication		<0.001
Fontan procedure	34 (44.2)	
Mechanical heart valve	21 (27.3)	
DVT/PE	9 (11.7)	
Other	13 (16.9)	
Use of potentiating drug(s)		0.805
Yes	7 (9.1)	
No	70 (90.9)	
Use of attenuating drug(s)		0.768
Yes	8 (10.4)	
No	69 (89.6)	

Table 3.2. Association between therapeutic warfarin dose and patient characteristics

^a*p*-values determined using square root of mean daily dose.

Genotype	No. (%) of children	Mean daily dose (SD), mg	<i>p-</i> value ^a
VKORC1			0.0005
GG	31 (40.3)	4.1 (2.23)	
AG	32 (41.5)	3.3 (1.55)	
AA	14 (18.2)	2.0 (1.44)	
CYP2C9			
*1/*1	54 (70.1)	3.7 (2.07)	
*1/*2	12 (15.6)	3.2 (1.57)	0.507 ^b
*1/*3	10 (13.0)	2.2 (1.49)	0.013 ^b
*2/*2	1 (1.3)	3.25	
CYP4F2			0.656
CC	36 (46.8)	3.6 (2.12)	
СТ	36 (46.8)	3.2 (1.90)	
TT	5 (6.4)	3.7 (1.32)	

Table 3.3. Genotype frequencies and association between genotypes and therapeutic warfarin dose

^a*p*-values determined using square root of mean daily dose. ^bDose requirements compared to *CYP2C9*1/*1* patients.

Table 3.4. Contribution of *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes and clinical factors to multivariate regression model for predicting therapeutic warfarin dose in children

x variable	<i>p</i> -value	Contribution to model, %
Weight	< 0.001	52.8
VKORC1 (-1639G>A)	< 0.001	12.2
<i>CYP2C9*3</i>	< 0.001	7.9
Indication	0.015	2.4
<i>CYP2C9*2</i>	0.078	1.0
TOTAL	< 0.001	76.3

Regression equation: Square root of daily dose (mg) = 1.711 + 0.014 (weight, kg) -0.257 (number of *VKORC1* variant alleles) – 0.127 (number of *CYP2C9*2* alleles) – 0.463 (number of *CYP2C9*3* alleles) – 0.161 (Indication). Indication: input 1 for Fontan procedure, 0 for other indication.

Table 3.5. Regression equation for modeling warfarin dose requirements in children<6 years old</td>

x variable	<i>p</i> -value	Contribution to model, %
VKORC1	< 0.001	44.4
<i>CYP2C9*3</i>	< 0.001	9.0
<i>CYP2C9*2</i>	0.142	1.8
TOTAL	< 0.001	55.2

Table 3.6. Regression equation for modeling warfarin dose requirements in children ≥ 6 years old

x variable	<i>p</i> -value	Contribution to model, %
Weight	< 0.001	48.0
VKORCI	< 0.001	11.1
<i>CYP2C9*3</i>	< 0.001	7.3
Target INR <2.5	0.032	4.7
<i>CYP2C9*2</i>	0.142	2.1
TOTAL	< 0.001	73.2

Median time (days) to first						
	INR in or above therapeutic	Median time (days) to first				
Variant	range	INR >4				
VKORC1						
GG	8	2.5				
AG	4	7.5				
AA	3	4.5				
СҮР2С9						
*1/*1	5	10				
*1/*x ^b	2	3				
*2/*2	2.5	15.5				

Table 3.7. Median number of days to achieve first INR in or above the therapeutic range and first INR greater than 4 according to *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes^a

^aMedians are reported for patients who reached the specified outcomes only. ^b*1/*x, *CYP2C9**2 or *CYP2C9**3 heterozygotes.

		Unadjusted HR		Adjusted HR	
Outcome	n	(95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	(95% CI) ^b	<i>p-</i> value
Time to first INR in or					
above therapeutic range:					
VKORC1					
AG	36	1.32 (0.82-2.11)	0.252	1.27 (0.79-2.04)	0.326
AA	16	2.22 (1.14-4.31)	0.019	2.21 (1.13-4.31)	0.020
A/	42	1.47 (0.95-2.28)	0.085	1.44 (0.92-2.23)	0.108
<i>CYP2C9</i>					
*1/*x	26	1.33 (0.81-2.17)	0.255	1.43 (0.87-2.35)	0.155
*2/*2	2	3.53 (0.82-15.15)	0.090	3.26 (0.75-14.15)	0.114
Any variant	28	1.39 (0.86-2.24)	0.175	1.49 (0.92-2.41)	0.105
Time to first INR >4:					
VKORC1					
AG	36	1.99 (0.92-4.32)	0.081	1.70 (0.78-3.74)	0.185
AA	16	2.92 (1.21-7.07)	0.018	2.70 (1.11-6.59)	0.029
A/	42	2.29 (1.11-4.72)	0.025	2.06 (0.99-4.28)	0.054
<i>CYP</i> 2 <i>C</i> 9					
*1/*x	26	1.78 (0.90-3.52)	0.099	2.57 (1.22-5.42)	0.014
*2/*2	2	3.88 (0.90-16.65)	0.068	2.40 (0.53-10.81)	0.255
Any variant	28	1.92 (1.00-3.70)	0.050	2.40 (1.22-4.73)	0.011

Table 3.8. Hazard ratios (HR) for time to achieve first INR in or above the therapeutic range and first INR greater than 4 according to VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotype^a

^aHazard ratios are for VKORC1 variant allele carriers as compared with VKORC1 GG genotype, CYP2C9 variant allele carriers as compared with *1/*1 genotype (A/_, AG or AA carriers; *1/*x, CYP2C9*2 or CYP2C9*3 heterozygotes). ^bAdjusted for target INR range (target INR >2.5).

Genotype	Cases (n=37)	Controls (n=56)	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted OR (95% CI) ^b	<i>p</i> -value
VKORC1						
AG	17	20	1.36 (0.50-3.74)	0.643	1.06 (0.40-2.80)	0.906
AA	5	12	0.67 (0.15-2.59)	0.671	0.68 (0.20-2.35)	0.539
A/_	22	32	1.10 (0.44-2.80)	1	0.92 (0.38-2.22)	0.847
CYP2C9						
*1/*2	4	10	0.64 (0.13-2.54)	0.556	0.76 (0.21-2.81)	0.679
*1/*3	7	5	2.22 (0.54-9.90)	0.220	2.81 (0.75-10.52)	0.125
*2/*2	1	1	1.59 (0.02-128.55)	1	1.90 (0.10-35.57)	0.666
Any variant	12	16	1.20 (0.44-3.23)	0.818	1.41 (0.55-3.60)	0.478
CYP4F2						
СТ	21	24	1.74 (0.67-4.58)	0.275	1.68 (0.68-4.17)	0.261
TT	2	4	1.00 (0.08-8.00)	1	0.82 (0.12-5.63)	0.837
T/_	23	28	1.63 (0.65-4.20)	0.291	1.56 (0.65-3.76)	0.323

Table 3.9. Odds ratios (OR) for risk of bleeding according to genotype^a

^aOdds ratios are for VKORC1 variant allele carriers as compared with VKORC1 GG genotype, CYP2C9 variant allele carriers as compared with *1/*1 genotype, and CYP4F2 variant allele carriers as compared with CYP4F2 CC genotype (A/_, AG or AA carriers; T/_, CT or TT carriers). ^bAdjusted for length of time on therapy captured.

	Cases	Controls	Unadjusted OR		Adjusted OR	
Genotype	(n=7)	(n=86)	(95% CI)	<i>p-</i> value	(95% CI) ^b	<i>p-</i> value
VKORC1						
AG	5	32	5.82 (0.61-287.62)	0.103	3.56 (0.35-35.87)	0.283
AA	1	16	2.33 (0.03-190.90)	0.519	2.37 (0.14-40.33)	0.552
A/	6	48	4.75 (0.54-41.16)	0.157	3.43 (0.37-31.77)	0.278
CYP2C9						
*1/*2	0	14	0	1	0	1
*1/*3	3	9	4.93 (0.62-34.81)	0.072	10.21 (1.27-82.01)	0.029
*2/*2	0	2	0	1	0	1
Any variant	3	25	1.83 (0.38-8.78)	0.450	3.12 (0.52-19.21)	0.210
CYP4F2						
СТ	4	41	1.26 (0.20-9.20)	1	1.20 (0.23-6.30)	0.834
TT	0	6	0	1	0	1
T/_	4	47	1.10 (0.23-5.24)	1	1.01 (0.19-5.26)	0.991

Table 3.10. Odds ratios (OR) for risk of major bleeding according to genotype^a

^aOdds ratios are for *VKORC1* variant allele carriers as compared with *VKORC1* GG genotype, *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers as compared with *1/*1 genotype, and CYP4F2 variant allele carriers as compared with CYP4F2 CC genotype (A/_, AG or AA carriers; T/_, CT or TT carriers). ^bAdjusted for length of time on therapy captured.

Genotyne	Cases (n=39)	Controls	Unadjusted OR	n_valuo	Adjusted OR	n_value
VKORC1	(1-37)	(11-44)	()3/0 (1)	<i>p</i> -value	()3/0 (1)	<i>p</i> -value
AG	18	15	2.69 (0.92-8.24)	0.053	2.71 (0.94-7.82)	0.065
AA	10	4	5.47 (1.24-29.40)	0.012	6.95 (1.67-28.98)	0.008
A/	28	19	3.30 (1.22-9.35)	0.014	3.63 (1.36-9.74)	0.010
CYP2C9						
*1/*2	6	6	1.41 (0.33-5.99)	0.750	2.14 (0.59-7.84)	0.250
*1/*3	7	4	2.45 (0.55-12.72)	0.202	2.65 (0.64-10.92)	0.177
*2/*2	2	0	1.08 (0.97-1.21)	0.184	Inf.	0
Any variant	15	10	2.43 (0.82-5.53)	0.152	2.69 (0.97-7.47)	0.057
CYP4F2						
СТ	19	23	0.97 (0.37-2.59)	1	0.78 (0.31-2.01)	0.612
TT	3	1	3.43 (0.25-194.14)	0.343	2.62 (0.23-30.26)	0.441
T/_	22	24	1.08 (0.42-2.81)	1	0.84 (0.33-2.12)	0.704

Table 3.11. Odds ratios (OR) for risk of over-anticoagulation (INR >4) during the initiation of therapy according to genotype^a

^aOdds ratios are for *VKORC1* variant allele carriers as compared with *VKORC1* GG genotype, *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers as compared with *1/*1 genotype, and *CYP4F2* variant allele carriers as compared with *CYP4F2* CC genotype (A/_, AG or AA carriers; T/_, CT or TT carriers).

^bAdjusted for target INR range (target INR >2.5).

		Unadjusted	_
Gene	SNP	<i>p</i> -value	\mathbf{R}^2
VKORC1	rs9923231	0.00017	0.173
VKORC1	rs9934438	0.00017	0.173
CYP2C9	rs1057910 (*3)	0.014	0.078
PROC	rs6710535	0.016	0.075
VKORC1	rs7294	0.022	0.068
CALU	rs7776641	0.040	0.055
PROC	rs878461	0.054	0.048
<i>CYP2C9</i>	rs7089580	0.056	0.048
POR	rs7255397 1	0.062	0.046
GGCX	rs1167638 2	0.066	0.044
APOE	rs405697	0.075	0.042
CALU	rs2060717	0.094	0.039
PROC	rs2069901	0.094	0.037

 Table 3.12. SNPs from full genotyping panel with *p*-value <0.10 in univariate dose analysis</th>

Table 3.13. Contribution of *CYP2C9* rs7089580 genotype to therapeutic warfarin dose in children

x variable	<i>p-</i> value	Contribution to model, %
Weight	< 0.001	52.0
<i>VKORC1</i> (-1639G>A)	< 0.001	12.5
<i>CYP2C9*3</i>	< 0.001	7.8
Fontan	0.010	2.6
<i>CYP2C9</i> rs7089580	0.020	2.5
<i>CYP2C9*2</i>	0.274	0.4
TOTAL	< 0.001	77.8



Figure 3.1. Correlation between age and warfarin dose in milligrams (A) and milligrams per kilogram of body weight (B)



Figure 3.2. Warfarin dose requirement by *VKORC1* (A) and *CYP2C9* (B) genotype. Boxes display median and interquartile ranges (IQR). Whiskers indicate data points within 1.5 times the IQR. Outliers and extreme outliers are represented by circles and asterisks.



Figure 3.3. Difference between observed daily dose and predicted dose using our genotype-based dosing model



Figure 3.4. Relationship between actual daily warfarin dose (mg) and predicted dose (mg) using a pediatric derived pharmacogenetic dosing model developed by Biss et al. (A) and an adult-derived dosing model developed by the IWPC (B)



Figure 3.5. Comparison of difference between observed daily dose and predicted dose using pharmacogenetic dose prediction models developed by Biss et al. and the IWPC



Figure 3.6. Kaplain-Meier curves showing time to study outcomes for *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes. *VKORC1* significantly influenced time to first INR in or above the therapeutic range (panel A, p=0.047) and time to first INR >4 (panel B, p=0.024). CYP2C9 was not significantly associated with time to first INR in or above the therapeutic range (panel C, p=0.152) or time to first INR >4 (panel *D*, p=0.071) (1/*x, *CYP2C9*2* or *CYP2C9*3* heterozygotes; and *x/*x, *CYP2C9*2* homozygotes).



Figure 3.7. Warfarin dose requirement by rs7089580 genotype. Boxes display median and interquartile ranges (IQR). Whiskers indicate data points within 1.5 times the IQR. Outliers are represented by circles.

Chapter 4: Discussion and future directions

Warfarin remains the drug of choice for children requiring anticoagulation therapy. However, its large inter-patient dose variability and high risk of ADRs limits its use in clinical practice. With one of the largest pediatric cohorts studied to date, we have shown that a large proportion of dose variability can be explained by both clinical and genetic factors. Furthermore, we have provided evidence that the same genetic variants known to influence risk of warfarin-induced ADRs and early-phase warfarin response in adults are also relevant in children. Finally, this is the first study to assess the contribution of a larger panel of genetic variants to warfarin dose requirements in children.

4.1 Predictors of warfarin dose in children

Pharmacogenetic-guided dosing in adults receiving warfarin therapy has been shown to aid in achieving safe and effective anticoagulation. This study provides further evidence that genetic factors significantly contribute to warfarin dose variability in children. When combining genetic and clinical factors, 76.3% of inter-patient dose variability was explained by *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes, weight, and indication for warfarin.

4.1.1 Clinical variables

The large contribution of body weight to the dose model (52.8%) is in keeping with previous pediatric studies, which found that age-dependent variables contributed to the largest proportion of dose variability^{88,100,192,201}. Biss et al. and Moreau et al. found that height was the primary determinant of dose variability in a multivariate model, with both age and weight

also being highly correlated with dose in univariate analyses^{100,201}. The inclusion of weight in our model rather than height may be related to the younger median age of our patient cohort (4.7 years). Young children require a higher dose (mg) per kilogram of body weight compared to older children^{72,201} and may explain the more marked contribution of weight to dose variability in a young population.

The only age-independent clinical variable that was a significant predictor of warfarin dose was indication for warfarin, specifically those with a Fontan procedure (2.4%). This is in agreement with Biss et al. who also reported that children who were anticoagulated following a Fontan procedure required significantly lower doses than children receiving warfarin for other indications²⁰¹. The lower target INR range (2.0-2.5) and smaller body mass of most children receiving warfarin for a Fontan procedure may contribute to the decreased dose requirement in these patients. However, target INR was not significantly associated with dose and indication remained significant in the model after adjusting for weight, suggesting that underlying physiological differences, such as altered liver function and impaired warfarin metabolism, may also contribute to differences in dose requirements in patients undergoing Fontan procedures^{72,201}.

4.1.2 Candidate SNPs

VKORC1 was the most significant genetic predictor of dose, contributing to 12.2% of dose variability. This value is slightly less than what has been reported in most adult studies (15-35%) as well as some previous pediatric studies $(18-47\%)^{100,112,133,192}$. In univariate analysis, *VKORC1* explained approximately 17% of dose variability. Therefore, the large effect of

body weight on dose variability (52.8%) in our cohort likely decreased the influence of *VKORC1* genotype. Our study further confirms a gene-dose relationship, with homozygous carriers of the *VKORC1* variant allele (AA) requiring lower doses than heterozygous and homozygous GG patients.

Adult studies have shown that CYP2C9 accounts for approximately 5-22% of total interpatient dose variability^{102,196}. Our findings in children are very similar, with CYP2C9 accounting for 8.9% of dose variability. This was primarily due to the *3 allele, which explained 7.9% of the total variability and is in agreement with an increased warfarin sensitivity reported for the *3 variant in adult studies⁹⁹. Due to the difference in sensitivity between the CYP2C9*2 and *3 variant genotypes, both genotypes were entered as separate variables into the model in order to avoid diluting the stronger effect of the *3 allele on dose. Four previous pediatric studies did not find a significant difference in dose requirements across CYP2C9 genotypes^{88,100,192,193}. In the majority of these studies, children carrying the *1/*2 or *1/*3 heterozygous genotype were grouped together for analysis. In contrast, our findings are in line with those of Biss et al., who also reported a significant difference in dose requirements between CYP2C9 *1/*1 and *1/*3 carriers²⁰¹. In their model, CYP2C9 accounted for 12.8% of dose variability, while other pediatric studies reported only 2- $5\%^{100,192}$. Our study thus provides further evidence that *CYP2C9* is a significant predictor of dose in children and that the amount of variability explained by CYP2C9 is higher than previously reported in other pediatric studies.

Similar to our own findings, two other studies in children also did not find an association between *CYP4F2* genotype and dose^{100,201}. Given the relatively minor contribution of *CYP4F2* genotype to dose in adults, these negative associations are likely due to lack of statistical power given the small sample size of the current study as well as previously published studies. Based on an R^2 of approximately 2% for the *CYP4F2* genotype in adult warfarin dosing studies, and the observed allele frequencies in the current study cohort, a sample size of approximately 390 children was required to adequately detect an association between *CYP4F2* and dose.

4.1.3 Predictors of warfarin dose in subpopulations of patients

To determine whether the predictive dosing model differed between children of varying age, multiple linear regression using children <6 and \geq 6 years of age was performed. In children less than 6 years of age, the amount of variability explained by genetics increased substantially. This was mainly attributed to *VKORC1* genotype, which increased in R² value in the original model from 12.2% to 44.4%. Unlike the previous model, no clinical factors were significantly associated with dose after adjusting for genetics. In contrast, the overall contribution of genetics to dose variability in children \geq 6 years of age remained approximately the same, explaining 20.1% of dose variability overall, compared to 21.1% in the original model. The increased effect of *VKORC1* on dose variability in young children is likely attributed to the decreased heterogeneity of the patient population, as there is less variability in relevant clinical factors, such as body weight and height, in young compared to older children. By decreasing the influence of age-dependent clinical factors, the influence of genetic factors on dose variability thus becomes more apparent. The findings in children with an indication for a Fontan procedure further supports this hypothesis. When analyzing this subset of patients the influence of VKORC1 on dose variability increased even further, explaining 47.7% of the observed variability. Once again, this could be attributed to younger age and decreased patient heterogeneity, making agedependent clinical factors less important for dose variability and significantly increasing the effect of genotype on dose requirements. Furthermore, the significant influence of warfarin indication on dose variability is eliminated, allowing VKORC1 to explain an even greater percentage of dose variability. Since the majority of children receiving warfarin for a Fontan procedure were less than six years of age, we were are unable to determine whether the increased effect of genetics on dose variability is specific to this indication, or to this age group. Differences in enzyme activity and gene expression, as well as additional developmental pathways, could also contribute to the increased influence of genetics on dose variability in young compared to older children. Further study of specific patient populations and patients of varying ages using a larger cohort would further delineate the contribution of VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotypes to warfarin dosing in children.

4.1.4 Pharmacogenetic predictive dosing models

This study validated the performance of a pediatric-specific pharmacogenetic warfarindosing algorithm developed by Biss et al., which in our cohort resulted in an R^2 of 0.68^{201} . This algorithm also performed very similarly in a separate validation study using an independent pediatric cohort ($R^2=0.69$)²¹¹. Furthermore, a recent study that compared the performance of three genotype-based pediatric dosing models found that the model developed by Biss et al. predicted the ideal dose in the largest percentage of patients, thus

strengthening the evidence for the validity of this dosing model²¹². When the performance of the Biss et al. dosing model and the IWPC adult-derived model were compared, the pediatric model was significantly more accurate when predicting the required dose in children. Similar to findings from Biss et al., the IWPC model consistently over-estimated the required dose in pediatric patients²⁰¹. Taken together, these findings strongly support the prospective evaluation of a pediatric-specific dosing model in order to validate a dose-prediction method developed specifically for children.

The model derived from our cohort was very similar to the Biss et al. model, with the exception of weight being the most significant clinical predictor instead of height. Therefore, this study provides further evidence that age-dependent variables, indication for warfarin, and *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes are the most important predictors of warfarin dose in children. Further studies are required to evaluate the performance of our own dosing model in a validation cohort and to compare its performance to previously developed pediatric models.

4.2 Time to INR events in children

By investigating time to therapeutic INR and time to INR >4, this study was able to further elucidate the influence of genotype on early response to warfarin in children. One previous pediatric study reported that *CYP2C9* heterozygous patients required significantly less time to reach a therapeutic INR compared to *1/*1 patients¹⁹³. However, all children in that study had a target INR of 1.3-1.9, making the results less applicable to the general pediatric population receiving warfarin. In contrast, Nowak-Göttl et al. reported no difference in time

to therapeutic INR, defined as three consecutive therapeutic daily INRs, between VKORC1 and *CYP2C9* genotype groups in children⁸⁸. Furthermore, a recent study in children reported no association between genotype and time to first therapeutic or supra-therapeutic INR²¹³. All studies did not use survival analyses when investigating INR outcomes. These findings are in contrast to most adult studies, where carriers of VKORC1 and CYP2C9 polymorphisms have been shown to reach INR outcomes earlier^{108,122,123,214,215}. In our cohort, VKORC1 significantly influenced time to the first INR in or above the therapeutic range as well as time to first INR >4, while CYP2C9 was not significantly associated with either outcome. These findings are in line with a previous study in adults where only VKORC1 and not CYP2C9 was associated with time to therapeutic INR, suggesting that VKORC1 is more important for warfarin response in the early phase of therapy¹²³. Accordingly, when adjusting for clinical factors VKORC1 homozygous variant allele carriers had a decreased time to therapeutic INR, while there was no significant difference between CYP2C9 genotypes. However, both *VKORC1* homozygous variant and *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers were at significantly greater risk of over-anticoagulation (INR >4) during the first 60 days of therapy, achieving an INR >4 at a rate that was more than twice that of patients carrying low sensitivity variants. Therefore, our findings on the genetics of warfarin sensitivity are more in line with adult studies than with previous pediatric studies.

For both outcomes, the hazard ratios were highest in *VKORC1* AA carriers, whereas a nonsignificant trend towards decreased time to INR was observed in *VKORC1* heterozygous patients. Thus, while all *VKORC1* variant allele carriers appear to be sensitive to warfarin at the initiation of therapy the effect is greatest in patients carrying two variant alleles. These

findings are in keeping with our previously described dose analysis, where *VKORC1* AA carriers required a lower dose than both heterozygous and wildtype carriers. Therefore, the increased warfarin sensitivity that is conferred by the A variant is reflected by a lower dose requirement as well as a decreased time to INR outcomes during the initiation of therapy.

These findings have important implications for the treatment of children receiving warfarin therapy. Genotyping prior to initiation of therapy can aid in the identification of warfarin-sensitive patients earlier, allowing clinicians to make a more informed decision regarding the most appropriate starting dose. In contrast, children carrying low sensitivity variants are more likely to reach a therapeutic INR slower, potentially delaying discharge from hospital or increasing the amount of time required for bridging with other anticoagulants. Tailoring the starting dose using pharmacogenetic information for these patients may thus decrease hospitalization times during warfarin initiation. Indeed, prospective studies in adults have shown that genotype-guided dosing can decrease the number of days required to reach a therapeutic INR compared to standard dosing practices^{216,217}. Similar prospective studies using genotype-based warfarin dosing are now needed in children.

4.3 Warfarin-induced ADRs in children

4.3.1 Incidence of bleeding

This is the first study to investigate the influence of warfarin-sensitivity variants on risk of bleeding in children. The reported rate of major bleeding in children ranges from 0.5-1.7% per patient year^{72,85,86}. In children with mechanical heart valves the incidence is higher, estimated to be approximately 3.2% per year⁸⁶. In our cohort, seven patients experienced a

major bleeding episode, conferring an incidence rate of approximately 1.9% per patient year. In accordance with the literature a higher rate of major bleeding in patients with mechanical heart valves was also observed (3.1% per patient year). The incidence of bleeding that is of minor clinical consequence is estimated to be substantially higher, occurring in approximately 20% of patients^{72,87}. In our cohort, approximately 40% of patients experienced at least one bleeding event. The two-fold difference between incidence of bleeding in our study and the literature may be due to differences in follow-up length, as the previous studies in children were prospective and captured a shorter duration of therapy. Moreover, including patients in our study who were followed by a dedicated nurse clinician may have increased the number of bleeding events that were captured and recorded in patient health records.

4.3.2 Factors associated with risk of warfarin-induced bleeding

When analyzing risk of bleeding the clinical factors that were most strongly associated were indication for a mechanical heart valve and length of time on therapy that was captured. The higher target INR range (2.5-3.5) in patients with mechanical heart valves most likely contributed to this finding, as intensity of warfarin treatment is highly associated with risk of bleeding⁵⁸. The influence of target INR on risk of bleeding was unable to be assessed as some patients had changes to their target INR range over the course of therapy. Patients with a longer length of time on therapy that was captured were also more likely to experience a bleeding event.
Both VKORC1 and CYP2C9 did not significantly influence the risk of all bleeding events. Rather, the odds ratios for all variant genotype groups did not deviate far from 1, indicating no evidence of increased risk. The highest odds ratio was observed in CYP2C9*1/*3carriers. This finding is similar to a previous study in adults where only the CYP2C9*3 allele was significantly associated with increased risk of minor hemorrhage²¹⁸. However, *2 allele was not investigated in that study. One possible explanation for the lack of significant findings in our study may be small sample size. Due to the high frequency of minor bleeding events, low odds ratios for variant genotypes would be expected. Therefore, a large sample size would be needed in order to detect a small effect. Another explanation could be the influence of confounding factors. Frequent illnesses and changes in diet, which were not controlled for in analysis, are known to influence INRs and may have contributed to risk of bleeding. Some bleeding events may have also occurred irrespective of receiving warfarin, thus diluting the influence of genotypes on risk of warfarin-induced bleeding. Finally, the close monitoring of the majority of patients by a dedicated thrombosis nurse may have prevented some variant allele carriers from experiencing a bleeding event, further diluting an association between genotypes and ADRs.

In contrast to the above findings, when adjusting for clinical variables carriers of the CYP2C9*1/*3 genotype were at significantly greater risk of major bleeding compared to *1/*1 patients. This is in keeping with our finding that the *3 allele is significantly associated with a decreased dose requirement, suggesting an increased warfarin sensitivity in patients who carry this allele. Furthermore, this finding is in accordance with the previous bleeding analysis where *1/*3 carriers had the highest odds ratio among all variant genotype

groups. A similar trend towards increased risk of bleeding was also observed in *VKORC1* variant allele carriers, which may not have reached statistical significance due to small sample size. It has previously been reported that variant allele carriers are at greater risk of major bleeding during the initiation of therapy compared to the entire duration of therapy¹²⁵. The majority of major bleeding events (n=4) occurred within the first six weeks of therapy. However, due to the limited number of cases we were unable to adequately assess this in our study.

It is interesting to note that the risk of bleeding was higher in *CYP4F2* variant allele carriers compared to homozygous CC carriers for both bleeding analyses. This is contradictory to what would be expected, as carriers of the variant T allele are generally less sensitive to warfarin, conferring an increased dose requirement. Thus far, only one study in adults has examined the association between bleeding events and $CYP4F2^{218}$. The results of that study were similar to the current study, with variant allele carriers being at a non-significantly higher risk of bleeding. In our cohort heterozygous CT carriers had a decreased dose requirement compared to CC patients, which coincides with an increased sensitivity to warfarin and a higher risk of bleeding. Due to small sample size and non-significant findings, it is possible that this unexpected trend is due to chance.

4.3.3 Over-anticoagulation during the initiation of therapy

Risk of over-anticoagulation during the initiation of therapy was used as a surrogate marker for risk of warfarin-induced bleeding. INR >4 is often used as a clinical endpoint in prospective studies, as this represents a risk factor for potential bleeding complications²¹⁹.

By examining this endpoint in the first 60 days of therapy, we aimed to eliminate some of the confounding factors that contribute to warfarin-induced bleeding while still identifying genetic risk factors. Studies in adults have reported a significantly higher risk of supratherapeutic INRs in CYP2C9 and/or VKORC1 variant allele carriers^{113,124,125,220}. In our cohort, the risk of over-anticoagulation was significantly higher in patients carrying a VKORC1 variant A allele, while the odds ratio in CYP2C9 variant allele carriers approached significance. This is in keeping with previous reports from adult studies where the odds ratio for risk of a supra-therapeutic INR was highest for the VKORC1 sensitivity haplotype^{124,220}. Furthermore, these results coincide with our findings on time to over-anticoagulation, where the hazard ratio was highest in VKORC1 homozygous variant allele carriers. Unlike the time to over-anticoagulation analysis, CYP2C9 was not significantly associated with increased risk of over-anticoagulation. However, this could be attributed to differences in patient cohorts between the two analyses, as some patients were excluded from this analysis due a treatment length less than 60 days or confounding factors that are known to prolong the prothrombin time. More importantly, the odds ratios trend in the expected direction, with CYP2C9 variant allele carriers being at greater risk of over-anticoagulation compared to *1/*1 carriers. Once again, risk of over-anticoagulation was unexpectedly higher in CYP4F2 homozygous variant allele carriers compared to homozygous CC carriers. However, only four patients carried this genotype, suggesting that this finding may be due to chance and that a larger sample size is required to more adequately determine the effect of CYP4F2 genotype on risk of over-anticoagulation.

As with many of the previous outcomes investigated, this is the first pediatric study to investigate risk of over-anticoagulation during the initiation of therapy. Odds ratios greater than 1 provides further evidence that *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* variant allele carriers are more sensitive to the anticoagulant effects of warfarin, particularly during the early phase of drug initiation. With a larger patient cohort, the risk of warfarin-induced bleeding during the initiation of therapy could be investigated. However, the current analysis serves as a valuable starting point. These results also suggest that certain precautions, such as a lower starting dose, should be carefully considered when initiating warfarin therapy in high sensitivity patients based on their *CYP2C9* and/or *VKORC1* genotypes.

4.4 Novel genetic associations with warfarin dose in children

An exploratory analysis revealed one additional SNP in *CYP2C9* (rs7089580) that was a significant predictor of dose when adjusting for genetic and clinical covariates. Perera et al. first described this intronic *CYP2C9* variant in a sequencing study where it was associated with increased dose requirements in an African-American population, accounting for 1.4% of overall dose variability¹⁰⁶. Our findings are very similar, with this SNP explaining 2.5% of overall dose variability. Homozygous variant allele carriers also required significantly higher doses compared to non-carriers (3.1+/-1.6 vs. 5.0+/-1.8 mg/day; *p*=0.033). The overall R² of our model increased by approximately 2% when this SNP was added, which is similar to the contribution of the functional *CYP4F2* SNP (rs2108622) to warfarin dose in adults and is included in warfarin pharmacogenetic dosing algorithms. Interestingly, the minor allele frequency of rs7089580 in our cohort was similar to the reported MAF in the African-American cohort (25% and 23%, respectively), suggesting that this variant is also

common in patients of non-African descent. To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the association of this SNP with warfarin dose in a non-African population. The functional impact of this noncoding variant is currently unknown. Perera et al. reported zero or little linkage between this SNP and the *CYP* star variants. When analyzing our own cohort a similar trend was observed, with pairwise r^2 values of 0.042 and 0.006 between rs7089580 and the *2 and *3 variants, respectively. In contrast, Perera et al. hypothesized that the observed association with dose may be due to linkage with a second SNP (*CYP2C9-25706*; r^2 =0.98) that is in close proximity to a predicted transcriptional binding cluster. These findings suggest that further investigation of this SNP in the context of warfarin dosing in both adult and pediatric patients, as well as its functional impact, is warranted.

When analyzing the full genotyping panel, *VKORC1*-1639 and *CYP2C9*3* were the SNPs most strongly associated with dose. While only a limited number of SNPs were investigated, this finding nevertheless provides further evidence of the significant impact of these SNPs on warfarin dosing in children. When using the bonferroni correction to correct for multiple testing the only SNP that remained significant was *VKORC1*-1639. All remaining SNPs had a non-significant *p*-value when using the adjusted *p*-value of 0.0006 based on 79 tests. A larger sample size is required to more accurately determine whether any additional genotyped SNPs are significantly associated with dose variation in children and emphasizes the importance of replication and validation of this novel association in an independent cohort of children.

4.5 Strengths and limitations

Compared to previous pediatric studies on warfarin pharmacogenetics our study has the youngest patient cohort, with a median age of 4.8 years. This is important because it confirms that genetic and clinical factors that have been shown to influence warfarin outcomes in older children are also important in young children. With numerous developmental changes, physiological and genetic, occurring throughout childhood and up until adulthood, it is inappropriate to assume that findings from a pediatric study are relevant for children of all ages. Compared to previous pediatric studies our cohort also has the largest proportion of non-European patients, suggesting that the impact of genetics on warfarin dose and related outcomes is not specific to one ancestry.

While most studies in children have primarily focused on the influence of genetic factors on therapeutic dose, this is the first study to investigate several clinically relevant outcomes, including risk of warfarin-induced bleeding and risk of/time to over-anticoagulation. These outcomes are important for understanding how children respond to warfarin during the initiation of therapy and whether there are specific children who are at increased risk of experiencing a serious adverse drug reaction based on their genotype. This is also the first study to examine the influence of a broad range of genetic variants on required dose. In doing so, we identified an additional SNP that contributes to warfarin dose variability independent of known genetic variants and can be incorporated into a model to more accurately predict the required dose in individual children.

A key limitation of the study is the large impact of clinical variables on warfarin outcomes. While many clinical confounders were controlled for in analyses, additional factors such as diet and illness, which are known to impact INR measurements and dose requirements, were not accounted for. One previous study found that children receiving enteral nutrition, infant formula feeds, or who were vegetarian, did not require doses outside of the expected range when applying a predictive dosing model²⁰¹. Future studies in children could be used to obtain detailed information regarding dietary intake of vitamin K-rich foods and to determine their impact on warfarin dose and additional warfarin-related outcomes. The variable frequency of INR testing as part of clinical care may have also impacted the time to INR outcomes analyses.

Another limitation is that patients who were still receiving warfarin when enrolled into the study may not be 'true' controls in the case-control analysis, as there is a potential for these patients to experience a warfarin-induced bleeding event in the future. We attempted to account for this confounder by controlling for the amount of time on therapy that was captured. Due to the nature of ADR itself, it is also difficult to determine whether bleeding events were induced by warfarin, or whether these events were likely to occur even in the absence of the drug. Close discussions with clinicians and extensive review of patient records were undertaken to limit this confounder. Prospective studies or randomized controlled trials could be used to more accurately determine the impact of genetics on warfarin-induced bleeding in children by ensuring that all relevant clinical information is collected.

Finally, due to sample size limitations this study did not have enough power to detect alleles of small effect (low odds ratio) when studying warfarin-induced ADRs. Based on the incidence of major bleeding and CYP2C9/VKORC1 allele frequencies, the lowest odds ratio that could be detected with the current sample size was 6, which is substantially higher than reported odds ratios of approximately 2-3 from adult studies^{124,125}. However, it was known apriori that adequate numbers of patients would not be recruited and that this would serve as a pilot study for future, larger studies. National or international collaborations would help increase the sample size, while studying only the most severe cases of warfarin-induced toxicity would increase the expected effect size. Both of these options would help to increase the statistical power. Small sample size may have also diluted the association of genetic variants, especially rare variants, with therapeutic warfarin dose when analyzing the full genotyping panel in exploratory analyses. For example, CYP2C9*6 has been shown to impact warfarin dose in African Americans but was monomorphic in our study cohort. Again, a larger sample size would be required to detect the impact of rare variants on warfarin dosing.

4.6 Future directions

This work replicates and validates previous findings regarding the relevance of both clinical and genetic factors in the determination of optimal warfarin dosing in children. Furthermore, through exploratory analyses an additional SNP that may also be predictive of optimal warfarin dose in children was identified, as well as genetic variants that contribute to warfarin-sensitivity outcomes. The findings of the current study provide support for prospective studies in the investigation of warfarin pharmacogenetics in children.

As an immediate next step in this project, active surveillance could be conducted at CPNDS sites across Canada to recruit additional pediatric patients receiving warfarin therapy. With a larger sample size, a dose prediction model could be further refined to more accurately predict the required warfarin dose in a warfarin-naïve patient. Replication of time to INR outcomes and ADR analyses could also be evaluated using a separate Canadian cohort. Due to the low incidence of major bleeding, increasing the sample size would enable a wellpowered analysis and potentially identify additional genetic variants associated with risk of warfarin-induced bleeding. Furthermore, active surveillance for extreme cases of warfarinresistance or warfarin-sensitivity (ex. major bleeding cases) across the CPNDS network would increase the likelihood of detecting rare variants that confer high odds ratios. Replication of the association between therapeutic dose and CYP2C9 rs7089580 could also be evaluated using a Canada-wide cohort. Thus far, this SNP has not been studied in a non-African cohort, further emphasizing the importance of replication of this SNP in both adults and children. Finally, patients could be recruited prospectively at the initiation of therapy, allowing relevant information that may impact warfarin dosing but is not captured in patient charts to be collected, including diet and Tanner stage. Description of the data by patient Tanner stage may help better characterize growth/maturation v. genetic contributions to warfarin dose variability.

4.6.1 Remaining unexplained inter-patient variability in warfarin dose

Based on results from our study, as well as previous pediatric studies, approximately 25-30% of inter-individual warfarin dose variability remains unexplained in children^{100,201}. It has been hypothesized that differences in dietary vitamin K intake could largely influence

variability in warfarin dose requirements in children²²¹. An inverse relationship between vitamin K intake and INR has been reported, suggesting that patients with a lower intake of vitamin K are more sensitive to the anticoagulant effects of warfarin²²². This is supported by studies in children showing that breastfed infants, who likely consumed lower amounts of vitamin K, were more sensitive to warfarin than infants receiving vitamin K supplemented formula feed. Furthermore, children who received vitamin K supplemented enteral nutrition required higher warfarin doses⁷². Poor absorption of vitamin K due to gut congestion in cardiac patients could also influence warfarin dose requirements²²³. Establishing a quantitative relationship between vitamin K status and therapeutic dose may increase our understanding of warfarin dose variability in children. The influence of concomitant illnesses on dose has also never been investigated and may account for a portion of unexplained variability.

This is the first pediatric study to investigate the association between warfarin dose and a broad panel of SNPs. While one additional SNP in *CYP2C9* was identified as being significantly associated with dose, the number of SNPs investigated was small (79 SNPs). Multi-centre collaborations to increase sample size would likely help to identify additional SNPs associated with warfarin dose variability in children by increasing the power to investigate a larger number of SNPs in exploratory analyses. Furthermore, a larger study would enable a better understanding of the role of *CYP4F2* on warfarin dosing in children, as the current sample size may have been too small to detect a minor effect on dose variability.

With decreasing costs in DNA sequencing, future studies could also focus on whole sequencing of genes implicated in warfarin outcomes to discover additional SNPs that contribute to the current unexplained dose variation. Genome-wide association studies are designed to capture common variation in a large number of genes. Therefore, rare variants are more likely to remain undiscovered using a GWAS. Gene sequencing increases the likelihood of discovering rare variants with a functional impact, as well as SNPs that are associated with severe warfarin phenotypes, such as extreme warfarin-resistance or warfarin sensitivity.

Interestingly, a larger proportion of dose variability is explained by clinical and genetic factors in children than in adults, accounting for approximately 70-75% of variability in children compared to approximately 50-60% in adults^{100,201}. This may be explained by differences in lifestyle, as certain factors that are known to influence warfarin dose, such as alcohol consumption, smoking status and compliance, are less likely to influence warfarin dose in children. As children age, the influence of these factors, as well as other changes in patient behavior, may become more relevant for warfarin dosing. Larger pediatric studies are required to discern the contribution of lifestyle habits to dose requirements in children of varying ages.

4.6.2 Genetics-based loading and initiation doses

As previously described, dosing algorithms that calculate both genetics-based loading doses and maintenance doses have been developed for adult patients^{144,145}. The risk of bleeding or recurrent thromboembolism is highest during the initiation phase of anticoagulation²²⁴.

Therefore, a genetics-based loading dose algorithm is beneficial for identifying patients who are at risk for over- or under-anticoagulation if administered a standard loading dose. Genotype-based dosing is most likely beneficial at the beginning of therapy when dose titration using INRs cannot be used²¹⁴. Results from randomized clinical trials in adults support the use of genetics-based loading doses as they have been shown to decrease the amount of time required to reach a therapeutic INR and increase the amount of time spent in the therapeutic range^{134,225}. To date, no pediatric study has investigated the impact of genetic variants on required dose during the initiation phase of therapy. Rather, all studies have focused on identifying genetic and clinical variables that are predictive of maintenance dose. In this study genetic variants in CYP2C9 and VKORC1 were found to significantly influence the early warfarin response in children, with carriers of variant alleles reaching INR outcomes at a faster rate than wildtype carriers. The development and evaluation of a genotype-based loading dose algorithm that builds upon current pediatric dosing algorithms, such as the one presented in this study, and also accounts for early warfarin response in children is warranted.

4.6.3 Replication and validation

Replication of genetic results in an independent cohort of patients is essential for determining the true influence of genetic variants on clinical outcomes and to reduce the number of false positive findings. One study reported that only 6 of 166 published associations between gene variants and common diseases that were studied a minimum of three times consistently replicated²²⁶. Common causes of lack of replication include small sample sizes, population stratification, and publication bias²²⁷. Furthermore, inconsistencies in phenotyping limit the

ability to compare results across studies. This study replicated the findings of previous pediatric studies that reported an association between *CYP2C9/VKORC1* variants and therapeutic dose in children. This study also further validated the performance of a pediatric genotype-based dosing algorithm when predicting required dose in an independent cohort of children. This type of validation is crucial for clinical implementation and provides confidence that the dosing model is applicable to a variety of patients. Using the current pediatric cohort a genetics-based dosing model was developed, which requires validation in an independent cohort before the utility of the model can be fully understood. Differences in age, ancestry, and underlying medical conditions between derivation and replication cohorts may influence the accuracy of a dose prediction model. As previously described, replication of time to INR outcomes and ADR analyses, as well as the association between therapeutic dose and *CYP2C9* rs7089580, should also be evaluated in independent cohorts.

In addition to replication, findings of this study can be validated using functional methods. Pharmacokinetic studies describing the relationship between clearance rates of warfarin enantiomers and *CYP2C9* genotypes have been performed in both adults and children and have helped to confirm the influence of *CYP2C9* variants on therapeutic dose⁶⁴. To date, however, no functional studies have examined the expression of *VKORC1* in pediatric livers. Little is currently known about the ontogeny of *VKORC1*. Examining the influence of *VKORC1* SNPs on gene expression and enzyme activity in children of various ages using functional methods would provide a better understanding of age-dependent changes in warfarin response. When an adult-derived pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) dose prediction model was bridged to children using allometric scaling, the required dose

was consistently over-predicted in children less than 2 years of age²¹². Examining changes in warfarin pharmacodynamics between children of varying age would be beneficial for determining the most appropriate methods for predicting warfarin dose in young children. Changes in *CYP2C9* gene expression and enzyme activity conferred by rs7089580 variant could also be explored in both adults and pediatric liver cells as a potential next step towards confirming the importance of this SNP for warfarin dosing. Since this SNP is hypothesized to be in linkage disequilibrium with a putative transcriptional binding cluster SNP (25706)¹⁰⁶, functional studies could also be used to determine the impact of SNP 25706 on CYP2C9 mRNA and protein levels.

4.6.4 Implementing genetic testing

Despite a large body of evidence showing reproducible pharmacogenetic associations, several factors have hindered the use of genetic testing in clinical practice. Some of these barriers include high turnaround times, lack of reimbursement, unclear understanding of the evidence by clinicians, or insufficient evidence showing a therapeutic advantage²²⁸. Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have historically been the gold standard for evaluating the effectiveness of any novel treatment or intervention²²⁹. Results from RCTs in adults receiving warfarin have shown that compared to standard dosing, genotype-guided dosing increases the amount of time spent within the therapeutic range, decreases the number of sub- or supra-therapeutic INRs, and reduces rates of hospitalization^{225,230,231}. However, the majority of clinical practice guidelines do not recommend genetic testing in warfarin management for all patient populations^{47,232,233}. This is mainly due to a lack of evidence showing a difference in number of thrombotic events, major bleeding events, or survival

between genotype-guided and standard dosing groups. Three RCTs are currently underway to further investigate the impact of genotype-guided dosing on clinical outcomes in adults (www.clinicaltrials.gov; NCT01006733, NCT00839657, and NCT01119300). Results from these trials are expected to largely influence future recommendations on genetic testing.

To date, no prospective studies or randomized controlled trials have investigated the effectiveness of genetics-based dosing in children. A recent retrospective study in children found that a fixed dose of 0.2 mg/kg per day, as recommended for initiation of therapy, overestimated the required dose much more frequently than genetics-based dosing models²¹². Furthermore, a handful of studies in children, including our own, have provided evidence that clinical and genetic factors explain a large percentage of inter-patient dose variability. Prospective randomized controlled trials in children are also required to comprehensively assess the clinical utility of a genetics-based dosing model for reducing the number of adverse events. However, the small number of pediatric patients receiving warfarin, in combination with the relatively low incidence of serious adverse events, would make a wellpowered study difficult to conduct. Multi-centre collaborations could be used to increase the sample size of such a study. Furthermore, a surrogate marker, such as time spent within the therapeutic INR range, could be used to evaluate the clinical utility of genetics-based dosing in children without significantly increasing sample size requirements. By validating a pediatric genotype-based dosing model using retrospective data we have provided a necessary step towards prospective evaluation of a predictive dosing model.

It can also be argued that results from RCTs in adults could be extrapolated to children. In this study we have shown that the influence of *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes on therapeutic dose and early warfarin response in children is similar to adults. Therefore, any evidence of a clinical benefit from genetic testing in adults could also be assumed to be true in children. In doing so, we could provide this population with the same pharmacogenetic advantages as adults without the delay of an RCT. Furthermore, some of the barriers that hinder genetic testing in adults, such as long turn around times, are not as relevant in children as the majority of children are initiated on warfarin as hospital in-patients following prescheduled surgeries. Therefore, genetic test results could be available prior to the initiation of therapy when genetic testing is presumed to be most beneficial, thus increasing the feasibility of genetic testing in children in clinical practice.

4.6.4.1 Pharmacoeconomic considerations

Another substantial barrier to implementing genetic testing is inconsistent results regarding the cost effectiveness of a genetic test. One study by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration estimated that testing for *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* variants could result in over a billion dollars saved annually by avoiding approximately 85,000 serious bleeding events and 17,000 strokes²⁹. On the other hand, some studies have concluded that genotype-guided warfarin dosing is unlikely to be cost-effective as it provides only minor clinical improvement^{234,235}. A major limitation of these studies is the uncertainty regarding number of adverse events avoided when implementing genetic testing. Most clinical trials use surrogate outcomes, such as time spent within the therapeutic INR range, as a substitute for ADRs²³⁶. Thus far, no clinical trial has been sufficiently powered to detect a difference in hemorrhagic or TE

events when comparing genotype-guided to standard dosing regimens²³⁵. A review on this topic concluded that genotyping could be cost effective for specific patient populations, such as those who are at high risk of bleeding, or who attend clinics where anticoagulation management is suboptimal²³⁷. Changes in the cost of genotyping had the largest impact on cost-effectiveness simulation results. With current trends in decreasing genotyping costs, it is likely that future pharmacoeconomic assessments will produce different conclusions.

The lack of prospective clinical trials in children further limits an evidence-based costeffectiveness analysis of *CYP2C9/VKORC1* genetic testing in pediatric patients. In this study we have provided evidence that *CYP2C9* and *VKORC1* genotypes significantly influence the risk of over-anticoagulation and major bleeding in children. Randomized controlled trials in children would help discern the cost-effectiveness of genetic testing in pediatric patients. Due to the limited number of pediatric patients receiving warfarin and the increased difficulties of managing children on anticoagulation therapy, a cost-effectiveness analysis may produce results that are more favorable of genetic testing in children compared to adults. A prospective trial would also help to determine whether genetic testing reduces the number of days required for post-operative hospitalization due to sub- or supratherapeutic INRs and the coinciding economic impact.

4.7 Conclusions

As newer anticoagulants, including direct thrombin and factor Xa inhibitors, become available it is possible that the use of warfarin in pediatrics may decrease. Nevertheless, the paucity of information regarding long-term safety and effectiveness of these novel therapies, as well as unexpected drug-drug and drug-gene interactions, warrants careful consideration before switching patients from warfarin. Warfarin has been the subject of extensive postmarket surveillance since its market approval in 1954. This is an especially important consideration in pediatrics where the majority of newer anticoagulants have not yet been tested. As such, the work presented in this thesis is highly relevant for the current treatment of children requiring anticoagulation therapy and provides novel and significant results that can directly impact patient care.

The evidence provided here demonstrates that genetic factors are a significant contributor to warfarin-related outcomes in children. This study replicates findings from previous pediatric studies showing that *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* genotypes are significant predictors of warfarin dose in children and further validated a pediatric dosing algorithm, which can be used in clinical practice to more accurately predict the required warfarin dose prior to initiation of therapy. Furthermore, substantial evidence for an increased sensitivity to warfarin in *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* variant allele carriers was observed, reflected by a decreased time to INR outcomes and increased risk of over-anticoagulation and major bleeding, emphasizing the diagnostic significance of predictive genotyping. Finally, this work has identified a novel association between a noncoding SNP in *CYP2C9* and dose in a non-African population, potentially increasing the accuracy of a dose prediction model. Uptake of this knowledge into clinical practice will enable warfarin therapy tailored specifically for children and contribute to safer drug initiation and anticoagulation treatment in this complex and vulnerable patient population.

Bibliography

- 1. Sykiotis GP, Kalliolias GD, Papavassiliou AG. Pharmacogenetic principles in the Hippocratic writings. *J Clin Pharmacol*. Nov 2005;45(11):1218-1220.
- 2. Mathijssen RH, de Jong FA, Loos WJ, van der Bol JM, Verweij J, Sparreboom A. Flat-fixed dosing versus body surface area based dosing of anticancer drugs in adults: does it make a difference? *Oncologist*. Aug 2007;12(8):913-923.
- **3.** Kalow W, Tang BK, Endrenyi L. Hypothesis: comparisons of inter- and intraindividual variations can substitute for twin studies in drug research. *Pharmacogenetics.* Aug 1998;8(4):283-289.
- **4.** Meisel C, Gerloff T, Kirchheiner J, et al. Implications of pharmacogenetics for individualizing drug treatment and for study design. *J Mol Med (Berl)*. Mar 2003;81(3):154-167.
- 5. Burczynski ME. Pharmacogenomic approaches in clinical studies to identify biomarkers of safety and efficacy. *Toxicol Lett.* Apr 10 2009;186(1):18-21.
- **6.** Lai Y, Varma M, Feng B, et al. Impact of drug transporter pharmacogenomics on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variability considerations for drug development. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* Jun 2012;8(6):723-743.
- 7. Link E, Parish S, Armitage J, et al. SLCO1B1 variants and statin-induced myopathy-a genomewide study. *N Engl J Med.* Aug 21 2008;359(8):789-799.
- 8. Mwinyi J, Johne A, Bauer S, Roots I, Gerloff T. Evidence for inverse effects of OATP-C (SLC21A6) 5 and 1b haplotypes on pravastatin kinetics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* May 2004;75(5):415-421.
- **9.** Maeda K, Ieiri I, Yasuda K, et al. Effects of organic anion transporting polypeptide 1B1 haplotype on pharmacokinetics of pravastatin, valsartan, and temocapril. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* May 2006;79(5):427-439.
- **10.** Pasanen MK, Neuvonen M, Neuvonen PJ, Niemi M. SLCO1B1 polymorphism markedly affects the pharmacokinetics of simvastatin acid. *Pharmacogenet Genom*. Dec 2006;16(12):873-879.
- **11.** Kim KA, Park PW, Hong SJ, Park JY. The effect of CYP2C19 polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of clopidogrel: A possible mechanism for clopidogrel resistance. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Aug 2008;84(2):236-242.
- 12. Centre WHO-UM. Glossary of Terms in Pharmacovigilance. <u>http://www.who-umc.org/graphics/25301.pdf</u>. Accessed August 9, 2012. .
- **13.** Lazarou J, Pomeranz BH, Corey PN. Incidence of adverse drug reactions in hospitalized patients A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Jama-J Am Med Assoc.* Apr 15 1998;279(15):1200-1205.
- 14. Riedl MA, Casillas AM. Adverse drug reactions: Types and treatment options. *Am Fam Physician*. Nov 1 2003;68(9):1781-1790.
- **15.** Classen DC, Pestotnik SL, Evans RS, Lloyd JF, Burke JP. Adverse drug events in hospitalized patients Excess length of stay, extra costs, and attributable mortality. *Jama-J Am Med Assoc.* Jan 22 1997;277(4):301-306.

- 16. Dayer P, Desmeules J, Leemann T, Striberni R. Bioactivation of the Narcotic Drug Codeine in Human-Liver Is Mediated by the Polymorphic Monooxygenase Catalyzing Debrisoquine 4-Hydroxylation (Cytochrome-P-450 Dbl/Bufi). *Biochem Bioph Res Co.* Apr 15 1988;152(1):411-416.
- 17. Gasche Y, Daali Y, Fathi M, et al. Codeine intoxication associated with ultrarapid CYP2D6 metabolism. *N Engl J Med.* Dec 30 2004;351(27):2827-2831.
- **18.** Sistonen J, Fuselli S, Palo JU, Chauhan N, Padh H, Sajantila A. Pharmacogenetic variation at CYP2C9, CYP2C19, and CYP2D6 at global and microgeographic scales. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Feb 2009;19(2):170-179.
- **19.** Lennard L, Gibson BES, Nicole T, Lilleyman JS. Congenital Thiopurine Methyltransferase Deficiency and 6-Mercaptopurine Toxicity during Treatment for Acute Lymphoblastic-Leukemia. *Arch Dis Child*. Nov 1993;69(5):577-579.
- **20.** Ando Y, Saka H, Ando M, et al. Polymorphisms of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase gene and irinotecan toxicity: A pharmacogenetic analysis. *Cancer Res.* Dec 15 2000;60(24):6921-6926.
- **21.** Chung WH, Hung SI, Hong HS, et al. Medical genetics: a marker for Stevens-Johnson syndrome. *Nature*. Apr 1 2004;428(6982):486.
- **22.** Mallal S, Nolan D, Witt C, et al. Association between presence of HLA-B*5701, HLA-DR7, and HLA-DQ3 and hypersensitivity to HIV-1 reverse-transcriptase inhibitor abacavir. *Lancet.* Mar 2 2002;359(9308):727-732.
- **23.** Leeder JS. Developmental and pediatric pharmacogenomics. *Pharmacogenomics*. May 2003;4(3):331-341.
- 24. Anderson GD, Lynn AM. Optimizing pediatric dosing: a developmental pharmacologic approach. *Pharmacotherapy*. Jun 2009;29(6):680-690.
- 25. Dreifuss FE, Santilli N, Langer DH, Sweeney KP, Moline KA, Menander KB. Valproic Acid Hepatic Fatalities a Retrospective Review. *Neurology*. Mar 1987;37(3):379-385.
- 26. Messenheimer JA. Rash in adult and pediatric patients treated with lamotrigine. *Can J Neurol Sci.* Nov 1998;25(4):S14-S18.
- 27. Belay ED, Bresee JS, Holman RC, Khan AS, Shahriari A, Schonberger LB. Reye's syndrome in the United States from 1981 through 1997. *N Engl J Med.* May 6 1999;340(18):1377-1382.
- **28.** Becker ML, Leeder JS. Identifying genomic and developmental causes of adverse drug reactions in children. *Pharmacogenomics*. Nov 2010;11(11):1591-1602.
- 29. McWilliam A, Lutter R, Nardinelli C. Health care savings from personalizing medicine using genetic-testing: the case of warfarin. AEI-Brooking Joint Center for Regulatory Studies Working Paper. 2006; http://genelex.com/warfarinsavings.pdf?pid=1127. Accessed January 10, 2013.
- **30.** Ansell J, Hirsh J, Hylek E, Jacobson A, Crowther M, Palareti G. Pharmacology and management of the vitamin K antagonists: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest.* Jun 2008;133(6 Suppl):160S-198S.
- **31.** Lagerstedt CI, Olsson CG, Fagher BO, Oqvist BW, Albrechtsson U. Need for long-term anticoagulant treatment in symptomatic calf-vein thrombosis. *Lancet.* Sep 7 1985;2(8454):515-518.

- **32.** Prandoni P, Bruchi O, Sabbion P, et al. Prolonged thromboprophylaxis with oral anticoagulants after total hip arthroplasty: a prospective controlled randomized study. *Arch Intern Med.* Sep 23 2002;162(17):1966-1971.
- **33.** Oldenburg J, Marinova M, Moier-Reible C, Watzka M. The vitamin K cycle. *Vitam Horm.* 2008;78:35-62.
- **34.** Dam H. The antihaemorrhagic vitamin of the chick. *Biochem J.* 1935;29:1273-1285.
- **35.** Furie B, Furie BC. Molecular and Cellular Biology of Blood-Coagulation. *New Engl J Med.* Mar 19 1992;326(12):800-806.
- **36.** Majerus PW BG, Miletich JP, Tollefsen DM. . *Anticoagulant thrombolytic, and antiplatelet drugs.* 9th ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 1996.
- **37.** Breckenridge A, Orme M, Wesseling H, Lewis RJ, Gibbons R. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the enantiomers of warfarin in man. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. Apr 1974;15(4):424-430.
- **38.** Wang PP, Beaune P, Kaminsky LS, et al. Purification and characterization of six cytochrome P-450 isozymes from human liver microsomes. *Biochemistry-Us.* Nov 8 1983;22(23):5375-5383.
- **39.** Brian WR, Sari MA, Iwasaki M, Shimada T, Kaminsky LS, Guengerich FP. Catalytic activities of human liver cytochrome P-450 IIIA4 expressed in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Biochemistry-Us*. Dec 25 1990;29(51):11280-11292.
- **40.** Wienkers LC, Wurden CJ, Storch E, Kunze KL, Rettie AE, Trager WF. Formation of (R)-8-hydroxywarfarin in human liver microsomes. A new metabolic marker for the (S)-mephenytoin hydroxylase, P4502C19. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals*. May 1996;24(5):610-614.
- **41.** Zhang ZY, Fasco MJ, Huang L, Guengerich FP, Kaminsky LS. Characterization of purified human recombinant cytochrome P4501A1-Ile462 and -Val462: assessment of a role for the rare allele in carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* Sep 1 1996;56(17):3926-3933.
- **42.** Lewis RJ, Trager WF, Robinson AJ, Chan KK. Warfarin metabolites: the anticoagulant activity and pharmacology of warfarin alcohols. *J Lab Clin Med.* Jun 1973;81(6):925-931.
- **43.** Lewis RJ, Trager WF. Warfarin metabolism in man: identification of metabolites in urine. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. May 1970;49(5):907-913.
- 44. Deykin D, Wessler S, Reimer SM. Evidence for an Antithrombotic Effect of Dicumarol. *Am J Physiol.* 1960;199(6):1161-1164.
- **45.** Takahashi H, Hanano M, Hayashi S, et al. Plasma-Levels of Protein-C and Vitamin K-Dependent Coagulation-Factors in Patients on Long-Term Oral Anticoagulant-Therapy. *Tohoku J Exp Med.* Aug 1986;149(4):351-357.
- **46.** Hirsh J, Fuster V, Ansell J, Halperin JL. American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology Foundation guide to warfarin therapy. *Circulation*. Apr 1 2003;107(12):1692-1711.
- **47.** Keeling D, Baglin T, Tait C, et al. Guidelines on oral anticoagulation with warfarin fourth edition. *Br J Haematol.* Aug 2011;154(3):311-324.
- **48.** Loebstein R, Yonath H, Peleg D, et al. Interindividual variability in sensitivity to warfarin Nature or nurture? *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Aug 2001;70(2):159-164.

- **49.** Shepherd AMM, Hewick DS, Moreland TA, Stevenson IH. Age as a Determinant of Sensitivity to Warfarin. *Brit J Clin Pharmaco*. 1977;4(3):315-320.
- **50.** Gage BF, Eby C, Milligan PE, Banet GA, Duncan JR, McLeod HL. Use of pharmacogenetics and clinical factors to predict the maintenance dose of warfarin. *Thromb Haemost.* Jan 2004;91(1):87-94.
- **51.** Wynne H, Cope L, Kelly P, Whittingham T, Edwards C, Kamali F. The Influence of Age, Liver Size and Enantiomer Concentrations on Warfarin Requirements. *Brit J Clin Pharmaco*. Sep 1995;40(3):203-207.
- **52.** Heimark LD, Wienkers L, Kunze K, et al. The Mechanism of the Interaction between Amiodarone and Warfarin in Humans. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Apr 1992;51(4):398-407.
- **53.** O'Reilly RA. The stereoselective interaction of warfarin and metronidazole in man. *N Engl J Med.* Aug 12 1976;295(7):354-357.
- **54.** Udall JA. Human Sources and Absorption of Vitamin K in Relation to Anticoagulation Stability. *J Amer Med Assoc.* 1965;194(2):127-&.
- **55.** Lubetsky A, Dekel-Stern E, Chetrit A, Lubin F, Halkin H. Vitamin K intake and sensitivity to warfarin in patients consuming regular diets. *Thromb Haemost.* Mar 1999;81(3):396-399.
- **56.** Carlquist JF, Horne BD, Muhlestein JB, et al. Genotypes of the cytochrome p450 isoform, CYP2C9, and the vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit 1 conjointly determine stable warfarin dose: a prospective study. *J Thromb Thrombolys*. Dec 2006;22(3):191-197.
- **57.** Young G. Old and new antithrombotic drugs in neonates and infants. *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* Dec 2011;16(6):349-354.
- **58.** Schulman S, Beyth RJ, Kearon C, Levine MN. Hemorrhagic complications of anticoagulant and thrombolytic treatment: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest.* Jun 2008;133(6 Suppl):257S-298S.
- **59.** Hirsh J. Oral anticoagulant drugs. *N Engl J Med.* Jun 27 1991;324(26):1865-1875.
- **60.** Evans D, Rowlands M, Poller L. Survey of oral anticoagulation treatment in children. *J Clin Pathol.* 1992(45):709-712.
- **61.** Newall F, Savoia H, Campbell J, Monagle P. Anticoagulation clinics for children achieve improved warfarin management. *Thromb Res.* 2004;114(1):5-9.
- **62.** Michelson AD, Bovill E, Monagle P, Andrew M. Antithrombotic therapy in children. *Chest.* Nov 1998;114(5 Suppl):748S-769S.
- **63.** Hirsh J, Dalen J, Anderson DR, et al. Oral anticoagulants: mechanism of action, clinical effectiveness, and optimal therapeutic range. *Chest.* Jan 2001;119(1 Suppl):8S-21S.
- **64.** Takahashi H, Ishikawa S, Nomoto S, et al. Developmental changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of warfarin enantiomers in Japanese children. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* Nov 2000;68(5):541-555.
- **65.** Koukouritaki SB, Manro JR, Marsh SA, et al. Developmental expression of human hepatic CYP2C9 and CYP2C19. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. Mar 2004;308(3):965-974.
- 66. Maxwell GM. Paediatric drug dosing. Bodyweight versus surface area. *Drugs*. Feb 1989;37(2):113-115.

- 67. Coppoletta JM, Wolbach SB. Body Length and Organ Weights of Infants and Children: A Study of the Body Length and Normal Weights of the More Important Vital Organs of the Body between Birth and Twelve Years of Age. *Am J Pathol.* Jan 1933;9(1):55-70.
- **68.** Andrew M, Paes B, Johnston M. Development of the hemostatic system in the neonate and young infant. *Am J Pediatr Hematol Oncol.* Spring 1990;12(1):95-104.
- **69.** Andrew M, Vegh P, Johnston M, Bowker J, Ofosu F, Mitchell L. Maturation of the hemostatic system during childhood. *Blood*. Oct 15 1992;80(8):1998-2005.
- **70.** Andrew M, Paes B, Milner R, et al. Development of the human coagulation system in the full-term infant. *Blood*. Jul 1987;70(1):165-172.
- **71.** Massicotte P, Leaker M, Marzinotto V, et al. Enhanced thrombin regulation during warfarin therapy in children compared to adults. *Thromb Haemost*. Oct 1998;80(4):570-574.
- 72. Streif W, Andrew M, Marzinotto V, et al. Analysis of warfarin therapy in pediatric patients: A prospective cohort study of 319 patients. *Blood.* Nov 1 1999;94(9):3007-3014.
- **73.** Linkins LA, Choi PT, Douketis JD. Clinical impact of bleeding in patients taking oral anticoagulant therapy for venous thromboembolism A meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med.* Dec 2 2003;139(11):893-900.
- 74. Budnitz DS, Pollock DA, Weidenbach KN, Mendelsohn AB, Schroeder TJ, Annest JL. National surveillance of emergency department visits for outpatient adverse drug events. *Jama-J Am Med Assoc.* Oct 18 2006;296(15):1858-1866.
- **75.** Anthony CJ, Karim S, Ackroyd-Stolarz S, et al. Intensity of Anticoagulation with Warfarin and Risk of Adverse Events in Patients Presenting to the Emergency Department. *Ann Pharmacother*. Jul-Aug 2011;45(7-8):881-887.
- **76.** Wysowski DK, Nourjah P, Swartz L. Bleeding complications with warfarin use A prevalent adverse effect resulting in regulatory action. *Arch Intern Med.* Jul 9 2007;167(13):1414-1419.
- 77. Da Silva M, Sobel M. Anticoagulants: to bleed or not to bleed, that is the question. . *Semin Vasc Surg.* 2002;15(4):256-267.
- **78.** Levine MN, Raskob G, Beyth RJ, Kearon C, Schulman S. Hemorrhagic complications of anticoagulant treatment: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy. *Chest.* Sep 2004;126(3 Suppl):287S-310S.
- **79.** Ridker PM, Goldhaber SZ, Danielson E, et al. Long-term, low-intensity warfarin therapy for the prevention of recurrent venous thromboembolism. *N Engl J Med.* Apr 10 2003;348(15):1425-1434.
- **80.** Landefeld CS, Goldman L. Major Bleeding in Outpatients Treated with Warfarin -Incidence and Prediction by Factors Known at the Start of Outpatient Therapy. *American Journal of Medicine*. Aug 1989;87(2):144-152.
- **81.** Beyth RJ, Quinn LM, Landefeld CS. Prospective evaluation of an index for predicting the risk of major bleeding in outpatients treated with warfarin. *American Journal of Medicine*. Aug 1998;105(2):91-99.

- **82.** Wells PS, Forgie MA, Simms M, et al. The outpatient bleeding risk index Validation of a tool for predicting bleeding rates in patients treated for deep venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism. *Arch Intern Med.* Apr 28 2003;163(8):917-920.
- **83.** Schafer AI. Effects of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory therapy on platelets. *Am J Med.* May 31 1999;106(5B):25S-36S.
- **84.** Knijff-Dutmer EAJ, Schut GA, van de Laar MAFJ. Concomitant coumarin-NSAID therapy and risk for bleeding. *Ann Pharmacother*. Jan 2003;37(1):12-16.
- **85.** Jones S, Newall F, Manias E, Monagle P. Assessing outcome measures of oral anticoagulation management in children. *Thromb Res.* Feb 2011;127(2):75-80.
- **86.** Monagle P, Michelson AD, Bovill E, Andrew M. Antithrombotic therapy in children. *Chest.* Jan 2001;119(1 Suppl):344S-370S.
- **87.** Andrew M, Marzinotto V, Brooker LA, et al. Oral anticoagulation therapy in pediatric patients: a prospective study. *Thromb Haemost.* Mar 1994;71(3):265-269.
- **88.** Nowak-Gottl U, Dietrich K, Schaffranek D, et al. In pediatric patients, age has more impact on dosing of vitamin K antagonists than VKORC1 or CYP2C9 genotypes. *Blood.* Dec 23 2010;116(26):6101-6105.
- **89.** Haroon Y, Shearer MJ, Rahim S, Gunn WG, McEnery G, Barkhan P. The content of phylloquinone (vitamin K1) in human milk, cows' milk and infant formula foods determined by high-performance liquid chromatography. *J Nutr.* Jun 1982;112(6):1105-1117.
- **90.** von Kries R, Shearer M, McCarthy PT, Haug M, Harzer G, Gobel U. Vitamin K1 content of maternal milk: influence of the stage of lactation, lipid composition, and vitamin K1 supplements given to the mother. *Pediatr Res.* Nov 1987;22(5):513-517.
- **91.** Monagle P, Chan A, Massicotte P, Chalmers E, Michelson AD. Antithrombotic therapy in children: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy. *Chest.* Sep 2004;126(3 Suppl):645S-687S.
- **92.** Aithal GP, Day CP, Kesteven PJL, Daly AK. Association of polymorphisms in the cytochrome P450 CYP2C9 with warfarin dose requirement and risk of bleeding complications. *Lancet.* Feb 27 1999;353(9154):717-719.
- **93.** Zhou SF, Liu JP, Chowbay B. Polymorphism of human cytochrome P450 enzymes and its clinical impact. *Drug Metab Rev.* May 2009;41(2):89-295.
- **94.** Rettie AE, Jones JP. Clinical and toxicological relevance of CYP2C9: Drug-drug interactions and pharmacogenetics. *Annu Rev Pharmacol.* 2005;45:477-494.
- **95.** Lee CR, Goldstein JA, Pieper JA. Cytochrome P450 2C9 polymorphisms: a comprehensive review of the in-vitro and human data. *Pharmacogenetics*. Apr 2002;12(3):251-263.
- **96.** Stubbins MJ, Harries LW, Smith G, Tarbit MH, Wolf CR. Genetic analysis of the human cytochrome P450 CYP2C9 locus. *Pharmacogenetics*. Oct 1996;6(5):429-439.
- **97.** Rettie AE, Wienkers LC, Gonzalez FJ, Trager WF, Korzekwa KR. Impaired (S)-Warfarin Metabolism Catalyzed by the R144c Allelic Variant of Cyp2c9. *Pharmacogenetics*. Feb 1994;4(1):39-42.
- **98.** Crespi CL, Miller VP. The R144C change in the CYP2C9*2 allele alters interaction of the cytochrome P450 with NADPH:cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase. *Pharmacogenetics.* Jun 1997;7(3):203-210.

- **99.** Lindh JD, Holm L, Andersson ML, Rane A. Influence of CYP2C9 genotype on warfarin dose requirements--a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* Apr 2009;65(4):365-375.
- **100.** Moreau C, Bajolle F, Siguret V, et al. Vitamin K antagonists in children with heart disease: height and VKORC1 genotype are the main determinants of the warfarin dose requirement. *Blood.* Jan 19 2012;119(3):861-867.
- **101.** Herman D, Locatelli I, Grabnar I, et al. Influence of CYP2C9 polymorphisms, demographic factors and concomitant drug therapy on warfarin metabolism and maintenance dose. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2005;5(3):193-202.
- **102.** Kimura R, Miyashita K, Kokubo Y, et al. Genotypes of vitamin K epoxide reductase, gamma-glutamyl carboxylase, and cytochrome P450 2C9 as determinants of daily warfarin dose in Japanese patients. *Thromb Res.* 2007;120(2):181-186.
- **103.** Dickmann LJ, Rettie AE, Kneller MB, et al. Identification and functional characterization of a new CYP2C9 variant (CYP2C9*5) expressed among African Americans. *Mol Pharmacol.* Aug 2001;60(2):382-387.
- **104.** Allabi AC, Gala JL, Desager JP, Heusterspreute M, Horsmans Y. Genetic polymorphisms of CYP2C9 and CYP2C19 in the Beninese and Belgian populations. *Brit J Clin Pharmaco.* Dec 2003;56(6):653-657.
- **105.** Kidd RS, Curry TB, Gallagher S, Edeki T, Blaisdell J, Goldstein JA. Identification of a null allele of CYP2C9 in an African-American exhibiting toxicity to phenytoin. *Pharmacogenetics.* Dec 2001;11(9):803-808.
- 106. Perera MA, Gamazon E, Cavallari LH, et al. The Missing Association: Sequencing-Based Discovery of Novel SNPs in VKORC1 and CYP2C9 That Affect Warfarin Dose in African Americans. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Mar 2011;89(3):408-415.
- **107.** Cavallari LH, Langaee TY, Momary KM, et al. Genetic and Clinical Predictors of Warfarin Dose Requirements in African Americans. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Apr 2010;87(4):459-464.
- **108.** Limdi NA, Wiener H, Goldstein JA, Acton RT, Beasley TM. Influence of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 on warfarin response during initiation of therapy. *Blood Cells Mol Dis.* Jul-Aug 2009;43(1):119-128.
- **109.** Scott SA, Jaremko M, Lubitz SA, Kornreich R, Halperin JL, Desnick RJ. CYP2C9*8 is prevalent among African-Americans: implications for pharmacogenetic dosing. *Pharmacogenomics*. Aug 2009;10(8):1243-1255.
- **110.** Shrif NE, Won HH, Lee ST, et al. Evaluation of the effects of VKORC1 polymorphisms and haplotypes, CYP2C9 genotypes, and clinical factors on warfarin response in Sudanese patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* Nov 2011;67(11):1119-1130.
- **111.** Rieder MJ, Reiner AP, Gage BF, et al. Effect of VKORC1 haplotypes on transcriptional regulation and warfarin dose. *N Engl J Med.* Jun 2 2005;352(22):2285-2293.
- **112.** Yang L, Ge W, Yu F, Zhu H. Impact of VKORC1 gene polymorphism on interindividual and interethnic warfarin dosage requirement--a systematic review and meta analysis. *Thromb Res.* Apr 2010;125(4):e159-166.

- **113.** Schelleman H, Chen Z, Kealey C, et al. Warfarin response and vitamin K epoxide reductase complex 1 in African Americans and Caucasians. *Clinical Pharmacology* & *Therapeutics*. May 2007;81(5):742-747.
- **114.** Yang J, Huang C, Shen Z, Miao L. Contribution of 1173C > T polymorphism in the VKORC1 gene to warfarin dose requirements in Han Chinese patients receiving anticoagulation. *Int J Clin Pharm Th.* Jan 2011;49(1):23-29.
- **115.** Geisen C, Watzka M, Sittinger K, et al. VKORC1 haplotypes and their impact on the inter-individual and inter-ethnical variability of oral anticoagulation. *Thromb Haemost.* Oct 2005;94(4):773-779.
- **116.** Rost S, Fregin A, Ivaskevicius V, et al. Mutations in VKORC1 cause warfarin resistance and multiple coagulation factor deficiency type 2. *Nature*. Feb 5 2004;427(6974):537-541.
- **117.** Takahashi H, Wilkinson GR, Nutescu EA, et al. Different contributions of polymorphisms in VKORC1 and CYP2C9 to intra- and inter-population differences in maintenance dose of warfarin in Japanese, Caucasians and African-Americans. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Feb 2006;16(2):101-110.
- **118.** Harrington DJ, Underwood S, Morse C, Shearer MJ, Tuddenham EG, Mumford AD. Pharmacodynamic resistance to warfarin associated with a Val66Met substitution in vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit 1. *Thromb Haemost*. Jan 2005;93(1):23-26.
- **119.** Loebstein R, Dvoskin I, Halkin H, et al. A coding VKORC1 Asp36Tyr polymorphism predisposes to warfarin resistance. *Blood.* Mar 15 2007;109(6):2477-2480.
- **120.** Limdi NA, Wadelius M, Cavallari L, et al. Warfarin pharmacogenetics: a single VKORC1 polymorphism is predictive of dose across 3 racial groups. *Blood*. May 6 2010;115(18):3827-3834.
- **121.** Ozer N, Cam N, Tangurek B, et al. The impact of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 genetic polymorphism and patient characteristics upon warfarin dose requirements in an adult Turkish population. *Heart Vessels*. Mar 2010;25(2):155-162.
- Pautas E, Moreau C, Gouin-Thibault I, et al. Genetic Factors (VKORC1, CYP2C9, EPHX1, and CYP4F2) Are Predictor Variables for Warfarin Response in Very Elderly, Frail Inpatients. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Jan 2010;87(1):57-64.
- **123.** Schwarz UI, Ritchie MD, Bradford Y, et al. Genetic determinants of response to warfarin during initial anticoagulation. *New Engl J Med.* Mar 6 2008;358(10):999-1008.
- **124.** Meckley LM, Wittkowsky AK, Rieder MJ, Rettie AE, Veenstra DL. An analysis of the relative effects of VKORC1 and CYP2C9 variants on anticoagulation related outcomes in warfarin-treated patients. *Thromb Haemost*. Aug 2008;100(2):229-239.
- **125.** Higashi MK, Veenstra DL, Kondo LML, et al. Association between CYP2C9 genetic variants and anticoagulation-related outcomes during warfarin therapy. *Jama-J Am Med Assoc.* Apr 3 2002;287(13):1690-1698.
- **126.** Lima MV, Ribeiro GS, Mesquita ET, Victer PR, Vianna-Jorge R. CYP2C9 genotypes and the quality of anticoagulation control with warfarin therapy among Brazilian patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* Jan 2008;64(1):9-15.

- **127.** Margaglione M, Colaizzo D, D'Andrea G, et al. Genetic modulation of oral anticoagulation with warfarin. *Thromb Haemost.* Nov 2000;84(5):775-778.
- **128.** Cetinkaya FO, Ein Y, Uysal S, et al. Evaluation of vkorc1 [G1639A] [C1173T], and prothrombotic gene polymorphisms in warfarin response of turkish patients. *5th International Clinical Vascular Biology Congress* Vol 47. Bafra, Cyprus2010:27.
- **129.** Gage BF, Eby C, Johnson JA, et al. Use of pharmacogenetic and clinical factors to predict the therapeutic dose of warfarin. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Sep 2008;84(3):326-331.
- **130.** Wadelius M, Chen LY, Lindh JD, et al. The largest prospective warfarin-treated cohort supports genetic forecasting. *Blood.* Jan 22 2009;113(4):784-792.
- **131.** Aquilante CL, Langaee TY, Lopez LM, et al. Influence of coagulation factor, vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit 1, and cytochrome P4502C9 gene polymorphisms on warfarin dose requirements. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Apr 2006;79(4):291-302.
- **132.** Klein TE, Altman RB, Eriksson N, et al. Estimation of the Warfarin Dose with Clinical and Pharmacogenetic Data. *New Engl J Med.* Feb 19 2009;360(8):753-764.
- **133.** Sconce EA, Khan TI, Wynne HA, et al. The impact of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 genetic polymorphism and patient characteristics upon warfarin dose requirements: proposal for a new dosing regimen. *Blood.* Oct 1 2005;106(7):2329-2333.
- **134.** Anderson JL, Horne BD, Stevens SM, et al. Randomized trial of genotype-guided versus standard warfarin dosing in patients initiating oral anticoagulation. *Circulation.* Nov 27 2007;116(22):2563-2570.
- **135.** Zhu Y, Shennan M, Reynolds KK, et al. Estimation of warfarin maintenance dose based on VKORC1 (-1639 G>A) and CYP2C9 genotypes. *Clin Chem.* Jul 2007;53(7):1199-1205.
- **136.** Takeuchi F, Kashida M, Okazaki O, et al. Evaluation of Pharmacogenetic Algorithm for Warfarin Dose Requirements in Japanese Patients. *Circ J*. May 2010;74(5):977-982.
- **137.** Sagreiya H, Berube C, Wen A, Ramakrishnan R, Mir A, Hamilton A. Extending and evaluating a warfarin dosing algorithm that includes CYP4F2 and pooled rare variants of CYP2C9 (vol 20, pg 407, 2010). *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Oct 2010;20(10):645-645.
- **138.** Schelleman H, Chen J, Chen Z, et al. Dosing algorithms to predict warfarin maintenance dose in Caucasians and African Americans. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics.* Sep 2008;84(3):332-339.
- **139.** Finkelman BS, Gage BF, Johnson JA, Brensinger CM, Kimmel SE. Genetic Warfarin Dosing Tables Versus Algorithms. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. Feb 1 2011;57(5):612-618.
- **140.** Burmester JK, Berg RL, Yale SH, et al. A randomized controlled trial of genotypebased Coumadin initiation. *Genet Med.* Jun 2011;13(6):509-518.
- **141.** *Pharmacogenomic Testing in Current Clinical Practice*. New York: Springer Science+Business Media; 2011.
- 142. Company B-MS. Coumadin® tablets (warfarin sodium tablets, USP) crystalline; Coumadin® for injection (warfarin sodium for injection, USP). <u>http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2010/009218s108lbl.pdf</u>. Accessed August 9th, 2012.

- **143.** Lenzini P, Wadelius M, Kimmel S, et al. Integration of genetic, clinical, and INR data to refine warfarin dosing. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. May 2010;87(5):572-578.
- **144.** Gong IY, Tirona RG, Schwarz UI, et al. Prospective evaluation of a pharmacogenetics-guided warfarin loading and maintenance dose regimen for initiation of therapy. *Blood.* Sep 15 2011;118(11):3163-3171.
- **145.** Avery PJ, Jorgensen A, Hamberg AK, Wadelius M, Pirmohamed M, Kamali F. A proposal for an individualized pharmacogenetics-based warfarin initiation dose regimen for patients commencing anticoagulation therapy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* Nov 2011;90(5):701-706.
- **146.** Caldwell MD, Awad T, Johnson JA, et al. CYP4F2 genetic variant alters required warfarin dose. *Blood.* Apr 15 2008;111(8):4106-4112.
- **147.** Cen HJ, Zeng WT, Leng XY, et al. CYP4F2 rs2108622: a minor significant genetic factor of warfarin dose in Han Chinese patients with mechanical heart valve replacement. *Brit J Clin Pharmaco*. Aug 2010;70(2):234-240.
- **148.** Carlquist JF, Horne BD, Mower C, et al. An evaluation of nine genetic variants related to metabolism and mechanism of action of warfarin as applied to stable dose prediction. *J Thromb Thrombolys.* Oct 2010;30(3):358-364.
- **149.** Takeuchi F, McGinnis R, Bourgeois S, et al. A Genome-Wide Association Study Confirms VKORC1, CYP2C9, and CYP4F2 as Principal Genetic Determinants of Warfarin Dose. *Plos Genet*. Mar 2009;5(3).
- **150.** Michaud V, Frappier M, Champagne M, et al. Cyp4f2 Genetic Polymorphisms Influence Warfarin Dose Requirements in Polymedicated Patients Initiating Warfarin Therapy. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Feb 2011;89:S17-S17.
- **151.** Botton MR, Bandinelli E, Rohde LEP, Amon LC, Hutz MH. Influence of genetic, biological and pharmacological factors on warfarin dose in a Southern Brazilian population of European ancestry. *Brit J Clin Pharmaco*. Sep 2011;72(3):442-450.
- **152.** Zambon CF, Pengo V, Padrini R, et al. VKORC1, CYP2C9 and CYP4F2 geneticbased algorithm for warfarin dosing: an Italian retrospective study. *Pharmacogenomics.* Jan 2011;12(1):15-25.
- **153.** Singh O, Sandanaraj E, Subramanian K, Lee LH, Chowbay B. Influence of CYP4F2 rs2108622 (V433M) on warfarin dose requirement in Asian patients. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*. 2011;26(2):130-136.
- **154.** Cha PC, Mushiroda T, Takahashi A, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies genetic determinants of warfarin responsiveness for Japanese. *Hum Mol Genet*. Dec 1 2010;19(23):4735-4744.
- **155.** Pathare A, AlZadjali S, Misquith R, et al. Pharmacogenomic Variants of Cyp2c9, Cyp4f2 and Vkorc1 and Its Relation to Warfarin Response in Native Omani Patients. *Haematol-Hematol J.* Jun 2010;95:668-668.
- **156.** Borgiani P, Ciccaci C, Forte V, et al. CYP4F2 genetic variant (rs2108622) significantly contributes to warfarin dosing variability in the Italian population. *Pharmacogenomics*. Feb 2009;10(2):261-266.
- **157.** Perini JA, Struchiner CJ, Silva-Assuncao E, Suarez-Kurtz G. Impact of CYP4F2 rs2108622 on the Stable Warfarin Dose in an Admixed Patient Cohort. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Apr 2010;87(4):417-420.

- **158.** Sconce EA, Daly AK, Khan TI, Wynne HA, Kamali F. APOE genotype makes a small contribution to warfarin dose requirements. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Aug 2006;16(8):609-611.
- **159.** Kimmel SE, Christie J, Kealey C, et al. Apolipoprotein E genotype and warfarin dosing among Caucasians and African Americans. *Pharmacogenomics Journal*. Feb 2008;8(1):53-60.
- **160.** Wadelius M, Chen LY, Eriksson N, et al. Association of warfarin dose with genes involved in its action and metabolism. *Hum Genet.* Mar 2007;121(1):23-34.
- **161.** Huang SW, Xiang DK, Wu HL, Chen BL, An BQ, Li GF. [Impact of five genetic polymorphisms on inter-individual variation in warfarin maintenance dose]. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi.* Dec 2011;28(6):661-665.
- **162.** Lee MTM, Chen CH, Chou CH, et al. Genetic determinants of warfarin dosing in the Han-Chinese population. *Pharmacogenomics*. Dec 2009;10(12):1905-1913.
- **163.** Kisiel W, Canfield WM, Ericsson LH, Davie EW. Anticoagulant Properties of Bovine Plasma Protein-C Following Activation by Thrombin. *Biochemistry-Us.* 1977;16(26):5824-5831.
- **164.** Vehar GA, Davie EW. Preparation and properties of bovine factor VIII (antihemophilic factor). *Biochemistry-Us.* Feb 5 1980;19(3):401-410.
- **165.** Wang TL, Li HL, Tjong WY, et al. Genetic factors contribute to patient-specific warfarin dose for Han Chinese. *Clin Chim Acta*. Oct 2008;396(1-2):76-79.
- **166.** Suriapranata IM, Tjong WY, Wang TL, et al. Genetic factors associated with patient-specific warfarin dose in ethnic Indonesians. *Bmc Med Genet*. Jun 6 2011;12.
- **167.** Spek CA, Koster T, Rosendaal PR, Bertina RM, Reitsma PH. Genotypic Variation in the Promoter Region of the Protein-C Gene Is Associated with Plasma Protein-C Levels and with Thrombotic Risk. *Thromb Haemost.* Jun 1995;73(6):937-937.
- **168.** Aiach M, Nicaud V, Alhenc-Gelas M, et al. Complex association of protein C gene promoter polymorphism with circulating protein C levels and thrombotic risk. *Arterioscl Throm Vas.* Jun 1999;19(6):1573-1576.
- **169.** Rieder MJ, Reiner AP, Rettie AE. gamma-Glutamyl carboxylase (GGCX) tagSNPs have limited utility for predicting warfarin maintenance dose. *J Thromb Haemost*. Nov 2007;5(11):2227-2234.
- **170.** King PM, Suttie SA, Jansen JO, Watson AJM. Perforation of the terminal ileum: a possible complication of nicorandil therapy. *Surg-J R Coll Surg E*. Feb 2004;2(1):56-57.
- **171.** Cavallari LH, Perera M, Wadelius M, et al. Association of the GGCX (CAA) 16/17 repeat polymorphism with higher warfarin dose requirements in African Americans. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Feb 2012;22(2):152-158.
- **172.** Shikata E, Ieiri I, Ishiguro S, et al. Association of pharmacokinetic (CYP2C9) and pharmacodynamic (factors II, VII, IX, and X; proteins S and C; and gamma-glutamyl carboxylase) gene variants with warfarin sensitivity. *Blood.* Apr 1 2004;103(7):2630-2635.
- **173.** Herman D, Peternel P, Stegnar M, Breskvar K, Dolzan V. The influence of sequence variations in factor VII, gamma-glutamyl carboxylase and vitamin K epoxide reductase complex genes on warfarin dose requirement. *Thromb Haemost.* May 2006;95(5):782-787.

- **174.** Wadelius M, Chen LY, Downes K, et al. Common VKORC1 and GGCX polymorphisms associated with warfarin dose. *Pharmacogenomics Journal*. 2005;5(4):262-270.
- **175.** Porter TD, Coon MJ. Cytochrome P-450. Multiplicity of isoforms, substrates, and catalytic and regulatory mechanisms. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. Jul 25 1991;266(21):13469-13472.
- **176.** Zhang X, Li L, Ding X, Kaminsky LS. Identification of cytochrome P450 oxidoreductase gene variants that are significantly associated with the interindividual variations in warfarin maintenance dose. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals*. Aug 2011;39(8):1433-1439.
- **177.** Tee MK, Huang N, Damm I, Miller WL. Transcriptional regulation of the human P450 oxidoreductase gene: hormonal regulation and influence of promoter polymorphisms. *Mol Endocrinol.* May 2011;25(5):715-731.
- **178.** Wajih N, Sane DC, Hutson SM, Wallin R. The inhibitory effect of calumenin on the vitamin K-dependent gamma-carboxylation system Characterization of the system in normal and warfarin-resistant rats. *J Biol Chem.* Jun 11 2004;279(24):25276-25283.
- **179.** Wallin R, Hutson SM, Cain D, Sweatt A, Sane DC. A molecular mechanism for genetic warfarin resistance in the rat. *Faseb J*. Sep 2001;15(11):2542-+.
- **180.** Voora D, Koboldt DC, King CR, et al. A Polymorphism in the VKORC1 Regulator Calumenin Predicts Higher Warfarin Dose Requirements in African Americans. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics.* Apr 2010;87(4):445-451.
- **181.** Shahin MH, Khalifa SI, Gong Y, et al. Genetic and nongenetic factors associated with warfarin dose requirements in Egyptian patients. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Mar 2011;21(3):130-135.
- **182.** Ramirez AH, Shi YP, Schildcrout JS, et al. Predicting warfarin dosage in European-Americans and African-Americans using DNA samples linked to an electronic health record. *Pharmacogenomics*. Mar 2012;13(4):407-418.
- **183.** Cain D, Hutson SM, Wallin R. Assembly of the warfarin-sensitive vitamin K 2,3epoxide reductase enzyme complex in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. Nov 14 1997;272(46):29068-29075.
- **184.** Loebstein R, Vecsler M, Kurnik D, et al. Common genetic variants of microsomal epoxide hydrolase affect warfarin dose requirements beyond the effect of cytochrome P450 2C9. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* May 2005;77(5):365-372.
- **185.** Gu Q, Kong Y, Schneede J, et al. VKORC1-1639G>A, CYP2C9, EPHX1691A>G genotype, body weight, and age are important predictors for warfarin maintenance doses in patients with mechanical heart valve prostheses in southwest China. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* Dec 2010;66(12):1217-1227.
- **186.** Chan SL, Thalamuthu A, Goh BC, et al. Exon sequencing and association analysis of EPHX1 genetic variants with maintenance warfarin dose in a multiethnic Asian population. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Jan 2011;21(1):35-41.
- **187.** Yang X, Liang SH, Weyant DM, Lazarus P, Gallagher CJ, Omiecinski CJ. The Expression of Human Microsomal Epoxide Hydrolase Is Predominantly Driven by a Genetically Polymorphic Far Upstream Promoter. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*. Jul 2009;330(1):23-30.

- **188.** Rettie AE, Korzekwa KR, Kunze KL, et al. Hydroxylation of warfarin by human cDNA-expressed cytochrome P-450: a role for P-4502C9 in the etiology of (S)-warfarin-drug interactions. *Chem Res Toxicol.* Jan-Feb 1992;5(1):54-59.
- **189.** Perera M, Limdi N, Cavallari L, et al. Novel snps associated with warfarin dose in a large multicenter cohort of African Americans: Genome wide association study and Replication Results. *American Heart Association's Scientific Sessions*. Vol 124. Orlando, FL2011.
- **190.** Biss T.T. APJ, Brandao L.R., Chalmers E.A., Williams M.D., Grainger J.D., Leathart J.B.S., Hanley J.P., Daly A.K., Kamali F. Inter-individual variability in warfarin dose requirement in children can be explained by VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotype and patient characteristics. Paper presented at: 23rd Congress of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis 57th Annual SSC Meeting 2011; Kyoto, Japan.
- **191.** Kato Y, Ichida F, Saito K, et al. Effect of the VKORC1 Genotype on Warfarin Dose Requirements in Japanese Pediatric Patients. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*. 2011;26(3):295-299.
- **192.** Nguyen N, Anley P, Yu MY, Zhang G, Thompson AA, Jennings LJ. Genetic and Clinical Determinants Influencing Warfarin Dosing in Children With Heart Disease. *Pediatr Cardiol.* Nov 25 2012.
- **193.** Ruud E, Holmstrom H, Bergan S, Wesenberg F. Oral anticoagulation with warfarin is significantly influenced by steroids and CYP2C9 polymorphisms in children with cancer. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. Mar 2008;50(3):710-713.
- **194.** Whirl-Carrillo M, McDonagh EM, Hebert JM, et al. Pharmacogenomics knowledge for personalized medicine. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* Oct 2012;92(4):414-417.
- **195.** Namazi S, Azarpira N, Hendijani F, Khorshid MB, Vessal G, Mehdipour AR. The Impact of Genetic Polymorphisms and Patient Characteristics on Warfarin Dose Requirements: A Cross-Sectional Study in Iran. *Clin Ther.* Jun 2010;32(6):1050-1060.
- **196.** D'andrea G, D'Ambrosio RL, Di Perna P, et al. A polymorphism in the VKORC1 gene is associated with an interindividual variability in the dose-anticoagulant effect of warfarin. *Blood.* Jan 15 2005;105(2):645-649.
- **197.** Cooper GM, Johnson JA, Langaee TY, et al. A genome-wide scan for common genetic variants with a large influence on warfarin maintenance dose. *Blood.* Aug 15 2008;112(4):1022-1027.
- **198.** Kim HS, Lee SS, Oh M, et al. Effect of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 genotypes on earlyphase and steady-state warfarin dosing in Korean patients with mechanical heart valve replacement. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Feb 2009;19(2):103-112.
- **199.** Carleton BC, Poole RL, Smith MA, et al. Adverse drug reaction active surveillance: developing a national network in Canada's children's hospitals. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* Aug 2009;18(8):713-721.
- **200.** Visscher H, Ross CJD, Dube MP, et al. Application of principal component analysis to pharmacogenomic studies in Canada. *Pharmacogenomics Journal*. Dec 2009;9(6):362-372.
- **201.** Biss TT, Avery PJ, Brandao LR, et al. VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotype and patient characteristics explain a large proportion of the variability in warfarin dose requirement among children. *Blood.* Jan 19 2012;119(3):868-873.

- **202.** Schulman S, Kearon C. Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in non-surgical patients. *Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH.* Apr 2005;3(4):692-694.
- **203.** Barrett JC, Fry B, Maller J, Daly MJ. Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. *Bioinformatics*. Jan 15 2005;21(2):263-265.
- **204.** Meng XL, Rosenthal R, Rubin DB. Comparing Correlated Correlation-Coefficients. *Psychol Bull.* Jan 1992;111(1):172-175.
- **205.** Callas D, Fareed J. Comparative pharmacology of site directed antithrombin agents. Implication in drug development. *Thromb Haemost.* Jul 1995;74(1):473-481.
- **206.** Hursting MJ, Zehnder JL, Joffrion JL, Becker JC, Knappenberger GD, Schwarz RP, Jr. The International Normalized Ratio during concurrent warfarin and argatroban anticoagulation: differential contributions of each agent and effects of the choice of thromboplastin used. *Clin Chem.* Mar 1999;45(3):409-412.
- **207.** Savage WJ, Kickler TS, Takemoto CM. Acquired coagulation factor inhibitors in children after topical bovine thrombin exposure. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. Dec 2007;49(7):1025-1029.
- **208.** Bodin L, Horellou MH, Flaujac C, Loriot MA, Samama MM. A vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit-1 (VKORC1) mutation in a patient with vitamin K antagonist resistance. *J Thromb Haemost.* Jul 2005;3(7):1533-1535.
- **209.** Zhang JE, Jorgensen AL, Alfirevic A, et al. Effects of CYP4F2 genetic polymorphisms and haplotypes on clinical outcomes in patients initiated on warfarin therapy. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Oct 2009;19(10):781-789.
- **210.** King BP, Khan TI, Aithal GP, Kamali F, Daly AK. Upstream and coding region CYP2C9 polymorphisms: correlation with warfarin dose and metabolism. *Pharmacogenetics*. Dec 2004;14(12):813-822.
- **211.** Biss T, Hamberg AK, Avery P, Wadelius M, Kamali F. Warfarin dose prediction in children using pharmacogenetics information. *Br J Haematol.* Oct 2012;159(1):106-109.
- **212.** Hamberg AK, Friberg LE, Hanseus K, et al. Warfarin dose prediction in children using pharmacometric bridging-comparison with published pharmacogenetic dosing algorithms. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* Jan 11 2013.
- **213.** Biss TT, Avery PJ, Williams MD, et al. VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotype is associated with over-anticoagulation during initiation of warfarin therapy in children. *Br J Haematol.* Apr 2012;157:31-32.
- **214.** Li C, Schwarz UI, Ritchie MD, Roden DM, Stein CM, Kurnik D. Relative contribution of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 genotypes and early INR response to the prediction of warfarin sensitivity during initiation of therapy. *Blood.* Apr 23 2009;113(17):3925-3930.
- **215.** Colombo MG, Parri MS, Botto N, et al. VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotypes are strongly associated with early INR response and warfarin dosage after heart valve surgery. *Eur Heart J.* Sep 2010;31:1017-1017.
- **216.** Huang SW, Chen HS, Wang XQ, et al. Validation of VKORC1 and CYP2C9 genotypes on interindividual warfarin maintenance dose: a prospective study in Chinese patients. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* Mar 2009;19(3):226-234.

- **217.** Linder MW, Pendleton RC, Reynolds KK, McMillin G, Valdes R, Wilson A. Results from a randomized control pilot trial of PerMIT:warfarin. *J Thromb Thrombolys*. Apr 2011;31(3):386-386.
- **218.** Ma C, Zhang Y, Xu Q, et al. Influence of warfarin dose-associated genotypes on the risk of hemorrhagic complications in Chinese patients on warfarin. *Int J Hematol.* Dec 2012;96(6):719-728.
- **219.** Ansell J, Hirsh J, Dalen J, et al. Managing oral anticoagulant therapy. *Chest.* Jan 2001;119(1 Suppl):22S-38S.
- **220.** Molden E, Okkenhaug C, Ekker Solberg E. Increased frequency of CYP2C9 variant alleles and homozygous VKORC1*2B carriers in warfarin-treated patients with excessive INR response. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* May 2010;66(5):525-530.
- **221.** Biss TT, Kamali F. Warfarin anticoagulation in children: is there a role for a personalized approach to dosing? *Pharmacogenomics*. Aug 2012;13(11):1211-1214.
- **222.** Khan T, Wynne H, Wood P, et al. Dietary vitamin K influences intra-individual variability in anticoagulant response to warfarin. *Br J Haematol*. Feb 2004;124(3):348-354.
- **223.** Kaulitz R, Luhmer I, Bergmann F, Rodeck B, Hausdorf G. Sequelae after modified Fontan operation: postoperative haemodynamic data and organ function. *Heart.* Aug 1997;78(2):154-159.
- **224.** Garcia DA, Lopes RD, Hylek EM. New-onset atrial fibrillation and warfarin initiation: High risk periods and implications for new antithrombotic drugs. *Thromb Haemost.* Dec 10 2010;104(6):1099-1105.
- **225.** Caraco Y, Blotnick S, Muszkat M. CYP2C9 genotype-guided warfarin prescribing enhances the efficacy and safety of anticoagulation: A prospective randomized controlled study. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Mar 2008;83(3):460-470.
- **226.** Hirschhorn JN, Lohmueller K, Byrne E, Hirschhorn K. A comprehensive review of genetic association studies. *Genet Med.* Mar-Apr 2002;4(2):45-61.
- **227.** Hirschhorn JN, Altshuler D. Once and again-issues surrounding replication in genetic association studies. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* Oct 2002;87(10):4438-4441.
- **228.** Pirmohamed M. Acceptance of Biomarker-Based Tests for Application in Clinical Practice: Criteria and Obstacles. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*. Dec 2010;88(6):862-866.
- **229.** Harbour R, Miller J, Guidelin SI. A new system for grading recommendations in evidence based guidelines. *Brit Med J*. Aug 11 2001;323(7308):334-336.
- **230.** Epstein RS, Moyer TP, Aubert RE, et al. Warfarin genotyping reduces hospitalization rates results from the MM-WES (Medco-Mayo Warfarin Effectiveness study). *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Jun 22 2010;55(25):2804-2812.
- 231. Anderson JH, BD; Stevens, SM; Woller, SC; Samuelson, KM; Mansfield, JW; Robinson, M; Barton, S; Brunisholz, K; Mower, C; Huntinghouse, JA; Rollo, JS; Siler, D; Knight, S; Muhlestein, JB; Carlquist, JF. A randomized and clinical effectiveness trial comparing two pharmacogenetic algorithms and standard care for individualized warfarin dosing: CoumaGen-II. Paper presented at: American Heart Association's Scientific Sessions 2011; Orlando, FL.
- **232.** Cairns JA, Connolly S, McMurtry S, Stephenson M, Talajic M. Canadian Cardiovascular Society atrial fibrillation guidelines 2010: prevention of stroke and

systemic thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation and flutter. *Can J Cardiol.* Jan-Feb 2011;27(1):74-90.

- **233.** Holbrook A, Schulman S, Witt DM, et al. Evidence-based management of anticoagulant therapy: Antithrombotic Therapy and Prevention of Thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Chest.* Feb 2012;141(2 Suppl):e152S-184S.
- **234.** You JH, Tsui KK, Wong RS, Cheng G. Potential clinical and economic outcomes of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 genotype-guided dosing in patients starting warfarin therapy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* Nov 2009;86(5):540-547.
- **235.** Meckley LM, Gudgeon JM, Anderson JL, Williams MS, Veenstra DL. A policy model to evaluate the benefits, risks and costs of warfarin pharmacogenomic testing. *Pharmacoeconomics.* 2010;28(1):61-74.
- **236.** Samsa GP, Matchar DB. Relationship between test frequency and outcomes of anticoagulation: A literature review and commentary with implications for the design of randomized trials of patient self-management. *J Thromb Thrombolys*. Apr 2000;9(3):283-292.
- **237.** You JHS. Pharmacoeconomic evaluation of warfarin pharmacogenomics. *Expert Opin Pharmaco.* Feb 2011;12(3):435-441.